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China Nickel Resources

China Nickel Resources is a leading integrated hi-tech special
steel, non-ferrous metal and mineral enterprise in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). The Group currently owns a long-term
exclusive offtake right of an ore in Indonesia. The Group currently
mainly produces stainless steel base materials and nickel-chro-
mium alloy steel products. The Group will also migrate to a major
producer of stainless steel and high value-added nickel-chromium
products. Together with its self-developed innovative technologies
in non-coke reduction purification technology and ore separation
technology, as well as the geographical advantage of new plant in
Lianyungang, the Group is able to maintain its leading position by
realising its advantages in low production costs, high quality and
diversified product offerings.
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Corporate Information

NRIEF
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Mr. Bai Baohua
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Appointed on 31 August 2011
# Appointed on 11 April 2011
* Resigned on 1 August 2011
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Mr. Huang Changhuai
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Corporate Information
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
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Cayman Islands
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Hong Kong
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Hong Kong:
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Five Year Financial Summary

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred as to “the Group”) for the last five
financial years prepared on the basis set out in the note below is
as follows:

Results

2011

T FR5EEE

MBENRE
ARARIREKBAR(ATHRE[AEE])
POBZS B B R AR AR R T S R P B
RRZENHRE  AE  BERIFERE
m o BRI

ES

2010 2009 2008 2007

- -—T-TF -—TTNE —TT\F -—TELE

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARBTE ARETT ARETET

Revenue I 2,587,779 1,535,862 887,734 1481594 1874591
Cost of sales HEKAK (2,258,555) (1,366,576) (1,083,909) (1,329,260) (1,288,493)
Gross profit/(loss) 5,/ (£8) 329,224 169,286  (196,175) 152,334 586,098
Other income and gains HAn g A R & F 159,616 81,114 110,497 275,445 72,965
Selling and distribution costs ~ $4& & 9 #4Ak A (43,292) (23,327) (24,909) (30,754) (43,988)
Administrative expenses 1THB (129,378)  (146,430)  (133,999)  (138,839) (75,442)
Finance costs AR (205,098) (90,440) (86,500)  (153,943) (68,100)
Other expenses Hip (15,485) (31,961) (108, 231) (128,406) (786)
Share of profit of an associate  JE{5 — 54 A 7 3,514 18,710 —
Profit/(loss) before tax BREBATRR (FE) 99,101 (23,048)  (439,317) 24,163 470,747
Income tax (expense)/credit P55 (Fi) /B1E (31,721) 25,611 108,759 62,337  (110,085)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF(E8) 67,380 2,563  (330,558) 38,174 360,662
Attributable to: B :
Owners of the parent FRARERE A 66,344 1,467 (332,145) 37,361 359,291
Non-controlling interests R 1,036 1,096 1,587 813 1,371
67,380 2563  (330,558) 38,174 360,662
Dividends KE - 3972 — 31,320 121,732

—E——FFERE - Annual Report 2011 5
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Five Year Financial Summary

hFEFHHRE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

2011

BE  RERFERES

2010 2009 2008 2007

—¥—-F —T-TF —ETNF —TTE\F —FBTLF

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARETE AR®TRT ARBTT ARETT

Total assets WEE 6,609,348 7,042,112 6,698,918 7,056,354 7,402,043
Total liabilities maR 3,017,231 3,200,738 2,826,601 2,946,187 3,264,816
Non-controlling interests eI = 121,608 120,572 121,226 55,004 54,191
Net assets FEE 3,592,117 3841374 3872317 4,110,167 4,137,227
Note: BEE

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007, 2008, 2009
and 2010 are extracted from the Annual Report 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 of the
Company respectively and while those for the year ended 31 December 2011 were
prepared based on the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of
financial position as set out on page 67 and pages 69 to 70. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.
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Corporate Responsibility

UNLIMITED COMMITMENT WITH LIMITED
RESOURCES

It is the responsibility of an enterprise to utilise limited resources in
an efficient way and protect the environment with dedication and
creativity. Aiming to fulfil unlimited commitment with limited
resources, the Group has devoted efforts in the research and
development of new and green technologies and products in order
to realise the targets of high recovery rate, low emission as well as
resource recycling with effective and comprehensive use of
resources. The management believes that the Group is able to
bring economic returns for the investors at low costs through the
proper use of limited resources.
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Recognition and Awards
KA 45T

Award
3815

° The Asset — The China’s Most Promising Companies Awards for 2011 (based on corporate governance,
investor relations, growth strategy, competitiveness within the industry and financial performance)

s EWEMEETI T FERABNTELE ] R(ENELXER REEME BRRE XARF
R BRAFETTE)

qif\;xl‘fl
9 yorate Awards

sset f y
cninrah‘se t/v‘u “ ng Companies
a

Recognition
RE

State Intelligent Properties
Office of the PRC —
Certificates of Invention
Patent

Lianyungang City Science
and Technology Department
— Advanced Technology
Enterprise

Jiangsu Provincial Science
and Technology Department
— Advanced Technology
Certificate for High-Quality

Ferro Nickel Alloy
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China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

THE PRC

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company Limited (“East
Harvest Mining”), a subsidiary of the Company, commenced the
construction of a new production plant on 28 October 2009. In
2011, the project has undergone several technological upgrades
and improvements to enhance its degree of automation. It is
expected that the project will commence trial production in the
second half of 2012, and will produce nickel fine powder to
process into stainless steel. The project applies low carbon
metallurgical technology and innovative technology developed by
the Group. Ordinary coal, rather than coke used in traditional
process, is used in the reduction purification process, under which
the consumption of carbon may decrease by up to 40%. In
addition, the plant can utilise low grade nickel ore for production,
the cost of which is much lower than that used in traditional
production process. The project is highly recognised by the local
government. Moreover, the plant is situated at the Lianyungang
port and benefits from geographical advantages. Ores and other
raw materials from overseas can be conveniently transported to
the plant, largely reducing the inland transportation costs and
logistics pressure. This project will play an important role in the
Group’s development of an operating mode with high efficiency
and low costs.

OVERSEAS

The Group’s iron and steel mill project in Kalimantan Island,
Indonesia was in progressive development. The project is selected
as a key project of Indonesia. Currently, the Group has signed a
non-legally binding memorandum of understanding with a local
business partner to form a joint venture to develop and operate the
iron and steel mill. Construction of the project is expected to
commence in the second half of 2012. Upon completion of the first
phase of the project, it will have an annual ore handling capacity
of 2.0 million tonnes. When compared to production in the PRC,
the project will save shipping fee, loading and unloading charges
and inland port charges.

Projects Progress
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Dong Shutong
EER

Chairman & CEO
TEFEEEHITE
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a] + China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2011 and extend my gratitude to all the
shareholders on behalf of the Board of China Nickel Resources
Holdings Company Limited.

REVIEW

2011 marked the start of our Group’s Five Year Plan. It was also a
year of great challenges in the world economy due to the
sovereign debt crisis in Europe. To cope with the adverse impacts
brought by the financial crisis, the Group adopted the following
three important measures after due and careful consideration:

1. consolidated and strengthened the stainless steel base
materials and Ni-Cr alloy steel production and sale;

2. actively developed ore trading business to make it a profit
centre for the Group; and

3. continued our in-depth research and development on the
techniques of Nickel extraction and sped up the completion
of the contruction works of East Harvest Mining.

All these measures proved to be successful and have brought
satisfactory return to the Group. For the year ended 31 December
2011, the Group recorded an increase of 68.5% in sales and
4,422.4% increase in profit attributable to our Company’s
shareholders.

PROSPECTS

There are still great uncertainties in the global economy in 2012.
However, the Group has already entered into the second year of a
stage of rapid growth under the Group’s Five Year Plan. In 2012,
the Group will focus on the following five major areas of work to:

1. complete the relocation of Yongan Special Steel smoothly to
bring in strong cash flows to the Group;

2. reform and internationlise the Group’s management system
to lay a strong foundation for the Group’s further
development;

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

further consolidate and strengthen the stainless steel base
materials and Ni-Cr alloy steel production and sale and
speed up the commercial production of stainless steel
products of Yongtong Special Steel; start the commercial
production of East Harvest Mining to support the full
production of the Group’s stainless steel products,

expand our ore trading business to greatly improve our
Group'’s efficiency and profitability; and

strengthen our cooperation with strategic partners in
Indonesia and accelerate the construction of iron and steel
mill in Indonesia.

We are confident that we can complete the second year’s target of
our Five Year Plan successfully, and our iron and steel
manufacturing and ore trading business will evolve upward in the
future. | am committed to achieving performance targets through
the cooperation with all our staff to bring fruitful returns to our
shareholders.

Dong Shutong
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 27 March 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE R am B AT

Realise Resources Advantages by
Hi-tech Research and
Development

Bt 38 & 3 iy

SHEERED
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE s AT

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBREE

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t=-A=1+—RHLHFE

2011 2010
—=——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥ETT
Revenue Wz 2,587,779 1,535,862 68.5%
Gross Profit EH 329,224 169,286 94.5%
Earnings before Interest, Tax, BRFIE - TIE - TER
Depreciation and Amortisation BiHA 2 B
(“EBITDA”) ([EBITDA]) 482,059 200,691 140.2%
Profit/(Loss) before Tax BRI RDRF(E8) 99,101 (23,048) N/A iE
Profit for the Year FE R H 67,380 2,563 2,529.0%
Gross Profit Margin Esyipes 12.7% 11.0% 1.7%
EBITDA Margin EBITDA X 18.6% 13.1% 5.5%
Profit/(Loss) before Tax Margin BRBLAT R T, (E518) X 3.8% (1.5%)  N/A FEA
Net Profit Margin S M) R 2R 2.6% 0.2% 2.4%

The board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of China
Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is
pleased to announce that the audited consolidated revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 was approximately
RMB2,587.8 million, representing an increase of 68.5% as
compared to 2010. Audited EBITDA was approximately RMB482.1
million, RMB281.4 million higher than the EBITDA of RMB200.7
million in 2010. Audited profit for the year was approximately
RMBG67.4 million, RMB64.8 million higher than the profit for the year
of RMB2.6 million in 2010. Audited basic earnings per share for
2011 was RMBO0.029. Basic earnings per share was calculated
based on the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders of
RMB66.3 million divided by the weighted average of 2,304.0
million shares in issue during 2011. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2011. The audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2011 have been reviewed by the
Company’s Audit Committee.

14 Annual Report 2011 « =T ——FEFERE
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China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT ANALYSIS

The global financial market fluctuated significantly in 2011 due to
the sovereign debt crisis in Europe. Most of the developed
countries were troubled by low growth and high unemployment
while the emerging markets were experiencing high inflation
expectations and turned to tightening policies. Due to the high
uncertainty in the global economy, the commodity prices of iron
and nickel generally plunged by over 20% from their peak in 2011.

The iron and steel industry in China has also experienced great
challenges due to excessive supply caused by the slow down in
the property market and infrastructure investments. Many iron and
steel manufacturers in the industry have recorded the worst
financial performance since 2008. Although there are signs that
the sovereign debt crisis begin to stabilise in recent months, the
foundation for long-term recovery of the global economy is still
fragile. In China, the official GDP growth target for 2012 is 7.5%
which is lower than previous years indicating that the government
is cautious about the 2012 economic performance.

Although the global and domestic demand for iron and steel
products will be weak in 2012, our Directors are still cautiously
optimistic about the Group’s performance in 2012. The Twelfth
Five-Year Plan adopted in 2011 stressed on enhancing “efficiency”
and “quality” in economic development. The Twelfth Five-Year
Plan also redefined the directions of development for various
industries to low carbon concept aiming to save energy and
reduce emission. Advanced energy-saving technology and
products will also be promoted through developing cyclic
economy and raising resources output efficiency, with an ultimate
goal to develop low carbon economy, stimulate domestic demands
and promote prosperous development.

According to “Twelfth Five-Year Plan”, the development of steel
industry will focus on efficiency, which include low energy
consumption, low carbon, low emission, high recycle rate and high
value-added product outputs. Domestic markets will become
quality-oriented, which will impose higher requirements on
products in terms of environmental-friendliness, safe and
durability, sustainability and recycling. It is expected that
quantitative demand for high quality steel products will increase
significantly, and product development will incline to the high-end
market. To capture these business opportunities, our Group has
shifted to the production of high quality iron and steel products
through the application of more environmental-friendly production
method. Therefore, the Group believes that the demand and
market shares of our special steel, alloy steel and nickel base
stainless steel products will increase in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE s AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Project Progress

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company Limited (“East
Harvest Mining”), a subsidiary of the Company, commenced the
construction of a new production plant on 28 October 2009. In
2011, the project has undergone several technological upgrades
and improvements to enhance its degree of automation. It is
expected that the project will commence trial production in the
second half of 2012, and will produce nickel fine powder to
process into stainless steel. The project applies low carbon
metallurgical technology and innovative technology developed by
the Group. Ordinary coal, rather than coke used in traditional
process, is used in the reduction purification process, under which
the consumption of carbon may decrease by up to 40%. In
addition, the plant can utilise low grade nickel ore for production,
the cost of which is much lower than that used in traditional
production process. The project is highly recognised by the local
government. Moreover, the plant is situated at the Lianyungang
port and benefits from geographical advantages. Ores and other
raw materials from overseas can be conveniently transported to
the plant, largely reducing the inland transportation costs and
logistics pressure. This project will play an important role in the
Group’s development of an operating mode with high efficiency
and low costs.

Besides, Yongtong Special Steel completed the facilities upgrade
and construction of stainless steel equipment in the fourth quarter
of 2010, which can utilise the products of East Harvest Mining to
produce stainless steel products and facilitate flexible
readjustment of production volume and optimisation of product
mix based on the market situation and the overall needs of the
Group. In 2011, the production volume of Yongtong Special Steel
has already bounced back from the valley in 2009. With the
expansion of production capacity, Yongtong Special Steel can
produce more high-end products with better profit margin to cater
for the demand of customers in the coming years.
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China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis

In addition to the projects in the PRC, the Group is also actively
seeking opportunities of overseas expansion. The Group’s iron
and steel mill project in Kalimantan Island, Indonesia was in
progressive development. The project is selected as a key project
of Indonesia. Currently, the Group has signed a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with a local business
partner to form a joint venture to develop and operate the iron and
steel mill. Construction of the project is expected to commence in
the second half of 2012. Upon completion of the first phase of the
project, it will have an annual ore handling capacity of 2.0 million
tonnes. When compared to production in the PRC, the project will
save shipping fee, loading and unloading charges and inland port
charges.

Business Development

The Group purchases ore from Indonesia through exclusive offtake
agreement at fixed price for self-use or sales, and has started to
sell ore to third parties since the end of 2009. Thanks to the growth
of the industry and the increasing demand of resources and steel
materials, the Group achieved a remarkable results in 2011 with an
annual sales volume reaching 3.5 million tonnes, exceeding the
sales target of 3.0 million tonnes. The Group is actively developing
relationship with up and down-stream trading partners to further
expand the resources trading business in order to bring a steady
growth of revenue. The sales target of ores in 2012 is 6.0 million
tonnes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Disposal of equity interests in Yongan

In accordance with the policy of relocating iron steel enterprises
out from the urban areas under the “Twelfth Five Year Plan” of the
PRC and as part of Luoyang City’'s development planning policy,
the Government of Luoyang City has arranged the relocation of
Yongan Special Steel, which includes (1) the Land Resumption
and Relocation, pursuant to which the Government of Luoyang
City will pay various fees in an aggregate amount of RMB1 billion
to Yongtong Special Steel and (2) the Restructuring, pursuant to
which Yongtong Special Steel will transfer its 51% equity interests
in Yongan Special Steel to a company nominated by the
Government of Luoyang City in order to tie in with the urban
development of Luoyang City (the “Arrangement”). According to
the Arrangement, Yongtong Special Steel entered into an
agreement with the Government of Luoyang City on 19 December
2011 in relation to the Arrangement which was then effective. On
20 February 2012, Yongtong Special Steel and Luoyang State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council (“SASAC”) entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreement with Anhui Center, a party nominated by the
Government of Luoyang City as part of the Arrangement.

According to the Arrangement by the Government of Luoyang
City, the Group has ceased the production activities of Yongan
Special Steel since 31 October 2011.

The Directors are of the view that the disposal of Yongan Special
Steel will have a positive impact on the Group’s results, financial
position and liquidity position. The Group will use the proceed for
(i) repayment of the external debt owned by Yongan Special Steel;
(ii) payment of relocation expenses; (iii) payment of employee
settlement expenses; (iv) payment of relevant PRC taxes in
connection with the equity transfer; and (v) use as general working
capital of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financing Arrangement

In November 2010, the Company issued HKD1,374.8 million 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds to replace the Zero Coupon
Convertible Bonds. In addition, on 2 December 2010, the
Company and Asia Equity Value Limited (“Asia Equity”) entered
into an agreement in connection with a USD loan facility in an
amount equivalent to RMB330 million (equivalent to approximately
HKD384 million) and the issue of warrants to the lender (the “Term
Loan with Warrants”). The term of the facility is two years. All these
convertible bonds and Term Loan with Warrants are due in 2012.

The Company is in the process of considering various restructuring
options in connection with the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
including but not limited to the extension of maturity date of the
10% Coupon Convertible Bonds.

In addition, the Group has been actively negotiating with PRC
banks for the renewal of PRC bank borrowings when those
borrowings fall due in 2012. Based on our management’s past
experience, the Group did not encounter any significant difficulties
in renewing the PRC bank borrowings. Subsequent to the year
end, the Group has successfully renewed bank borrowings of
RMB55 million.

Last but not least, the Group has also been actively negotiating
with Hong Kong and overseas banks or institutional investors for
credit facilities. Subsequent to the year end, the Group has
successfully obtained new credit facilities of RMB63 million.

The Group believes that the above financing arrangement can
improve the financial position of the Group and lay a solid
foundation for our business expansion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CONCLUSION AND PROSPECTS

Solid Foundation Built in the Eleventh Five Year Plan
Period

2011 marks the start of the Twelfth Five Year Plan. In the Eleventh
Five Year Plan period, the Group transformed from a special steel
producer into an integrated enterprise engaging in resources
development and production of Ni-Cr alloy steel of high
technology. The Group also focused on the development of
innovative technology of Ni-Cr resources. Through the listing
platform of the Group and capitalised on our abundant mineral
resources, we seized the opportunities to launch the stainless steel
base materials, an innovative stainless steel product series
developed by the Group. The Group also made several
breakthroughs in production technology of metallurgy, including
the green and low carbon non-coke reduction purification
technology, and the Integrated Processing of Limonitic Lateritic
Nickel Ore technology, which was granted a certificate of
accreditation by China Nonferrous Metals Industry Association and
accredited as a leading innovative application process in the
world.

During the period, the Group committed to putting the achievement
of research and development into commercial operation. In 2009,
the Group established a new plant in Lianyungang, a coastal city
with excellent geographical environment. Non-coke reduction
purification technology was applied to produce ferro-nickel alloy
products, which were energy-saving and with low pollution, low
costs and high recovery rate. The plant will commence trial
production in the second half of 2012. Generally speaking, the
existing production plants can adjust the processing capability
with the renovated and upgraded facilities according to the market
and economic situation, and effectively coordinate with the
production capacity of new production plants, so to utilise
resources in a more efficient way.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Rapid Growth in the “Twelfth Five Years”

During 2011, the Group continued to follow the direction of
development set in the Eleventh Five Year Plan and has achieved
a satisfactory result. In the next four years, the Group will continue
to focus in the following areas of work:

1. Further consolidation of resources;
2. Further research and development of new technologies;
3.  Global expansion of operations.

Leveraging on the above foundation, the Company believes that
the Group will further expand in 2012. Moreover, being the second
year of the five-year development period, various indicators will
record substantial growth in 2012, primarily driven by the
expanded capacity after the facility improvement of Yongtong
Special Steel, the commencement of production of Lianyungang
project, and the rapid growth of the ore trading business.
According to the plan of management, the 2012 sales targets of
the Group are as follows:

Sales targets

Product

Em

5 35 o
BHES

Iron and steel products
Trading of ores
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=

2012
—E-——fF
Weight
EmEE
(tonnes)

(D)

200,000
6,000,000

Iron and steel products sold by the Group in 2011 amounted to
approximately 169,000 tonnes. The sales target of iron and steel
products for 2012 is 200,000 tonnes.

With the rapid growth of ore trading business, successful operation
of Lianyungang project and implementation of financing
arrangement, Directors are confident that the Group will have
another year of strong performance and bring satisfactory returns
for our shareholders.

AEBR-_ZE——FEHZHMEBERY B
169,000 AME o —F— —F 7 g E RiNE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB R i S AT

Turnover and sales volume

Major products of the Group were stainless steel base material, Ni-
Cr alloy steel ingot, ferro-nickel alloys and limonitic ores. The table
below sets out the turnover and sales volume of our major products

for the years indicated:

Turnover

EEERHE
AEEBZEEEMATHMER  BRKEeS
e - RS RBEE - TRIVAEE
FTEERRAIAFREZEERRIES -

For the year ended
31 December 2011

For the year ended
31 December 2010

BE_Z——¢F HE_ZT—ZF
+TZRA=E+—HLFE +ZA=+—HLFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
AR¥ T ARETTT

Stainless steel base material N S E R 928,527 36% 408,030 27%
Bearing steel iy S — — 26,598 2%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot R385 ©HEE 309,081 12% 107,422 7%
Ni-Cr bearing steel 62 SR B R — — 2,371 —
Ferro-nickel alloys and others  $8#4& & & Hth 81,052 3% 496,865 32%
Limonitic ores BEE 1,269,119 49% 494 576 32%
Total st 2,587,779 100% 1,535,862 100%

Sales volume

For the year ended
31 December 2011

For the year ended
31 December 2010

BE—_Z——F HEZZT—TF
+TZA=+—RHLFE TZA=T—HIEEE
(tonnes) (tonnes)
(M) (AWE)
Stainless steel base material N4 S Bk 108,603 3% 56,711 3%
Bearing steel 9 7 3f] — — 6,632 —
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot Rig e T 39,419 1% 15,391 1%
Ni-Cr bearing steel 2 8K B Ef — — 212 —
Ferro-nickel alloys and others 4884 4 R E M 20,869 1% 139,211 8%
Limonitic ores B TR 3,518,582 95% 1,451,301 88%
Total BET 3,687,473 100% 1,669,458 100%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s turnover in 2011 increased by RMB1,051.9 million, or
68.5%, to approximately RMB2,587.8 million (2010: RMB1,535.9
million). The increase was primarily due to the increase in trading
of limonitic ores and sales of stainless steel base material and Ni-
Cr alloy steel ingot.

During the year, the Group gradually discontinued the production
and sales of low margin bearing steel, Ni-Cr bearing steel and
ferro-nickel alloys and put more focus on the production and sales
of stainless steel base material and Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot which
are with better profit margin.

The Group’s sales volume of stainless steel base material and Ni-
Cr alloy steel ingot in 2011 increased by approximately 52,000
tonnes and 24,000 tonnes, or 91.2% and 160.0%, to approximately
109,000 tonnes and 39,000 tonnes respectively (2010: 57,000
tonnes and 15,000 tonnes). The Group’s sales volume of limonitic
ores in 2011 increased sharply by 2.0 million tonnes, or 142.4% to
approximately 3.5 million tonnes (2010: 1.5 million tonnes).

During 2011, the Group’s average selling price per tonne for
stainless steel base material and Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot were
RMB8,550 (2010: RMB7,195) and RMB7,841 (2010: RMB6,980)
respectively while the average unit selling price per tonne for
limonitic ores was RMB361 (2010: RMB341), reflecting the result of
increasing ore demand and prices in the market.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales in 2011 increased by RMB892.0 million, or
65.3%, to approximately RMB2,258.6 million (2010: RMB1,366.6
million). The increase in cost of sales is in line with the increase in
turnover of 68.5%.

The unit cost of sales for stainless steel base material and Ni-Cr
alloy steel ingot were RMB8,561 and RMB7,245 per tonne
respectively in 2011 (2010: RMB6,525 and RMB6,175 per tonne
respectively). The unit cost of limonitic ores in 2011 decreased by
RMB10 per tonne, or 3.7%, to RMB260 per tonne (2010: RMB270
per tonne).

B E R L AT
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The table below shows a breakdown of our costs of sales for the
year:

Cost of sales HERAR

For the year ended
31 December 2011

TRARNARNERZHERANFA :

For the year ended
31 December 2010

BE-ZT——F BHE-_T—ZTF
+ZA=1+—HLEE +7ﬂ7+ HIEFE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARET T AREFIT
Raw materials EM R 1,587,097 70% 785,406 57%
Fuel R 407,997 18% 389,589 29%
Utilities KEE 110,238 5% 83,846 6%
Depreciation e 91,080 4% 72,863 5%
Staff costs =N 38,519 2% 21,417 2%
Others Hit 23,624 1% 13,455 1%
Total @st 2,258,555 100% 1,366,576 100%
Gross profit EF
The unit gross profit/(loss) for stainless steel base material and —Z——F 7 THMHER MIERA S MiEE
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot in 2011 was RMB(11) and RMB596 per {IEF],(FEEB)DRIAFGAMARE(11)7T

tonne respectively (2010: unit gross profit of RMB670 and RMB805
per tonne respectively). The decrease in gross profit margin of
these products was mainly due to increase in raw materials and
production costs. Moreover the fixed costs of Yongan Special
Steel incurred after its cessation in production also results in a
lower gross profit margin for its products. The unit gross profit for
limonitic ores in 2011 was RMB101 per tonne (2010: unit gross
profit of RMB71 per tonne). Increase in the unit gross profit for
limonitic ores in 2011 was primarily due to huge demand for the
product in the PRC market that its price increased throughout the
year.

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s gross profit
increased from RMB169.3 million in 2010 to RMB329.2 million in
2011.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income and gains

Other income in 2011 increased by RMB78.5 million, to RMB159.6
million (2010: RMB81.1 million). This is mainly attributable to the
changes in fair value of RMB123.0 million (2010: RMB28.0 million)
of derivative financial instruments as a result of the decrease in
their fair values and the corresponding financial liabilities.

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs in 2011 increased by RMB20.0
million to RMB43.3 million (2010: RMB23.3 million), representing
1.7% of turnover (2010: 1.5%). Increase in selling and distribution
costs was in line with increase in sales during the year.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses in 2011 decreased by RMB17.0 million,
or 11.6%, to RMB129.4 million (2010: RMB146.4 million),
representing 5.0% of turnover (2010: 9.5%). The decrease in
administrative expenses to turnover ratio is mainly due to
management’s effort paid for better control over administrative
expenses throughout the year.

Finance costs

According to relevant International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), estimated future cash flow for the convertible bonds and
Term Loan with Warrants were discounted at effective interest
rates. Therefore, the deemed effective interest included both
coupon payment and financial charges accrued for redemption in
the future. The total financial charges for convertible bonds and
Term Loan with Warrants based on effective interest method
amounted to RMB409.2 million in 2011 (2010: RMB127.5 million),
of which RMB231.5 million was capitalised as part of the cost of
construction in progress. Finance costs charged to the
consolidated income statement in 2011 was RMB205.1 million
(2010: RMB90.4 million).

Increase in finance costs in 2011 was mainly due to the full year
effect of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds and the Term Loan
with Warrants.
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Other expenses

Other expenses in 2011 decreased by RMB16.5 million, or 51.6%,
to RMB15.5 million (2010: RMB32.0 million), representing 0.6% of
turnover (2010: 2.1%). The decrease in other expenses is mainly
due to there was an one-off transaction costs of RMB19.2 million
for restructuring of convertible bonds in 2010. No such expense
incurred in 2011.

Profit/(loss) before tax

As a result of the factors discussed above, the profit before tax for
the year ended 31 December 2011 was RMB99.1 million (2010:
loss of RMB23.0 million).

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax margin was 3.8% (2010:
(1.5%)). The earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA) margin was 18.6% (2010: 13.1%).

Income tax expense/(credit)

The applicable Hong Kong corporate income tax rate of the
Company and its subsidiaries which operate in Hong Kong is
16.5% based on existing legislation. The entities within the Group
which operate in Mainland China, Singapore and Indonesia are
subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 5% to 25% for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

Profit for the year and profit attributable to
shareholders

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s 2011 profit
for the year increased by RMB64.8 million to RMB67.4 million
(2010: RMB2.6 million) and the 2011 profit attributable to
shareholders was RMB66.3 million (2010: RMB1.5 million).

26

Annual Report 2011 « —ZE——FFEHE

Hipx
—E——FHEMAIRLARK165H
B H516%EAREIB5EET(ZE
—ZF /\E’ﬁzaz OBE&EL)  hEXEMN
06%(ZF—TF :21%) « EhFHA R
zxmmﬁé_ﬁ SESABRRESES
—RERGHAAREI92BEE T K=
T FUVEELERBRAY -

BRBLADER,(B518)

ERNEAamecBlR BE-F——F
TZA=T—BHLEFE BHRAEMNA/AR
KOOI ETL(ZZ—Z2F: FRARK

i —

23.0B&TL) °

AEBERBANGEN,(B18) X R38% (=F
— T4 1 (1.5%)) - EBITDAR %5 18.6% (=
—ZF 1 131%) °

Fri8®ipmx (&1E)

RIBRITED - RRARREREBLE 2K
BABRIMER 2 BBFEREER16.5% °
(2 F——F+_A=+—HIFE &
SERFEAM - FNE REELE 2B
TEIEN T5% 2 25% 2 TR BN HFTSHL o

FERN R R REERF

ERUEATsmzAE  ARER =T ——
E7HRAENMAREKCLISEETLE AR
67488 T(ZE—ZF: ARB26EE
L) e R_T——% > Hﬂir&“fﬁz;ﬁﬂﬁ/\
R¥e63EBIL(ZE—ZF: AR¥15
BEJL) °



R ERIERERAF

+ China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Key financial ratios

Management Discussion and Analysis

kk}% l:l—_I-FI Eﬁi/_\TﬁV

FEHMHLR

For the year ended
31 December

BET-A=1tT—-HLHFE

Notes 2011 2010
ihE=d —E2——F
Current ratio MEN L = 1 69% 104%
Inventory turnover days FERAEBH 2 93 days A 230 days H
Debtor turnover days FEW AR FUAE A & 3 21 days A 28 days H
Creditor turnover days FETBR XA S B 4 96 days A 180 days H
Interest cover BRI BB 5 1.48 timesf&  0.75timesf&
Interest-bearing gearing ratio SAERERBEHER 6 47% 50%
Debt to EBITDA ratio BfEHEEBITDAL X 7 3.4 times & 9.3 times &
Net debt/Capital and net debit ratio FAEBARFEELEX 8 40% 42%
Notes: Bz -
1. current asset/current liabilities X 100% 1. RENVEE,/REBMEX 100%
5 Inventories X 365 d & X 365 8
) Cost of sales e SHEMRA
Trade and notes receivables MR N R R4
3. X 365 days 3. — X 365H
Turnover =
Trade and notes payables R RS RENRE
4. X 365 days 4. N X 365 H
Cost of sales SHERA
. Profit before interest and tax 5 R ) 8 R B IE AT
' Net interest expense A e FE
Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings AEEREHMER
6. (including convertible bonds) 6. (BIETHRRES)
X 100% X 100%
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent BARRERE ARG ER
. Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings (including convertible bonds) FERERRAMEE(BIETBKRES)
. 7.
EBITDA EBITDA
. Net debt AEEHE
. 8.
Capital and net debt AR & EFRE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE s AT

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2011 mainly
comprised plant and machinery, buildings and construction in
progress. The increase in balance to RMB2,108.8 million (2010:
RMB2,008.2 million) was mainly due to the purchase costs and
finance costs for the addition of new production facilities in the
production plant of East Harvest Mining.

Intangible asset

The intangible asset solely represents the unamortised amount of
the exclusive offtake right from PT. Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan Mining”)
secured by the Group in May 2007. The decrease in the balance
during the year was due to amortisation for the year based on the
unit of purchase method and the exchange realignment.

Inventories

The inventory turnover days decreased from 230 days in 2010 to
93 days in 2011. As at 31 December 2011, inventories balance
decreased by RMB286.7 million, or 33.3%, to RMB573.0 million
(2010: RMB859.7 million). This was mainly due to the
management’s effort paid for better control over the inventories in
the second half of 2011.

Trade and notes receivables

The debtor turnover days decreased from 28 days in 2010 to 21
days in 2011. As at 31 December 2011, trade and notes
receivables balance increased by RMB29.0 million, or 24.3%, to
RMB148.3 million (2010: RMB119.3 million). This was mainly due
to the expansion of the ore trading business.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
The cash and bank balances decreased by approximately
RMB139.7 million, or 29.5%, to approximately RMB334.4 million as
at 31 December 2011 when compared to that as at 31 December
2010. It was mainly due to the net cash inflow generated from
operation by approximately RMB544.4 million, offset by the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB243.8 million, net of decrease in bank loans and other
borrowings of RMB280.1 million, and interest payment of
RMB170.8 million.
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Trade and notes payables

The creditor turnover days decreased from 180 days in 2010 to 96
days in 2011. As at 31 December 2011, trade and notes payables
balance decreased by RMB79.0 million, or 11.7%, to RMB593.5
million (2010: RMB672.5 million). This was mainly due to the
expansion of the ore trading business, purchases of which are
generally settled by telegraphic transfer. In addition, the
management put more effort on inventory control in the second
half of 2011 that less purchases were made in the last quarter of
2011.

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2011, total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings balance decreased by RMB349.2 million, or 42.6%, to
RMB470.5 million (2010: RMB819.7 million). The gearing ratio
decreased slightly from 50% in 2010 to 47% in 2011.

Convertible bonds

As at 31 December 2011, the balance of convertible bonds
represented the principal amounts and accrued interests of the
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds. The amount was classified as current liability as these
convertible bonds will be due in December 2012.

Non-current assets/liabilities held for sale

As at 31 December 2011, the non-current assets/liabilities held for
sale represent the assets and liabilities of Yongan Special Steel
reclassified from various financial statements line items in
compliance with the relevant IFRSs.

Use of proceeds

In December 2007, the net proceeds from the issue of the Zero
Coupon Convertible Bonds were approximately HK$1,950 million.
As at 31 December 2011, these proceeds were fully utilised in
accordance with the planned usage i.e. for the capital
expenditures of steel mill expansion in the PRC and Indonesia and
general working capital.
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Liquidity and capital resources

Our working capital has been principally sourced from cash
generated from operations and from long-term and short-term
debts. We also utilise advances we received from our customers
to finance part of our working capital requirements. As at 31
December 2011, the advances from customers amounted to
RMB216.0 million.

As at 31 December 2011, we had current liabilities of RMB2,941.8
million, of which RMB402.7 million were interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings repayable within one year, RMB1,164.4 million
were convertible bonds with maturity period of less than one year
and RMB593.5 million were trade and notes payables in respect of
purchase of raw materials.

Foreign currency risk

Since 2004, the Group has begun the purchase of iron ore from
overseas suppliers. The purchase and sales contracts of ore
trading business are principally denominated in USD. The Group’s
purchase and sales related to iron and steel products are mainly
denominated in RMB. Apart from the convertible bonds, Term
Loan with Warrants and intangible asset which are denominated in
HKD, USD and USD, respectively, other assets and liabilities of the
Group are primarily denominated in RMB. Since the RMB against
USD and HKD is in a favourable trend in recent years, no hedging
is considered necessary at the moment. However, the Group will
closely monitor the foreign currency risk and consider to use
necessary financial instruments for hedging purposes.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group did not enter into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currency
as the Directors considered the Group had no significant foreign
currency risk.
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Security

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had following assets being
pledged: (1) certain parcels of the Group’s leasehold lands
situated in the PRC with the carrying amounts of RMB123.5 million
and building and plant and machinery with net carry amounts of
RMB51.7 million were secured for bank loans granted to the Group
of RMB130.0 million (2010: RMB177.7 million); and (2) The entire
registered capital of Lianyangang East Harvest Minerals Co., Ltd.
(“East Harvest Minerals”), was pledged for the Term Loan with
Warrants. At 31 December 2011, the carrying amount of the Term
Loan with Warrants was RMB164.7 million and the paid-up capital
of East Harvest Minerals amounted to USD127,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB800,214,300).

Capital commitment
As at 31 December 2011, the Group had capital commitments in
the amount of approximately RMB334.5 million.
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2
8

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong, aged 60, was appointed as Director of the
Company on 16 March 2004 and is currently an Executive Director,
the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for formulating the
Group’s overall business plans and strategies. Mr. Dong is the
founder of the Group. He has been the Director of Zhengzhou
Yongtong Special Steel Company Limited (“Yongtong Special
Steel”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
a number of subsidiaries of the Company since 1993. He was
involved in the management and day-to-day operations on a full
time basis. He served as the vice manager and senior economics
and technology consultant of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry
Metallurgy News Information Development Company (/&% T %30
A& A E BB AF]) in 1989. Formerly, the said company was
the Ministry’s department responsible for news and major reports
about the metallurgical industry. Mr. Dong was also appointed as
the director of Synthesis Department of the World Metallurgical
Products Exhibition in 1990. The said organisation was primarily
involved in the activities relating to exhibitions of metallurgical
products. In 1992, he was appointed as the general manager of
Henan Sanen Industry Sci-Tech Industrial Company (JAl & = & T
¥ Bl & % 2 7)). The said company was primarily involved in
research and development of industrial technologies. Between
October 1984 and April 2004, the business of refractory materials
factory, a factory principally involved in production and
management of refractory materials, was contracted out to and
managed by Mr. Dong. He was both the plant manager and the
sole legal representative of the refractory materials factory from
1984 to 2004. He has also served as a part-time associate
professor in the field of economics at Wuhan University of Science
and Technology since 2002. He graduated from the Metallurgy
Department of Wuhan Iron and Steel College in 1989. He received
his Trade and Economics Degree from Graduate School of the
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in 2000 too. During the years
from 1985 to 1994, he has been honoured many times by various
PRC government authorities for his outstanding achievement in
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advancement of technology. He has also been awarded the
“Award for Achievement in Development of the World Patented
Technologies” for his outstanding contribution to the area of
patented technologies. In addition, he won a gold medal from
Hong Kong Organising Committee of the International Patent
Technology Expo for his project of condenser type bicomponent
nozzle in 2001, and was named “The World’s Outstanding Chinese
Entrepreneur” by the World Chinese Entrepreneur Association in
2004. Moreover, he was appointed as a member of Zhengzhou
Overseas Exchange Association, and was elected as a joint-
committee member as well as the member representative of
Zhengzhou Enterprises Association in 2003. In 2004, he was
appointed as a representative of the Zhengzhou'’s Twelfth National
People’s Congress. Mr. Dong was awarded one of the Hundred
Outstanding People of the Year in Industrial Economics by the
People of the Year in China’s Industrial Economics Award’s
Organising Committee in April 2005. Mr. Dong also published two
books, CGFT&ER B & — Ba£EF H/KE ) (What's behind the
New Economy — The Emergence of Spiritual Economy) in 2001
and € 15 8 (B 1B B A B & % & A )(Spiritual Value and the
Transformation of the Chinese Economy) in 2002. Mr. Dong is the
father of Mr. Dong Chengzhe, an Executive Director of the
Company. He is also the sole shareholder and sole director of
Easyman Assets Management Limited (“Easyman”), and the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena, aged 49, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 31 August 2011. She joined
the Company as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 1 August 2011. Ms. Ng graduated from the University of
Manchester in the United Kingdom and holds a Master Degree in
Investment and Finance from the University of Hull in the United
Kingdom. Ms. Ng has over 20 years of experience in corporate
finance and investment banking. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Securities Institute. Prior to joining the Company, she had
held various senior positions in investment banks and a Hong
Kong listed company.
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Mr. Song Wenzhou, aged 44, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005 and is responsible for the
Group’s administrative, marketing and staff development matters.
Prior to joining the Group in July 1995, he had been a teacher at
the Zhengzhou Institute of Technology. He graduated from Beijing
Open University in 1987 with a Bachelor Degree in Linguistics and
Phonetics. He also received his Bachelor Degree in Chinese
Language and Literature from Henan Normal University in 1992
and Bachelor Degree in Legal Studies from Central Broadcast and
Television University in 2003. Since joining the Group in 1995 until
February 2004, Mr. Song was also responsible for the
administrative matters at the refractory materials factory.

Mr. Dong Chengzhe, aged 33, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 12 March 2007. He graduated from
Wuhan University of Science and Technology with a Diploma in
International Trade. He also obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Accountancy from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology and a
Master Degree of International Finance from Deakin University in
Australia. He joined the Group in 2007 and was primarily
responsible for financial and international trade activities of
Yongtong Special Steel. Prior to joining the Group, he was an
owner of an international trading company in Australia. He is the
son of Mr. Dong Shutong, Executive Director and the substantial
and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Yang Fei, aged 34, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 30 August 2010. He has joined the Company as
the assistant to the Chairman of the Company since 2006. Mr.
Yang was the manager of the Information Technology Department
(October 2002 to August 2003) and the general manager of the
Market Development Department (August 2003 to August 2006) of
China Life — CMG Life Assurance Company Limited. Prior to
joining China Life — CMG Life Assurance Company Limited, Mr.
Yang was the assistant manager of the International Business
Department of Guangdong Branch, China Life Insurance Company
Limited from August 1998 to June 2001. Mr. Yang graduated with
a Bachelor Degree in Economics from Beijing University in June
1998 and a Master of Science Degree in Economics from London
School of Economics and Political Science in June 2002.
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Mr. Mao Yehong, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 11 April 2011. He worked as a
technician, assistant engineer, deputy director of scheduling, head
of engineer group, assistant to factory director and deputy factory
director in Steel Plant No. 2 of Taiyuan Iron & Steel (Group) Co.,
Ltd. (K & 8 # (5% E)E R A 8 % — & &) from July 1980 to
September 1990. He was the deputy factory director, managing
deputy factory director and chief engineer in the Wire Plant of
Taiyuan Iron & Steel (Group) Co., Ltd. (KRS0 #E (@ )ER A A
AR from September 1990 to March 1998 and was the factory
director and secretary of the committee party in Rolling Plant No. 3
of Taiyuan Iron & Steel (Group) Co., Ltd. (K R##E (E£=)BRE A
75 = %3 ) from March 1998 to June 2004. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Mao worked as the deputy managing director and
chief engineer in Rui Tian Steel Co., Ltd., the deputy managing
director in Fuzhou Wuhang Stainless Steel Co., Ltd. and the
managing director in Jiangsu Dainan New Oriental Iron & Steel
Co., Ltd. from June 2004 to December 2010.

Mr. Mao graduated with a bachelor's degree in engineering from
Northeastern University (3R1EK2 ) in China in July 1980.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Tianjun, aged 68, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He joined the Group in
2005. Mr. Yang worked in Ministry of Metallurgy Forty Company (/&
& EBPIZ A F]) and then in Angang Steelwork (% 8] 5 8 8% ) for a
total of 14 years as a technician and then an engineer. He was the
Principal of University of Beijing Science and Technology for the
period from 1993 to July 2004, and is currently a professor and
mentor of doctorate students of the Metallurgy Department of
University of Beijing Science and Technology.

Since 1989, he was honoured with nine first-grade, second-grade
or third-grade State Scientific and Technological Progress Awards
in both national and provincial levels for his outstanding
contributions to the State by conducting scientific researches in
metallurgical projects. He was the Chairman of Sino-German Co-
operative Research Project studying the multi-purpose uses of
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niobium. He was invited by the Research Institute of Industrial
Science and Technology of Korea to lead the research in air-
refined coal spray in blast furnace, and participated in a research
with the Metallurgical Research Institute in coal spray in blast
furnace and the mathematical model. He published over 70
academic papers locally or overseas and six books specialised in
metallurgy. He was appointed as the vice chairman of Chinese
Society of Metals in 2001 and a member of the Fifth Graduate
Committee of the State Council (R EMZ E € ) in 2003.

Mr. Yang graduated in 1965 from the Metallurgical Department of
Beijing Iron and Steel College. He completed his postgraduate
study in 1981 and obtained a Master Degree in Metallurgy from
the Beijing Iron and Steel Institute. In 1985, he was granted
scholarship from Humboldt-University zu Berlin and conducted a
joint research with the RWTH-Aachen University in Germany, and
was awarded a Doctorate Degree in 1986.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Bai Baohua, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He has almost 44 years’
experience in the metallurgy. He worked as an engineer, a
manager and then the general manager of China Metallurgical
Products’ Import & Export Company (F B8 € # 1 0 2 7)), a
company primarily involved in the trading of metals. He was also
appointed as the general manager of China International Steel
Investment Company ( # M 8 1% & A 7\)), a company
primarily involved in promotion of foreign investment in the steel
industry in the People’s Republic of China. In addition, he was the
general manager, the vice chairman and the legal representative
of China Iron and Steel Industry and Trade Group Corporation, a
company primarily involved in production and trade of steel. He
graduated from the Metal Pressure Processing Department at
Beijing Iron and Steel College in 1965.
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Mr. Huang Changhuai, aged 76, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 May
2005. He is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. He worked for a printing and dyeing mill as production
supervisor, a political director and then deputy director. He was
appointed the deputy director of the Municipal Economic System
Reform Committee of Zhengzhou Municipal Government, and as
the director of the Municipal Industrial and Communication
Development Committee at the Third Session of the Eighth
People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City in 1985. He was then
appointed at the Twelfth Session of the Eighth People’s Congress
of Zhengzhou City as the director of the city’s Economic Committee
in 1986. He was also appointed the deputy director of the Standing
Committee of the People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City. He
graduated in September 1958 from Zhengzhou Textile School.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung, rFcca, FcrPa, ACMA, Acis, aged 57, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company on 2 May 2005. He is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He joined the Company in
May 2005. Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration from University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a
Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and CPA Australia. He is also an Associate Member of both the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. Mr. Wong was an
executive director, the deputy general manager, group financial
controller and company secretary of Guangzhou Investment
Company Limited (now known as Yuexiu Property Company
Limited) for over ten years. Mr. Wong has over 35 years of
experience in finance, accounting and management.

Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director and
a member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited,
Asia Standard International Group Limited, Century City
International Holdings Limited, China Ting Group Holdings Limited,
ENM Holdings Limited, First Natural Foods Holdings Limited
(provisional liquidators appointed), Golden Eagle Retail Group
Limited, Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited, PacMOS
Technologies Holdings Limited, Paliburg Holdings Limited, Regal
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Hotels International Holdings Limited and TPV Technology Limited,
all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He was formerly an independent
non-executive director of Great Wall Motor Company Limited (up
to 5 June 2009) and FU JI Food and Catering Services Holdings
Limited (provisional liquidators appointed) (up to 24 June 2011).

Mr. Fahmi Idris, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 14 August 2010. Mr. Idris,
graduated with a Degree in Law from University of Padjadjaran in
2010 and a Degree in Economics from University of Indonesia in
1969. He is currently the Commissioner of Maskapai Asuransi
Parolamas (an insurance company), PT. Parama Bina Tani (an
agrochemical company), PT. Kodel Invesindo Nusa (a trading and
investment company), PT. Krama Yudha (an automotive company)
and the President Commissioner of PT. Permadani Khatulistiwa
Nusantara (a hotel and tourism company), PT. Permadani
Propertindo Development (a property company), PT. Tamarindo
Nusa Hotel, PT. Permadani Khatulistiwa Dewata (a hotel and
tourism company) and PT. Kodel (a trade and investment
company). From 1981 to 1987, he was the President Commissioner
of PT. Encontrade Pratama Indonesia (an engineering and
construction of electrical and mechanical installation company).
From 1984 to 1987, he was the Vice President Commissioner of
PT. Wahana Muda Indonesia (a construction and engineering
firm). From 1986 to 1992, he was the Commissioner of Bank Susila
Bhakti. From 1987 to 1990, he was the President of PT. Permadani
Teleconsult Pratama. From 1987 to 2004, he was the President
Director of PT. Niigata Santana (a diesel engine and injection and
moulding machine manufacturing company). From 1991 to 2003,
he was the President Commissioner of PT. Bintara Tani Nusantara
(a company engages in the plantation of palm oil and cocoa).
From 1991 to 1994, he was the Commissioner of PT. Java
Indonusa Motors and from 2000 to 2003, he was the President
Commissioner of PT. Kodel Margahayu Telindo.
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Mr. Idris is currently a member of the Board of Fund Supporters of
Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatera. From 1967 to 1968,
he was Member of People’s Consultative Assembly of the Republic
of Indonesia. From 1987 to 2004, he was a member of Parliament
of the Republic of Indonesia. From 1967 to 1968, he was the
Treasurer of the Indonesian Chambers of Commerce and Industry.
From 1994 to 1998, he was the Vice Chairman of the Supervisory
Council Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Mr. Idris
was the Minister of Manpower of the Republic of Indonesia from
1998 to 1999 and from 2004 to 2005, he was also the Ministry of
Industry of the Republic of Indonesia from 2005 to 2009.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Yee Lok, aged 37, was appointed as the financial
controller of the Company on 9 January 2012 and as the company
secretary with effect from 1 February 2012. Mr. Chan is a qualified
accountant and member of both the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor’s Degree with
honours in Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. Before
joining the Company, Mr. Chan had worked in international
accounting firms with over 14 years of accounting and auditing
experience, and he was the audit project leader for several multi-
national companies seeking listing on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Chan is mainly responsible for the accounting,
finance and company secretarial matters of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The primary duties of the
audit committee are to review the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group. The audit committee
consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai.
Mr. Wong Chi Keung was elected the chairman of the audit
committee.

The audit committee’s specific terms of reference were posted on
the Company’s website.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the trading of
ore and the manufacture and sale of special steel products in the
PRC. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and profit for the year ended 31 December
2011 were mainly derived from the sale of ore and manufacture
and sale of special steel products to customers in the PRC.
Accordingly, no segmental analysis by business is presented for
the year ended 31 December 2011. Geographical segment
analysis is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2011 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 67 to 204.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities

and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years is disclosed on pages 5 to 6 of this annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and of the Group during the year are set out in Note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS, WARRANTS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share
options, warrants and convertible bonds during the year are set
out in Notes 32, 34, 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2011.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements and consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves, including the
share premium account, available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of Companies Law (2007 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands, amounted to RMB2,963,342,000.

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
and contributed surplus are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally be distributed by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to their profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC. These profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers and to the largest customer accounted for 58% and
24% of the total sales for the year respectively. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers and from the largest supplier
accounted for 23% and 10% of the total purchases for the year
respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest suppliers or customers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and as at the date of the report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman)
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena (appointed on 31 August 2011)

Mr. Lau Hok Yuk (resigned on 1 August 2011)

Mr. Song Wenzhou
Mr. Zhao Ping (resigned on 31 December 2011)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe
Mr. Yang Fei
Mr. Mao Yehong (appointed on 11 April 2011)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Pursuant to article 87 of the Company’s article of association,
Mr. Dong Chengzhe, Mr. Song Wenzhou, Mr. Bai Baohua and
Mr. Huang Changhuai will retire as Directors by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, whereas
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting pursuant to article 86(3) of the Company’s article
of association. All retiring Directors, being eligible for re-election,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai, Mr. Wong Chi Keung
and Mr. Fahmi Idris and considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management are
set out on pages 32 to 39 of this annual report.

Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board with
reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

On 5 March 2007, S.E.A. Mineral Limited (“S.E.A.M”) entered into
an Exclusive Offtake Agreement with Yiwan Mining (the “Exclusive
Offtake Agreement”), a limited company incorporated in Indonesia,
which is substantially owned by Mr. Soen Bin Kuan. Pursuant to
the Exclusive Offtake Agreement, Yiwan Mining agreed to
exclusively sell and S.E.A.M agreed to buy the iron ores produced
by Yiwan Mining at a fixed price of US$16 per dry tonne, for a
minimum 40 million dry tones of iron ores throughout a period of
approximately 14 years expiring on 24 January 2021, which has
subsequently been extended by a supplemental agreement to 24
January 2036.

By virtue of the convertible bonds issued by Yiwan Mining to
Easyman which is wholly owned by Mr. Dong Shutong, Executive
Director and Chairman of the Board. Mr. Dong had an indirect
interest in the Exclusive Offtake Agreement.

Further details of the transaction undertaken in connection
therewith are included in Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph
headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” as set out on pages 52
to 53 of this annual report, no Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFQ”)) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company as
at 31 December 2011:

Capacity in which

Name of Director interests are held

EEpS REEZEZSH

Mr. Dong Shutong
BERELE

Held by controlled
corporations

RIEFIEERE

Beneficial owner

EalEAA

Mr. Dong Chengzhe
B

Report of the Directors
EEQRES

EERNRG HEAROREERZ
*Eﬁ&&/AF‘

RZZE—F+_A=+—8 ' EFXEQ

AREBEEE(EERES LBEKD
([BHRHEEEN ) EXVEL) 2 - 188
Rty RGBS HE(a )*ETEM%?&H\HT
ﬂﬂﬁﬂ%XV*ﬁ%?&%&“ ZERAIN=—IN/N

PR 2 W )@(@%*E%mem%&,ﬁﬂf
1I7:<1FHZEE§{I*XT&%%E;?{’EX%E{’E%EZ%
mEAE) (D)RIBEZHFLBERNE
352 {538 FE B S AL GBI Pl & so it 2 #E e
RAKE  R(C)IBELEMAB EMBEITAE
%%ﬁﬁ%’é‘%i%ﬁ’ﬂ?ﬁ?ﬁu(H&“ﬁ?,ﬁ\lu)?ﬁ
MEARRNB) KBRS MARIAT ¢

() RA=FE——F+ZA=+—-HR
RRTFRGDZER

Approximate
percentage to
the issued
share capital of

Number of shares the Company

LR NG|

ERITREAZ

vy 4= BB DL

1,394,106,705 60.50%
(note 1)
(PMH3E1)

200,000 0.01%
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(ii)

Notes:

46

Long positions in the underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2011

(i)

R-ZZF——F+ZA=+—HR
RATEEARD ZHR

Approximate
percentage to

Number of the issued
underlying Capacity in which share capital of
Name of Director shares held interests are held the Company
LERANE|
ERITREZ
EEns FERBEROBE KERzZSH BMYBDEE
Mr. Dong Shutong 5,000,000 Beneficial owner (note 2) 0.22%
EEBRAE EnEB A (MiE2)
2,050,537,633 Held by controlled corporations 88.99%
(note 3)
mEEEEFEA (MEE3)
Mr. Song Wenzhou 1,020,000 Beneficial owner (note 2) 0.04%
RN FA4 EmEAA(MEE2)
Mr. Dong Chengzhe 1,275,000 Beneficial owner (note 2) 0.06%
B EE EmEAA(MEE2)
Mr. Yang Fei 1,275,000 Beneficial owner (note 2) 0.06%
BREE EnEBA(M52)

1,371,074,705 shares and 23,032,000 shares are held by Easyman and Sino
Regent Worldwide Limited respectively, which are wholly owned by Mr. Dong. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Dong is deemed to have beneficial interests in the above
shares.

These are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant to the Company'’s share
option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005. Upon exercise of the options in
accordance with such share option scheme, the Company’s shares of HK$0.10
each are issuable to the option holder(s) who exercise(s) the rights.

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 7 October 2011, two batches of
convertible notes which could be converted into a total of 2,050,537,633 shares of
the Company may be issued to Easyman (wholly owned by Mr. Dong) and East
Grow Management Limited (“East Grow”) (with 90% interest owned by Easyman)
subject to the terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement. The sale
and purchase agreement was pending approval from independent shareholders in
extraordinary general meeting. By virtue of SFO, Mr. Dong is deemed to have
beneficial interests in the above shares.
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fE %42 E A ZEasyman & Sino Regent
Worldwide Limited o Al #f A 1,371,074,705 %
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M Easyman( & % 4 2 & ¥ A ) K East Grow
Management Limited ([ East Grow ) (fi Easyman
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the
Directors and their associates had any other interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations which had to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2011, shareholders (other than the interest
disclosed above in respect of the Director who is also substantial
shareholder of the Company) who had interests and short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which have
been disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

Long/Short positions in the shares and underlying

Report of the Directors
EEQRES

B EXEEEN R_F——F+-A
=t+—R HSEEEREBBALTRAQF]
s ELE AR ER 2 B - AR (D Sk B4
EH - EARBESMAEGRIIEXVEET
K F 8D EAME AR A LB P 2 (A H
fEmIORE - HIRBEEFMBPEERIFE
352 1547 TE A RE 8RN B 6 9 Pt B R A 2
EfEpEEIAR - HRFRETRIZAH
SARB MR T2 M EMERSORE

FERRRAQBARG RBERD
heEERAE

RZBE——F+ZA=+—8 BRR(TE
BEXHBERKARRREIERR ZESMH
BHEm) NARE R KRR O T - R
WRIERE 75 M HIE (5P 58 XV 3B 5 2 58 379 &P
ZHREBRARRWE - HEEHERARFR
BESNREEIIEIBCHERERFELE
Rz R MOARIT

R-ZB-——FF+ZA=+-—HRAR

shares of the Company as at 31 December 2011: TR REBROZEHRE KA
Approximate percentage
Number of shares/ to the issued share capital
underlying shares held of the Company
HERRERITREAZ
HERG, HERGEE BMAED T
Capacity in which Long Short Long Short
Name of shareholders interests are held positions positions positions positions
BRRAR RERZZSH ¥R KR 35} RE
Easyman Beneficial owner 3,216,558,575 Nil 139.59% Nil
EREAA (note 1) (FiizE1) i i
Held by controlled 205,053,763 Nil 8.90% Nil
corporation (note 2) (ffzE2) 8 i3
MXERRA
East Grow Beneficial owner 205,053,763 Nil 8.90% Nil
BEREBA (note 2) (Fi¥5E2) L i
Asia Equity Beneficial owner 373,226,563 110,000,000 16.20% 4.77%

Soen Bin Kuan

FRE

EafBA

Beneficial owner

EsHAA

(note 3) (FiizE3) (note 4) (FiizE4)

182,734,104

Nil 7.93% Nil

AN JARN

—E——FEEHRE - Annual Report 2011 47



China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited « FREI$2 & REAA R A 7]

Report of the Directors
EERREE

Notes:

1 These include non-listed convertible notes which could be converted into a total of
2,050,537,633 shares of the Company, which may be issued subject to the terms
and conditions of the relevant sale and purchase agreement dated 7 October
2011.

2 These represent non-listed convertible notes which could be converted into a total
of 205,053,763 shares of the Company, which may be issued subject to the terms
and conditions of the relevant sale and purchase agreement dated 7 October
2011. All these underlying shares were held by East Grow (with 90% interest owned
by Easyman). By virtue of the SFO, Easyman is deemed to have beneficial interests
in these underlying shares.

3. These include 263,226,563 non-listed warrants issued by the Company pursuant to
the Term Loan Agreement entered into between the Company and Asia Equity on 2
December 2010.

4. These represent the right of Easyman to acquire from Asia Equity 110,000,000
shares in the Company pursuant to the Option Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Company
has not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 May 2005, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Company to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are
valuable to the Group and to provide the Company with a means
of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to such persons who contribute or may
bring benefit to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain
in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of such scheme and
will expire on 2 May 2015.

The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have an
exercise period of 10 years from the date of acceptance of the
options, which is in compliance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, subject to the a vesting schedule of 5 years whereby only
20% of the options is exercisable 12 months after the date of
acceptance of the options and an additional 20% of the options
shall be exercisable by the grantee in each subsequent year until
the last day of the 5-year period after the date of acceptance of
the options when 100% of the options become exercisable.
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Details of movements in the Company’s share options during the

year are as follows:

Name of Directors
Mr. Dong Shutong
Mr. Lau Hok Yuk
Mr. Song Wenzhou
Mr. Zhao Ping

Mr. Dong Chengzhe
Mr. Yang Fei

Sub-total for number of
share options to Directors

Other employees

Sub-total for number of
share options to
other employees

Total

Notes:

(a) The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights (a)
or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

(b) The price of the shares of the Company as at the date of exercise of the share
options is the Stock Exchange’s closing price on the trading date immediately prior

ESfE
BERE
FIEE i
RIS
BiaE
BREE

BT EEBRE
88

AtbiES

By AinER 2 BE
8Bt

st

Report of the Directors
EEQRES
FNAD TS BBHBET -

No. of share options

BREHE
Price of
Exercise ~ Company’s
Outstanding price of shares at
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed as at share exercise date
at beginning during during during 31 December options of options
of the year the year the year the year 2011 (Note a) (Note b)
i RigE
—E—-F iR
+=A Bhi#Ez ARARG
Sl (i 2B
e RATEE (GET) (K&t b)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
5,000,000 — — — 5,000,000 1.07 N/AREA
3,000,000 — —  (3,000,000) — 1.91 N/ATE A
1,020,000 — — — 1,020,000 1.07 N/ANE
4,250,000 — — — 4,250,000 1.91 N/ATER
1,275,000 — — — 1,275,000 1.91 N/ANER
1,275,000 — — — 1,275,000 1.91 N/ANER
15,820,000 - — (3,000,000 12,820,000
11,900,000 — — — 11,900,000 1.07 NATER
3,000,000 — — — 3,000,000 2.37 NATER
12,955,000 — —  (1,570,000) 11,385,000 2.45 N/ATER
27,855,000 — —  (1,570,000) 26,285,000
43,675,000 — —  (4,570,000) 39,105,000
MeE

R 2 TEET AR RSRARETRARR MR
Az BB EEMAE -

(b)  REERBEITEAE  ARTZMRERRRERET
e REIRT 2 32 5 A S PRI (E -

to the date on which the share options were exercised.
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Pursuant to a board resolution passed on 20 January 2012, the
Company granted share options (the “Options”) under its share
option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005 (the “Scheme”) to the
eligible participants of the Scheme (the “Grantees”) which, subject
to the acceptance of the Options by the Grantees, will enable the
Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 50,000,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (the “Shares”) in the share
capital of the Company, subject to adjustment in accordance with
the Listing Rule 17.03(13).

A summary of such grant is set out below:

Date of Grant: 20 January 2012
(the “Date of Grant”)

Exercise price of the Options HK$0.63 per share
granted:

Number of Options granted: 50,000,000 options

Closing price of the Shares on ~ HK$0.63 per share
the Date of Grant of the
Options:

Average closing price of HK$0.62 per share
Shares for the five trading
days immediately
preceding the Date of
Grant of the Options:

Validity period 10 years from the Date of
of the Options: Grant and its acceptance
and the Options shall lapse
at the expiry of the option
period.
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Among the total of 50,000,000 Options granted above, 21,500,000
Options were granted to the directors and the associates of a
director and controlling shareholder of the Company (the
“Controlling Shareholder”), details of which are as follows:

Relationship between

Name of Grantees

ARAER ABRANERQE ZHE

the Grantees and the Company

Report of the Directors
EEQRES

bt BT R H A $£50,000,000 17 B8 B AE AR
21,500,000 D ERETIIR T AR RIESE LA
RIEERERBEE(ERBERE]D) 2BHBA
T FHBWT

Number of
Options Granted
RENEBRERE

Ng See Wai Rowena Executive director

REE WITES
Yang Fei Executive director
B WITES

Song Wenzhou
RN

Mao Yehong
EEA

Dong Chengzhe
B

Executive director

HITES

Executive director

HITES

Executive director,

Associate of

Controlling Shareholder

MITESE
AR AR R AV B S A+
Various Associates of
ZHANT Controlling Shareholder
IR R BB A L
Various Other employees
EE N HitE&

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have
approved the grant of the above Options to the directors and the
associates of the Controlling Shareholder of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme as set out in Note
34 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2011 was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

8,000,000
1,500,000
1,500,000
1,500,000

1,500,000

7,500,000

28,500,000

RRARBUIFATESCHAERARRAE
ERERBERZBEA TR T LA ERE -

E=WERONES ZEF

Br4R A B IS SRR M sE 34 Fr e 2 BB AR i 51 2
FIE@ZEEN REEZ2F—F+= A
=t+—RHIEFEREMER - AR 7 - HiF
B B sk E AT B A R K [F R B A )
AT AL FEEAREREARRRK
EREMEE AR 2Rk EHMmEF -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 28 January 2010, the Company’s independent
shareholders approved the continuing connected transactions in
relation to the exclusive ores purchase from Yiwan Mining.
According to the Exclusive Offtake Agreement entered into
between Yiwan Mining and S.E.A.M, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, in connection with the purchasing of
ore, Yiwan Mining agreed to supply ore to S.E.A.M until 24 January
2036. According to the Exclusive Offtake Agreement, the prices for
these continuing connected transactions will be US$16.00 per dry
tonne and these transactions will be entered into in usual and
ordinary course of business of the Group. The annual cap for these
transactions for the years ending 31 December 2010, 2011 and
2012 will not exceed HK$483.8 million, HK$483.8 million and
HK$725.7 million, respectively.

During the year, the Company purchased US$53.4 million
(approximately HK$415.4 million) (2010: US$25.8 million
(approximately HK$200.9 million)) ore from Yiwan Mining.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group above
in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the requirements set out in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance to which the
Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or associated
companies was a party subsisted at any time during the year or at
the end of the year.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions in 2011 and confirm that the
transactions have been entered into:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties;

(38) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Group as a whole; and

(4) have not exceeded the relevant maximum amount capped in
accordance to the waiver previously granted by the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Report of the Directors
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group. The audit committee
consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai Baohua and Mr. Huang
Changhuai — Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company and Mr. Wong Chi Keung is the Chairman of the audit
committee.

The audit committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial report matters
including the review of the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 10 April 2006 in compliance
with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Huang Changhuai is the chairman of
the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 30 December 2011 in
compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Dong Shutong is the chairman of the
nomination committee.
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EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees and
Executive Directors is based on their performance, qualifications,
competence displayed, market comparables and the performance
of the Group. Remuneration packages typically comprise salary,
housing allowances, discretionary bonus, other fringe benefits and
the Group’s contribution to retirement benefits schemes. The
remuneration of Executive Directors/senior management are
determined by the Remuneration Committee which will review
them regularly. To provide incentive to the relevant participants,
including the Directors and eligible employees, the Company has
adopted the Share Option Scheme, details of which are set out in
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dong Shutong
Chairman

27 March 2012

Report of the Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

For the year ended 31 December 2011, in the opinion of the
Board, the Company has complied with the CG Code except for
the deviations from code provision A.1.1 in respect of the holding
of four regular board meetings, code provision A.2.1 of the Code
in respect of the segregation of the role of Chairman and chief
executive officer, and A.4.1 of the Code in respect of the service
term of independent non-executive directors, details of which are
explained below.

The Board considered that the Group’s prevailing structures and
systems met the code provisions in the CG Code. The current
practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to follow the
latest practices in corporate governance.

MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code for securities transactions by
Directors. Having made specific enquiries, the Company has
confirmed that all Directors have compiled with the requirements
set out in the Model Code.

THE BOARD

Composition and Appointment

As at 31 December 2011, the Board comprises eleven Directors,
including six Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and
four Independent Non-executive Directors. Names and
biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 39 of this
annual report.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules of having one Independent Non-executive Director
possesses the requisite appropriate professional qualifications.
The Board confirmed that the independence and eligibility of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are in compliance with the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

Save that Mr. Dong Shutong and Mr. Dong Chengzhe are father
and son, the Directors confirmed that there was no connection
amongst the Directors that should be disclosed relating to finance,
business, relation or other significant events or relevant matters.
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The Board has effectively overseen and monitored the activities of 5 & 5 R ES 22 ] ES1E AR N R %75 - FTfE
the Company and the decisions were made in the best interests of SREIRFAARAN T HEFz - ER - EFE
the Company. During the year, the Board convened a total of nine  #®ZAF N €% - BiE R (ERBE)RAT
meetings, performing its duties in considering, inter alia, continuing  Z3EERZ S « N alARNEX TR E 2 B
connected transactions and financial and other matters under the & EAMEIBETHRE -

provisions of the articles of association of the Company.

During the year, nine Board meetings, two of which were regular €& - EE€ BRI €3 - ERm K A0
meetings, were held and the attendance of each Director is setout & @ SEZRHE@Z 2B REFLOT ¢
as follows:

Times of attendance/No. of
meetings held during

Name of Directors the tenure of directorship  Title
ERESHE
EEgE HERE EBERE BifEr
Dong Shutong 7/9 Chairman, Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer
EEE IR BITEE BFENTE
Ng See Wai Rowena?* 3/3 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
RERE WITES - BElEH
Lau Hok Yuk* 6/6 Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer
2250~ WITES - MiGeE
Song Wenzhou 2/9 Executive Director
RN WMITESF
Zhao Ping® 1/9 Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer
e WITES L8R
Dong Chengzhe 5/9 Executive Director
B WITEF
Yang Fei 7/9 Executive Director
BR WMITES
Mao Yehong" 3/6 Executive Director
EEa WMITESF
Yang Tianjun 2/9 Non-executive Director
HBRH FERITES
Bai Baohua 3/9 Independent Non-executive Director
ARE BN ITES
Huang Changhuai 4/9 Independent Non-executive Director
EA=V BIUIFMITES
Wong Chi Keung 4/9 Independent Non-executive Director
|8 BIUFITES
Fahmi Idris 1/9 Independent Non-executive Director
ERK BUIERTES
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Only two regular Board meetings were held as the Company is not
required under the Listing Rules to announce its results quarterly.

resigned effective from 1 August 2011
@ resigned effective from 31 December 2011
# appointed effective from 31 August 2011
appointed effective from 11 April 2011

Under Code Provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term. Except Mr. Yang Tianjun, Non-
executive Director, and Mr. Fahmi Idris, Independent Non-
executive Director, who were appointed for a term of three years,
the remaining Independent Non-executive Directors including
Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung
were not appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation
from Code Provision A.4.1. However, according to the articles of
association of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting and the Directors to retire by rotation shall be those who
have been longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment. As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practice in this respect is in line with that
provided in the Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Executive Director, Mr. Dong Shutong, served as the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the Company’s operations
in respect of compliance with both internal rules and statutory
requirements, and promoting the corporate governance of the
Company. The Company did not appoint another individual to act
as the Chief Executive Officer for the year ended 31 December
2011 and up to the date of this report. This constitutes a deviation
from code provision A.2.1. The Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole since
Mr. Dong Shutong is knowledgeable in the business of the Group
and possesses the essential leadership skills to guide discussions
of the Board.

Important decision-making and the day-to-day management of the
Company are carried out by all of the Executive Directors.
Although the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company are not segregated, the functions of the chief
executive were carried out by all of the Executive Directors
collectively.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company was established on
10 April 2006 and comprises one Executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The members of the
remuneration committee are: Mr. Dong Shutong, Mr. Bai Baohua,
Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung. Mr Huang
Changhuai serves as the chairman of the remuneration committee.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings on
29 March 2011 and 31 August 2011 respectively and all committee
members attended the meeting to review the performance and
incentives of Executive Directors and terms of employment of the
management staff within the Group in 2011.

Responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:

(1) to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;

(2) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee
should consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration;

(3) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(4) to review and approve the compensation payable to
Executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(5) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

(6) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.
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The remuneration committee’s specific terms of reference were
posted on the Company’s website.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established on 30 December 2011
and is chaired by Mr. Dong Shutong, an Executive Director. Other
members of the Committee are Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang
Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung, who are Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The nomination committee is responsible for formulating policy
and making recommendations to the Board on nominations,
appointment of Directors and Board succession. The committee
develops selection procedures for candidates, and will consider
different criteria including appropriate professional knowledge and
industry experience, as well as consult external recruitment
professionals when required. The committee also reviews the size,
structure and composition of the Board and assesses the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors. The
committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties and its specific terms of reference were
posted on the Company’s website.

The nomination committee did not hold any meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2011 as it was newly established on 30
December 2011.

60

Annual Report 2011 « —ZE——FFEHE

HIE B0 EBESEEFEN AR A E
J: o

REEES
REZEGNR_T——F+A=+HK
o THRTEFEERELELERES
F o RESRMKESBYIIFNTEEARK
ERL  BmEERERFEZBEE

REZECATNES I RELRZMEHEES
SRIHEBRRRAEESRLER - 28
SRVMENEZRERF  ATRANGERE
TUERE BRAENIERMBLITERL
B TEERERAERIINEER - RRERE
SNERANEFTGT AR  FBEEK - &
BN FFRTESNE YN - REZEE
BiRRHERERABITERE - A ERE
HBEZHNARF 2L -

HRREEE R E——F T = A=+A
B HABE—E——F+=A=+—
A4 RS R BRI -



R ERIERERAF

+ China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Report of Corporate Governance

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the auditor of the
Company, Ernst & Young, has carried out the statutory audit for
the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total fee paid/payable
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by Ernst &
Young is set out below:

BB

Audit services
Annual audit and audit related services

Non-audit services FEXRE
Tax advisory services %56 AR TS

FEEZLREZRBRS
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BB &

ME-Z——FT-AST—ALFE A
AREEIZ AR DFHHDHAATR
AREOE THEDDEDETES -

ME-T-——F+-A=T—ALFE #
TR O F IR OB R R IR
TEH,fEf 2 BB e BRI T -

For the

year ended
31 December
2011

BZE

—E——F
+t=-A=+—H
IHEE
RMB’000
AR® T

3,860

950
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Wong Chi Keung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings on 29
March 2011 and 31 August 2011 respectively and all committee
members attended the meetings.

During the meetings held in 2011, the audit committee had
performed the following work:

(1) reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31
December 2010 and for the six months ended 30 June 2011;

(2) reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(8) reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and
engagement letter;

(4) reviewed the management letter from the external auditor in
relation to the audit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010; and

(5) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board the
2010 audit scope and fees.

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) reviewing the financial reporting process, internal control
system and the completeness of financial reports of the
Company;

(2) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditor,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;

(38) toreview the independence of the external auditor;
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(4) to discuss with the external auditor on the nature and scope
of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(5) toreview the interim and annual financial statements.

The audit committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the
internal controls and the audited financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2011.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of internal
controls and its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to
manage the Company'’s risks within an acceptable risk profile,
rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the policies
and business objectives of the Company. Accordingly, it can only
provide reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement of management and financial information
and records or against financial losses or fraud.

The Board has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
Company and this process includes updating the system of
internal controls when there are changes to business environment.

During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Company and
its principal subsidiaries with no material issues noted.

The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls in
place for the year under review and up to the date of issuance of
this annual report and the consolidated financial statements is
sound and is sufficient to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
creditors and employees, and the Company’s assets.

The management assists the Board in the implementation of the
Board’s policies and procedures on risk and control by identifying
and assessing the risks faced, and involving in the design,
operation and monitoring of suitable internal controls to mitigate
and control these risks.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements which give a true and fair view, it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently. The statement of the external auditor about
the reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages
65 and 66 of this annual report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the shareholders of China Nickel Resources Holdings
Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to
204, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
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due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 2.1 to the
financial statements which indicates that as at 31 December 2011,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
RMB900,302,000. Notwithstanding the above, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which is dependent on the Group’s ability to
extend its short term borrowings upon maturity, obtain long term
financing facilities to re-finance its short term liabilities, and derive
adequate operating cash flows from its existing operations in order
for the Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall due and
to finance its future working capital and financial requirements.
This condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

27 March 2012
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China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Income Statement
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Year ended 31 December 2011
BHE-_ZT——F+-A=1+—HLLFE

2011 2010
—F——F —T-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BEE AR®T T ARETT

REVENUE & 5 2,587,779 1,635,862
Cost of sales SHE AR (2,258,555) (1,366,576)
Gross profit EF 329,224 169,286
Other income and gains H U A K Z R 5 159,616 81,114
Selling and distribution costs THE & AR (43,292) (23,327)
Administrative expenses FTERB AR (129,378) (146,430)
Finance costs BLE KA 7 (205,098) (90,440)
Other expenses HAahx (15,485) (31,961)
Share of profit of an associate FEAE — & A Rl m A 3,514 18,710
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBLATRA (8) 6 99,101 (23,048)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frs# (X)), BE 9 (31,721) 25,611
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEERA 67,380 2,563
Attributable to: B -

Owners of the parent B RAIRERE A 10 66,344 1,467

Non-controlling interests JEIE IR IE 2 1,036 1,096

67,380 2,563

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BARESERBREREA

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY ELESRER(EE)

EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE PARENT

— Basic (RMB) — HZEARX(ARKET) 12 0.02880 0.00066

— Diluted (RMB) —#E(ARKET) 12 0.02879 (0.00323)

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are

disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

FER IR B R AR SRR AR B 2 RIS A I 15
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 December 201 1
HE-_ZT——F+-A=1+—HBLLFE

2011 2010
—F-—-5 —TITF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 67,380 2,563
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE Hitt2HEEE
Exchange differences on translation BIMSERKRITEER Z58
of foreign operations (344,690) (36,628)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FERBEEMZEEER
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (344,690) (36,628)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FERXEBREE
FOR THE YEAR (277,310) (34,065)
Attributable to: BR :
Owners of the parent NEIRERFE A (278,346) (35,161)
Non-controlling interests TR 1,036 1,096
(277,310) (34,065)
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Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position

RIS SR
:Z\vT\ T ARy L,
31 December 2011
—F——#+-A=+-H
Group Company
PN | Y NG|
2011 2010 2011 2010
B —T-ITF —E--F -T-I%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Bzt AR¥TRE ARETT AR®TR ARETx
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERRE 13 2,108,753 2,008,210 19,284 21,289
Prepaid land lease payments AN AE A 14 194,144 383,542 10,744 11,276
Goodwill S 15 — 58,394 — —
Intangible asset B AE 16 2,090,159 2,531,910 — —
Deferred tax assets ERETREE 17 152,546 256,763 - 7176
Investments in subsidiaries RITB AR ZERE 18 — — 4,425,128 4,709,572
Investment in an associate R—EHE AR ZERE 19 22,274 18,760 - —
Other non-current assets HEfSERBEE 20 — 58,698 - —
Total non-current assets FRBEEAE 4,567,876 5,316,277 4,455,156 4,749,313
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
[nventories &E 21 573,013 859,709 — —
Trade and notes receivables EYWEZ R ERZE 22 148,292 119,318 — —
Prepayments, deposits and BATE - e R
other receivables Hit Y8 23 263,011 272,712 10,464 20,219
Pledged time deposits EEBRERFR 24 219,601 301,505 — =
Cash and cash equivalents BERBELSEYD 24 114,824 172,591 5,554 26,656
1,318,741 1,725,835 16,018 46,875
Assets of a disposal group PERRELEL
classified as held for sale BREATEE 25 722,731 — — —
Total current assets TBEEMRE 2,041,472 1,725,835 16,018 46,875
CURRENT LIABILITIES TBaE
Trade and notes payables ENREZRENEZR 26 593,455 672,531 1,049 1,100
Other payables and accruals EtEeEREMmENZE 27 427,141 472,095 5,488 5,980
Derivative financial instruments m EeRTE 28 8,774 31,312 8,774 31,312
Dividend payable RIS 6 1,756 6 6
Interest-bearing bank and FERITERK
other borrowings HifeE 29 402,690 475,990 164,748 141,429
Current portion of convertible bonds "Hﬁ IRE% 2z B8 2 30 1,164,420 — 1,164,420 —
Tax payable e TiIR 30,720 13,697 1,673 —
2,627,206 1,667,381 1,346,158 179,827
Liabilities directly associated with ~ EHEHEAEAZELE
the assets classified as held for BERBZEE
sale 25 314,568 — — —
Total current liabilities REBEEAE 2,941,774 1,667,381 1,346,158 179,827
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)  %E (&%) 4E%E
ASSETS (900,302) 58454  (1,330,140) (132,952)
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

Group Company
PN | Y NG|
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E--f —ET-I%F —E--F -T-I%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Bzt AR¥TRE ARETT AR®TR ARETx
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEEARDAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,667,574 5,374,731 3,125,016 4,616,361
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Interest-bearing bank and AEBRTERK
other borrowings HigEE 29 67,776 343,672 — 109,224
Convertible bonds AR ES 30 - 1,036,179 — 1,036,179
Derivative financial instruments fTESRTI A 28 - 105,465 — 105,465
Deferred tax liabilities ERRIEAR 17 2,401 23,890 1,137 —
Other long term payables HiREAEM Z0E 31 5,280 24,151 — —
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELE 75,457 1,533,357 1,137 1,250,868
Net assets FEE 3,592,117 3,841,374 3,123,879 3,365,493
EQUITY iR
Equity attributable to owners BATRESEEA
of the parent FEihmEs
Issued capital BETRA 32 230,373 228,553 230,373 228,553
Reserves [ &) 3,240,136 3,492,249 2,893,506 3,136,940
3,470,509 3,720,802 3,123,879 3,365,493
Non-controlling interests FERER 121,608 120,572 - —
Total equity ERam 3,592,117 3,841,374 3,123,879 3,365,493
Dong Shutong Yang Fei
EEE B R
Chairman Director
e EBEFE
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China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the parent

BREARERE ARG

AN
Zlil

N

5S¢
M e E)K

Year ended 31 December 2011
BE-_ZT——F+=-A=1+—HLEEFE

Statutory
surplus
Equity  reserves
component and
Share Share of  statutory Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Contributed Capital option convertible reserve  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  account surplus reserve  reserves bonds fund reserve profits Total interests equity
T
Ak N £
BET () BlRE ErEm RER ER
A wERE EHBRR ENEE 51 %) £Ee  RDRE RN B EERER  BEREE
Notes  RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
M ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARBTT ARMTT ARETT AREBTT ARETR
(note 32)  (note 33) (note 33) (note 33) (note 33) (note 30)  (note 33)
(WaE32) (FizE33) (Mizk33) (Mik33) (HizE33) (Mzso) (FiEs3)
At 1 January 2010 WZZ-Z4-F-R 210,006 2,661,351 51,599 433,282 22,459 45,920 75,546 (16,446) 267,374 3,751,091 121,226 3,872,317
Profit for the year FREEF = = = = = = = = 1,467 1,467 1,096 2,563
Other comprehensive FREMEENS :
income for the year:
Exchange differences on AN AHEKHE
translation of foreign EREE
operations — — — — — — —  (36,628) —  (36,628) — (36,628)
Total comprehensive FR2ERE/ (B8)
income/(expense) for it
the year = = = = = = — (36628 1467  (35161) 1,09  (34,065)
Equity-settled share option AR S 2
arrangements BRERH 34 - = - = 4,246 = = = - 4,246 = 4,246
Repurchases and 5 kB
redemption of convertible  EJ#AE#
bonds 30 — — — — — (699) — — (2,541) (3,240) — (3,240)
Conversion of convertible B Al &%
bonds 30 563 8,054 = = = = = - - 8,617 = 8,617
Conversion of convertible B a] R Z 4%
notes 17,984 293,151 —  (311,135) — — — — — — — —
Extinguishment of B ATARES
convertible bonds 30 — 45,221 — — — (45,221) — — — — — —
Forfeited share option IR B RE R
reserve — — — — (779) — — — — (779) — (779)
Interim 2010 dividend “Z-ZERERE — (3972) — - - - — — — (3972) - (3972
Dividends paidtonon- A ERIRRRE
controlling shareholders — — — — — — — — — — (1,750) (1,750)
Transferred from retained &3 R & %7
profits — — — — — — 193 — (193) — — —
At 31 December 2010 R-_F-F4F
+=A=t-A 228,553 3,003,805* 51699  122,147* 25,926 — 75,739 (53,074)* 266,107 3,720,802 120,572 3,841,374
: These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB3,492,249,000  * R-ZE—TFF+_A=1+—HBHGEAUBRRERS
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010. It 5 ﬁ_}g BRZEEHRERARR
3,492,249,000 7T, °
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Year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_ZT——F+-A=1+—HBLLFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARREREARS
Statutory
surplus
reserves
and
Share Share  statutory Exchange Non-

Issued  premium Contributed Capital option reserve fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve  reserves fund reserve profits Total interests equity
EE

B&fT R BRE LARER Ejt

B BER HEEH EXRERE R iEEGE  RBRE  REEA @it FERES EREE
Notes ~ RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
Wi ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR
(note32)  (note33) (note33) (note33) (note33)  (note33)
(WaE32)  (MaE33)  (M&E33)  (M&s3)  (M&s3)  (M&s3)

At 1 January 2011 R-_F-——%-F—-R 228,553  3,003,805* 51,599* 122,147 25,926* 75,739* (53,074)* 266,107 3,720,802 120,572 3,841,374
Profit for the year FREEF - - - - - - - 66,344 66,344 1,036 67,380
Other comprehensive FREMZERS
income for the year
Exchange differences on NS EBEKIE
translation of foreign EXER
operations - - - - - —  (344,690) —  (344,690) —  (34,690)

Total comprehensive FR2AERE/ (BB)

income/(expense) for it

ihe year - - - - - —  (304600) 66344  (27836) 1036  (277,310)
Equity-settled share option JARR#E 112

arrangements BRiER 34 - - - - 3,878 - - - 3,878 - 3,878
Conversion of convertible B AR E%

bonds 30 1,820 25,350 - - - - - - 27,170 - 27,170
Forfeited share option BRI BIER

reserve - — - — (2,995) - - - (2,995) - (2,995)
Transferred from retained & B R BEH|

profits - - - - - 201 - (201) - - -
At 31 December 2011 R_T——F

+-A=1+-H 230,373 3,029,155* 51,599* 122,147 26,809* 75,940¢  (397,764)*  332,250* 3,470,509 121,608 3,592,117
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB3,240,136,000  * R-E——F+ A=+ HARATBRRRF
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011. hEREREFPFERZERERERARE

3,240,136,000 7T ©
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Year ended 31 December 2011
HE-_Z——F+_A=1+—RHLLFE

2011 2010
—E——fF —ET-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BitaE ARBT AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KETH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AT, (E518) 99,101 (23,048)
Adjustments for: KT S IEFAE
Finance costs BhE KA 7 205,098 90,440
Bank interest income |ITHAE WA 5 (9,776) (8,233)
Write-down of long aging payables /EP%EEE”@ FESTRIR 5 (20,818) —
Gain on repurchase and redemption 016 K & Bl AT AR B 5
of convertible bonds 2 BT 5 — (2,704)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE - BE R
plant and equipment, net BB E 2 BT T 5 (3,304) —
Gain on extinguishment of R E S 2 BT
convertible bonds 5 — (20,300)
Changes in fair value of derivative MEEMIAEAAEE
financial instruments p=iED) 5 (123,043) (28,000)
Transaction costs of restructure of AMBRESEHEZ
convertible bonds R5ER — 19,160
Depreciation e 6 110,910 92,119
Amortisation of prepaid land lease T 1 3t 70 & R # H
payments 6 8,452 8,575
Amortisation of an intangible asset | EE RHEAM
and other non-current assets IER A E 16 58,498 21,710
Provision of impairment for trade JE W BR RORR (B 4
receivables 6 2,832 —
Provision of impairment for items of ME - WENEREEE
property, plant and equipment BER — 4,274
Write-down of inventories to net FEMBAE]EERFE
realisable value 6 3,741 =
Share of profit of an associate J?Efﬁ e X |l e A (3,514) (18,710)
Derecognisation of redemption 4 FTERR A B P R
option related to conversion of BErzBEE
convertible bonds 1,085 —
Equity-settled share option expense VARSHE % <) 2 B A
3 34 883 3,467
330,145 138,750
Decrease in inventories FER D 209,722 45,580
Increase in trade and notes receivables JE IR BR 20 1% B U ZE 45 12 i1 (31,842) (69,492)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FENFIA -« e K EME
deposits and other receivables WK IR A (38 0) 6,122 (11,747)
Increase in trade and notes payables FE ST BRI N B~ 22 45 1 D 9,056 93,237
Increase/(decrease) in other payables EE%E%&E@}EH%‘KIE
and accruals 0, Cr 13,334 (5,760)
Decrease in other long term payables H b RHEER 5 IE/UE’J\ (18,871) —
Decrease/(increase) in other HaIERENEE
non-current assets B, () 38,622 (15,359)
Cash generated from operations re E@Eiziﬁi 556,288 175,209
Income tax paid EHFﬁ (11,903) (2,370)
Net cash flows from operating activities KRS IS MAERE 544,385 172,839
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meEREmER
Year ended 31 December 2011
BE—F——F+-A=t+—ALEE

2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BfsE AR®F T AR®ET T
Net cash flows from operating activities KRB 2R R AT 544,385 172,839
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBHZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received FEYA 5 9,776 8,233
Proceeds received on disposal of items HEME - BEX
of property, plant and equipment =R IE B A
S EE e 3,968 —
Purchases of items of property, BAME  BEE
plant and equipment HIEIEE (243,833) (470,285)
Additions to prepaid land lease payments i“bﬂﬁﬁii‘ﬁﬁ’% (265) (683)
Decrease in pledged time deposits EEEEHRER /W’J‘ 81,904 85,550
Net cash flows used in investing activities — &&EFH) 2 IR & mHF58 (148,450) (377,185)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METH2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Considerations for repurchases and (0] % % fE [B] A AR (& 55
redemption of convertible bonds ZRE — (21,584)
Consent fee paid for exchange of TR E S 2 RS2
convertible bonds — (234,695)
Transaction costs paid for restructure AMEESEAE Y N2
of convertible bonds R5EH — (19,160)
Addition of bank loans and other BEBRITEXRREMEER
borrowings 346,080 735,232
Repayment of bank loans and other ERRITERRHEMEE
borrowings (626,208) (348,074)
Dividends paid BT E (1,750) (3,965)
Interest paid BEAFLE (170,826) (28,431)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing Eﬂﬁ}éﬁjzfﬁ/f
activities Crd),/ mAFEE (452,704) 79,323
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRASEENZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS WD RER (56,769) (125,023)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUIzRERRESFEY
beginning of year 172,591 292,745
Effect of foreign exchange rate EHEBTE R
changes, net (955) 4,869
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEERBAEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 114,867 172,591
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HERBEESEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DT
Cash and bank balances iﬁﬁ&%&ﬁ SRS 24 114,824 172,100
Unrestricted time deposits with original JREIEAHE E’\ =@AZ
maturity of less than three months #BE%IJ;EHET_M 24 — 491
Cash and cash equivalents as stated R BARARFBTRZ
in the statement of financial position Be MEeZEEY 114,824 172,591
Cash and cash equivalents attributable DEABIELE
to assets of disposal group classified REAPEEREG
as held for sale ReERRSZEY 25 43 =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RERBEXFIRZ
the statement of cash flows RekAeEEYD 114,867 172,591
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China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 11 March 2004
under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681GT, George Town, Grand
Cayman, British West Indies. The principal place of business
of the Group is located at No. 24, Jinshui Road, Zhengzhou
City, Henan Province, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The principal place of business of the Company is
Rooms 917 and 918, 9th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and the trading of ore. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of ore and the manufacture and sale
of special steel products in the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
financial statements.

In the opinion of the Directors, Easyman Assets Management
Limited (“Easyman”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Mr. Dong Shutong, is the
ultimate holding company of the Group.

BT R Y

31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

NAEHR

ARNBR_ZEZWNF=A+—HIRE
REREAREF2R2E(—NA~—F
F=EN - iR E RER]) ER S8
SEAMAIABEREERAR - AR
7] &t f #* = B iz 7 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681GT,
George Town, Grand Cayman, British
West Indies ° 2N & B = 2 & S B A7
AR EE AR AR ([ ) A & 26
M EIKEE245% - KRB EEEEM
BN EE FIR T 5 E T 168-2005%
ERFAOIEE B AREIMEINT7RIBE °

RRBZEBRBRIREEBRLEA
B9 AEETBERTBEREHELE
FREGHEMEEMMEE RS - WE
RAZERERBHENM B RERME
18 °

BEBECZER RABREXHESH
MR HEESREEL2ERAL
Easyman Assets Management Limited
(TEasyman]) AAREE 2 HEZER A
] o
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Notes to Financial Statements

R E ey b
31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

2.1

76

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations of the Standing Interpretations Committee
approved by the International Accounting Standards
Committee that remain in effect and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for derivative financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale are
stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. The financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis notwithstanding the fact that as at
31 December 2011, the Group had net current liabilities of
RMB900,302,000, which mainly included bank and other
borrowings of RMB402,690,000 and 13,748 10% coupon
convertible bonds due 2012 with nominal value of
HKD100,000 each issued on 12 November 2010 (the “10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds”). The carrying amount of the
10% Coupon Convertible Bonds aggregated to
RMB1,156,195,000 as at 31 December 2011.

Annual Report 2011 « —ZE——FFEHRE
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China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Notes to Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2011 and subsequent
to the year-end, there have been several developments
which management believes could significantly improve the
profitability and strengthen the cash flow position of the
Group as a whole in the near future. Details are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

On 19 December 2011, the Group entered into an
agreement with the Government of Luoyang City, Henan
Province, the PRC, in relation to the relocation of the
factory of a subsidiary of the Group. Pursuant to the
agreement, the Government of Luoyang City will pay
various fees to the Group in an aggregate amount of
RMB1 billion. Management estimates that the cost of
relocation will be approximately RMB300 million. Further
details of the transaction are set out in note 25 to the
financial statements and the Company’s announcements
dated 20 December 2011 and 20 February 2012.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
has continued to expand the trading business of
limonitic ores. Sales of limonitic ores in the year ended
31 December 2011 amounted to RMB1,269 million
(2010: RMB495 million), representing a 156% increase
from 2010. The Group is actively negotiating sales
contracts with the existing and potential customers to
obtain additional financing by a pledge of the exclusive
offtake right or further ore output from the iron mine. The
exclusive offtake right represents the exclusive right to
purchase iron ore at a fixed price by the Group from an
iron ore supplier for a period of approximately 29 years
ending 24 January 2036.
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2.1

78

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (continued)

In addition, in order to strengthen the working capital of the
Group and to improve the Group’s financial position and
cash flows, and otherwise to sustain the Group as a going
concern, the Directors have also taken the following
measures:

(a) The Company is in the process of considering various
restructuring options in connection with the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds including but not limited to
the extension of maturity date of the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds.

(b) The Group has been actively negotiating with PRC
banks for the renewal of PRC bank borrowings when
those borrowings fall due in 2012. In previous years, the
Group did not encounter any significant difficulties in
renewing the PRC bank borrowings. Subsequent to the
year end, the Group has successfully renewed bank
borrowings of RMB55 million.

(c) The Group has also been actively negotiating with Hong
Kong and overseas banks or institutional investors for
credit facilities. Subsequent to the year end, the Group
has successfully obtained new credit facilities of RMB63
million.

Taking into account the above measures, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will be able to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable
future, and are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to restate the values of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any future
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in the financial statements.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2011. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is
attributable to the non-controlling interests even if that results
in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards
— Limited Exemption from
Compatrative IFRS 7 Disclosures
for the First-time Adopters

IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

IAS 32 Amendment Amendment to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Classification of Rights Issues

IFRIC-Int 14 Amendments to IFRIC-Int 14
Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement
IFRIC-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments
Improvements to Amendments to a number of IFRSs
IFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of IAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 27
included in Improvements to IFRSs 2010, the adoption of the
new and revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect
on the financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
IFRSs are as follows:

(@) IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

IAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions
of related parties. The new definitions emphasise a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and
clarify the circumstances in which persons and key
management personnel affect related party
relationships of an entity. The revised standard also
introduces an exemption from the general related party
disclosure requirements for transactions with a
government and entities that are controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the same
government as the reporting entity. The accounting
policy for related parties has been revised to reflect the
changes in the definitions of related parties under the
revised standard. The adoption of the revised standard
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group. Details of the related party
transactions, including the related comparative
information, are included in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Improvements to IFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets
out amendments to a number of IFRSs. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While
the adoption of some of the amendments may result in
changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.
Details of the key amendments most applicable to the
Group are as follows:

82

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The
amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can
be presented either in the statement of changes in
equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
The Group elects to present the analysis of each
component of the other comprehensive income in
the statement of changes in equity.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from IAS 27 (as
revised in 2008) made to IAS 21, IAS 28 and IAS
31 shall be applied prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier
if IAS 27 is applied earlier.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in the

financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 9

IFRS 10
IFRS 11
IFRS 12
IFRS 13

IAS 1 Amendments

IAS 12 Amendments

IAS 19 (2011)
IAS 27 (2011)
IAS 28 (2011)

IAS 32 Amendments

IFRIC-Int 20

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards
— Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for the
First-time Adopters '

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities *

Financial Instruments ©

Consolidated Financial
Statements *
Joint Arrangements *

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities *
Fair Value Measurement *

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income *

Amendments to IAS 12 Income
Taxes — Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets ?

Employee Benefits

Separate Financial Statements *

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures #

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial liabilities °

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine *
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

Further information about those changes that are expected to

significantly affect the Group is as follows:

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase
focuses on the classification and measurement of financial
assets. Instead of classifying financial assets into four
categories, an entity shall classify financial assets as
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value,
on the basis of both the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve
and simplify the approach for the classification and
measurement of financial assets compared with the

requirements of IAS 39.

In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 to
address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in IFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of IAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from IAS 39, while changes were made
to the measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVQO”).
For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair
value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk
must be presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).
The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in
profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in
respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However,
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts which
have been designated under the FVO are scoped out of the

Additions.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

IAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by IFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in IAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets
continues to apply. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from
1 January 2015.

IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured
entities. It includes a new definition of control which is used
to determine which entities are consolidated. The changes
introduced by IFRS 10 require management of the Group to
exercise significant judgement to determine which entities
are controlled, compared with the requirements in IAS 27 and
SIC 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10
replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for
consolidated financial statements. It also includes the issues
raised in SIC 12.

IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities that
are previously included in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
IAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also introduces a
number of new disclosure requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to IAS 27 and IAS 28
as a result of the issuance of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12.
The Group expects to adopt IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, and
the consequential amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 from 1
January 2013.
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2.3

24

86

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

IFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a
single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across IFRSs. The standard does not
change the circumstances in which the Group is required to
use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair value
should be applied where its use is already required or
permitted under other IFRSs. The Group expects to adopt
IFRS 13 prospectively from 1 January 2013.

Amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or
recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for
example, upon derecognition or settlement) would be
presented separately from items which will never be
reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 January 2013.

IAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant
changes in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans
including removing the choice to defer the recognition of
actuarial gains and losses. Other changes include
modifications to the timing of recognition for termination
benefits, the classification of short-term employee benefits
and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Group expects
to adopt IAS 19 (2011) from 1 January 2013.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that
are not classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and
over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and reserves of the associate is included
in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in an
associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates and is not individually
tested for impairment.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-
controlling interests in the acquire that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date through
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will
be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be
remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does
not fall within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriated IFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of
the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the income statement in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the income statement
in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person,

(i)
(if)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part
of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated
useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Office equipment

Motor vehicles and others

15 to 25 years
8 to 15 years
3 to 5 years

5 to 25 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on
a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress representing property, plant and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal
group must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a
subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified as
held for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-
controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts
and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale
are not depreciated or amortised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Exclusive offtake right

The exclusive offtake right represents the exclusive right to
purchase iron ore at a fixed price by the Group from an iron
ore supplier for a period of approximately 29 years ending 24
January 2036. The exclusive offtake right is stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
The exclusive offtake right is amortised based on the unit of
purchase method.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Annual Report 2011 « —ZE——FFEHRE

24 FESTBERBE(F)

B EE (BERMD)
AEBERNEGERERFROE
FMEEEVIREREUKARGE - &
XEHEENEBRLEERAREES
HENAREE BEEEERYD
ABRYNERS - AARM BT
BERAERAKESHEN YRNE
PR R BN BT & B A B R BUE R RT
fmRE - AAERERNZETLEEZ
BEFHREHE AN AT BFE
RIS e

BRIRERE
BREBREAKERBEE_FT=X
F-AZTHEBLEN29FA - REE
ERmEREOHENRBERAO2E
RIER o BRIRIEHERACAN R R At 3
MR ERDRERE R - BHRERERE
REBMIRBEAT HH#H

r 8% R A
FTEBTFC A RN E AL RS E B et R A
F/%o

MEMMEREEEZFAXESNA
SEAEASEYEETHM A fE
A EZ B MAIITHE - ARBZK
BYEEZERARERASILERRE
EZe  EREERSWAEERK
RENzm - BRAWERTKIER KB
EENERAERBHAXK  HTRRE
AFBEEARR - NFE LIREZ E
A A 3 SR EE A A BIRS S8 o



R ERIERER AR -

China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited

Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the
present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded
together with the obligation, excluding the interest element,
to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease
payments under finance leases, are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
finance costs of such leases are charged to the income
statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge
over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the income statement on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-
sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair

value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, pledged time deposits, and trade, notes and

other receivables.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by

IAS 39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in other income and gains
in the income statement. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial
assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of
initial recognition and only if the criteria under IAS 39 are
satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to
sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets. The
reclassification from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-sale
financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends on
the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option at designation as these instruments
cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or
loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the income
statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash

flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income in the income statement. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the income statement in finance

costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or
a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that
loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinguency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). If a
loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the income statement. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus,
in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade, notes and other
payables, derivative financial instruments, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds and other long
term payables.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in the income statement does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of
initial recognition and only if the criteria of IAS 39 are
satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails
to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the
statement of financial position, net of transaction costs. On
issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount is carried
as a long term liability on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion
option is not remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction
costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised.

If the conversion option of convertible bonds exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated
from its liability component. On initial recognition, the
derivative component of the convertible bonds is measured
at fair value and presented as part of derivative financial
instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is recognised as the
liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned
between the liability and derivative components of the
convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the
liability and derivative components when the instruments are
initially recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised initially as
part of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative
component is recognised immediately in the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Convertible bonds (continued)

When the convertible bonds extinguishes before maturity
through an early redemption or repurchase in which the
original conversion privileges are unchanged, the
consideration and transaction costs paid for the redemption
or repurchase is allocated to the liability and equity
components of the instrument at the date of the transaction.
The method used in allocating the consideration paid and
transaction costs to the separate components is consistent
with that used in the original allocation to the separate
components of the proceeds received when the convertible
instrument was issued. The difference between the carrying
amount of the liability component and the liability component
from the allocation of consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is recognised in profit
or loss, whereas the difference between the carrying amount
of the equity component and the equity component from the
allocation of consideration and transaction costs paid for the
redemption or repurchase is recognised in equity.

Loans with detachable warrants

The warrants that are attached to the host loan contract but
are contractually transferable independently are separate
financial instruments, and are designated as financial
liabilities with fair value through profit or loss at initial
recognition. The debt feature of the host loan contract after
bifurcation of warrants was then classified as a loan in
financial liabilities upon initial recognition and subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Extinguishment of the original financial liability

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the
financial difficulty of the debtor) shall be accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. The Group shall
remove a financial liability from its statement of financial
position when, and only when, it is extinguished — i.e., when
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or
cancelled, or expires. If an exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices
or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and
ask price for short positions), without any deduction for
transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no
active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. These techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing
models.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derivative financial instruments

The derivative financial instruments of the Group represent
the warrants as a whole bifurcated from the host loan contract
and the conversion option and redemption option bifurcated
from the host contract of convertible bonds. There derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value upon
the initial recognition and are subsequently remeasured at
fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of derivatives are taken directly to the income
statement.

Current versus non-current classification of
derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments that are not designated as
effective hedging instruments are classified as current or
non-current or separated into a current or non-current portion
based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances.

Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host
contract are classified consistently with the cash flows of the
host contract.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less all further costs expected to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand
deposits and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, and
are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the periods necessary to match the grant on a
systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to other long term payables account and is released to the
income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the income
statement by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset; and

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including Directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 34 to the
financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the income statement for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all
other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph. All cancellations of
equity-settled transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit schemes

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of contributions
under defined contribution retirement schemes administered
by local government agencies are charged to the income
statement as incurred.

As stipulated by the PRC State regulations, Zhengzhou
Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. (“Yongtong Special Steel”),
Zhengzhou Yongtong Alloy Metals Co., Ltd. (“*Yongtong Alloy
Metals”), Luoyang Yongan Special Steel Co., Ltd. (“Yongan
Special Steel”), Zhengzhou Xiangtong Electricity Co., Ltd.
(“Xiangtong Electricity”), Henan Yongtong Nickel Co., Ltd.
(“Yongtong Nickel”), Lianyungang East Harvest Minerals
Company Limited (“East Harvest Minerals”) and Lianyungang
City East Harvest Mining Company Limited (“East Harvest
Mining”), subsidiaries of the Company, participate in a
defined contribution retirement plan. All employees of these
companies are entitled to an annual pension equal to a fixed
proportion of the average basic salary amount within the
geographical area of their last employment at their retirement
date. Yongtong Special Steel, Yongtong Alloy Metals,
Xiangtong Electricity, Yongtong Nickel, East Harvest Minerals
and East Harvest Mining are required to make contributions
to the local social security bureau at 20% of the previous
year's average basic salaries within the geographical area
where the employees are under employment, and Yongan
Special Steel is required to make contributions to the local
social security bureau at 21% of the previous year’s average
basic salary amount within the geographical area where the
employees are under employment. The Group has no
obligations for the payment of pension benefits beyond the
annual contributions as set out above. The contributions are
charged to the income statement as they become payable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all employees of the companies in Hong Kong
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed to the MPF
Scheme.

As stipulated by the Indonesia State regulations, PT. Mandan
Steel (“PT Mandan”), a subsidiary of the Company,
participates in a defined contribution retirement plan namely
the Day Old Assurance Program (the “DOA Program”) for all
employees of PT Mandan in Indonesia who are eligible to
participate in the DOA Program. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the DOA Program.

As stipulated by the Singapore State regulations, CNR Group
Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“CNR Group Holdings”), a subsidiary of
the Company, participates in a defined contribution
retirement plan namely the Central Provident Fund (the “CPF
Scheme”) for all employees of CNR Group Holdings in
Singapore who are eligible to participate in the CPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the CPF Scheme.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate
ranging between 5.84% and 32.23% (2010: 5.85% and
10.30%) has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the Directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FTESHHERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$"), the functional currency of its subsidiaries
incorporated outside the PRC are HK$ or United States
dollars (“US$”) and the functional currency of the PRC
subsidiaries is RMB. The functional currency of each entity is
measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates. The financial
statements are presented in RMB, which is the Group’s
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All
differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of non-
monetary item is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation differences on item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of the Group’s non-PRC entities are translated into RMB, the
presentation currency of the Group, at the exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period and their income
statements are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a non-PRC operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular non-PRC operation is recognised in the income
statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and its non-PRC subsidiaries
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
the Company and its non-PRC subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Applicable income tax rate of a subsidiary incorporated

in Singapore

CNR Group Holdings, a subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in Singapore, was entitled to a five-year tax
concessionary rate of 5% as it was awarded the Global
Trader Programme (“GTP”) status by International Enterprise
(“IE”) Singapore with effect from 1 January 2009, on the
condition that its turnover meets a certain level within these
five years. On 24 October 2011, CNR Group Holdings wrote
to IE Singapore to withdraw its GTP incentive with effect from
1 September 2011. In this regard, the Group has determined
to prepare the provisional income tax computation of CNR
Group Holdings on the basis as follows:

(i) its qualifying income earned during the GTP incentive
period from 1 January 2009 to 31 August 2011 would
be taxable at the concessionary tax rate of 5% on the
basis that there was no revocation of the incentive and
there are no legislation stating that there would be
clawback of the incentive should there be a withdrawal
from the incentive by CNR Group Holdings; and

(i) the income earned with effect from 1 September 2011
would be taxable at the normal tax rate of 17%.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

(a)

(b)

Share-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they
are granted. Estimating fair value requires determining
the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of
equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms
and conditions of the grant. This also requires
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation
model including the forfeiture rate, the volatility and
dividend yield and making assumptions about them.

Impairment of receivables

Impairment of receivables is made based on
assessment of the recoverability of receivables. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
management judgement and estimates. Provision is
made when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect the debts. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the
carrying values of receivables and expenses for write-
back of bad and doubtful debts in the period in which
the estimate has been changed. The carrying amount of
trade and notes receivables as at 31 December 2011
was RMB148,292,000 (2010: RMB119,318,000) as set
out in note 22 to the financial statements. The carrying
amount of other receivables as at 31 December 2011
was RMB263,011,000 (2010: RMB272,712,000) as set
out in note 23 to the financial statements.

3.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write off or
write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. The carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2011 was RMB2,108,753,000 (2010:
RMB2,008,210,000) as set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

Impairment of an exclusive offtake right

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for its exclusive offtake right at the end of
each reporting period. When an impairment test is
undertaken, management judgement and estimates are
required in determining suitable valuation factors in the
impairment test. The fair value could change
significantly as a result of changes in the discount rate,
estimation of market prices of nickel and iron and other
risk factors related to the exclusive offtake right. The
carrying amount of the exclusive offtake right as at 31
December 2011 was RMB2,090,159,000 (2010:
RMB2,531,910,000). Further details are included in note
16 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(e)

U]

(9)

Amortisation of an exclusive offtake right
Amortisation of the Group’s exclusive offtake right is
made based on the actual limonitic ore purchase during
the period over the total planned purchase volume
during the contractual period. The estimation of the total
planned purchase volume requires management
judgement and estimates. It could change significantly
as a result of market demand for nickel-based products,
technical innovations, reserve of the mine, the ability of
the miner in meeting the Group’s ore orders and other
relevant factors. Management reviews the total planned
purchase volume at least annually, and adjusts the
amortisation calculation accordingly. Further details are
included in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated cost to be incurred to completion and
disposal. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling
products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste or competitor
actions in response to severe consumer product
industry cycles. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2011
was RMB573,013,000 (2010: RMB859,709,000) as set
out in note 21 to the financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(h) Deferred tax assets

(M)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2011
was RMB118,783,000 (2010: RMB221,824,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2011 was RMB44,176,000 (2010: RMB1,164,000).
Further details are contained in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As described in notes 29 and 30, the Company'’s other
borrowings from Asia Equity Value Ltd. of
RMB330,000,000 and the 10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds contain a number of derivative financial
instruments that are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. The Company engaged an independent
appraiser to assist it in determining the fair values of
these derivative financial instruments. The determination
was based on generally accepted valuation procedures
and practices that rely extensively on the use of
numerous assumptions and the consideration of many
uncertainties, some of which cannot be easily quantified
or ascertained. The carrying amount of derivative
financial instruments at 31 December 2011 was
RMB8,774,000 (2010: RMB136,777,000) as set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group has one reportable
operating segment: the trading of ore and the manufacturing
and sale of special steel products. Management monitors the
operating results of its business units as a whole for the
purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H
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HERWEM EEEHRERKE
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132 E R

(@) XBEF=REFzWz=

2011 2010

—ZT——F —T-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Mainland China R B KR 2,285,651 1,465,245
Other countries E Iz 302,128 70,617
2,587,779 1,535,862

The revenue information above is based on the location

AEZBABRTIERER 2

of the customers. BAUE -
(b) Non-current assets (b) ERBEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR¥TTT
Mainland China R B K pE 2,260,660 2,412,486
Other countries =R ETER 2,154,670 2,647,028
4,415,330 5,059,514
The non-current asset information above is based on A EZIERBEEER TIERZ
the location of the assets and excludes deferred tax BEZMWEBNE  WIAEERET
assets. MIAEEE °
Information about major customers FTEREFER

Revenue of approximately RMB1,449,183,000 (2010:
RMB445,438,000) was derived from sales to two major
customers.

4N EH1,449,183,000 T (Z B —F
F 1 AR % 445,438,0007T ) 2 Y76 5k

BMAFEEFHIHEE
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

5.

124 Annual Report 2011 « =& ——FFFiRE

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, net of value-added tax.

W - HWAREF

WHR M ASRE 2 EXE  ERER
an 2 3% RFHE (EERIBER) o

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: Wz - Ht A RBMZ 2T -
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Revenue &
Sale of goods: HE :
Stainless steel base materials 85 S EL R 928,527 408,030
Bearing steel i 7 ) — 26,598
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot RIRE ST 309,081 107,422
Ni-Cr bearing steel 18 SR o A — 2,371
Ferro-nickel alloys and others RigE e kHA 81,052 496,865
Limonitic ores 1B EE 1,269,119 494 576
Total revenue W %5 4258 2,587,779 1,535,862
Other income Hglr A
Bank interest income |ITHBUA 9,776 8,233
Sales of scrap materials and others ~ EEK} R H h & — 3,381
Others Hi 1,119 12,045
10,895 23,659
Gains b=
Gain on repurchase and redemption B & &R Al IR &5 2
of convertible bonds A F| — 2,704
Gain on extinguishment of LI RRESR 2 BF
convertible bonds — 20,300
Changes in fair value of derivative PESRMIERNREES
financial instruments 123,043 28,000
Write-down of long aging payables R EH R AR EQ FE T SR IE 20,818 —
Government grants* B #e6 B * 290 1,697
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BERZEEE 2~
plant and equipment, net B A 35 3,304 —
Others Hih 1,266 4,754
148,721 57,455
Total other income and gains B A R B H B8 159,616 81,114

*

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the
government grants.

*

TR 8 BA S 4B AR B A PR R SRk AR IR
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6. ERBLATEF(EE)

AEBEBRBAAEMN(BE)EM
B/ GEA) TEIRIA

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

2011 2010
—=E——fF —ET-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
LhEzs ARBT AREFT
Staff costs (including Directors’ BIRA(BIEFER
remuneration as set out in note 8): fEes v EZME)
Salaries and other staff costs e kHME TR 87,408 46,594
Retirement benefit scheme RREAE IR
contributions 4,137 4,999
Equity-settled share-based expense DARRRESEE 2
A7 7 2 34 883 3,467
Total staff costs #|E T A 92,428 55,060
Costs of inventories sold BEEFERKA 2,200,057 1,337,101
Research costs B AR A 238 1,275
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN N & 5,467 3,810
Depreciation e 13 110,910 92,119
Provision for impairment for items of M - BB KREEE
property, plant and equipment* VERIEEE L= 13 — 4,274
Amortisation of exclusive offtake right* TR LR gy 16 58,498 29,475
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEfS b AH & SRIEEE 8H
payments 14 8,452 8,575
Amortisation of other non-current assets  E fth IE 7R 5 & & i 4 20 — 3,130
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE  WENRE
plant and equipment, net HE 2 BF)F8E 5 (3,304) —
Provision for impairment of trade JE U BR SRR (B 1 s
receivables® 22 2,832 —
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRE] 5
realisable value* FE” 21 3,741 —
Transaction costs of restructure of AMRESFEER S
convertible bonds* BR~ — 19,160
Bank interest income |ITHFEHA 5 (9,776) (8,233)
Gain on repurchase and redemption (6188 X & [B] AT AR (E 5
of convertible bonds 2 B 5 — (2,704)
Gain on extinguishment of 1R ERT IR ES 2 B
convertible bonds 5 — (20,300)
Changes in fair value of derivative PTESBMTARAEE
financial instruments EE) 5 (123,043) (28,000)
Foreign exchange gains, net JE R B F)FRE (1,019) —
Foreign exchange losses, net* EH B e FRE — 2,004
Minimum lease payments under EABFRAMEE
operating leases in respect of KREHE s RIEEE
buildings and other assets (N 4,808 4,456
Write-down of long aging payables i R AR R FE < BB 5 (20,818) —
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6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6. BBIBIRF(FE) (&)
# The amortisation of the exclusive offtake right is included in “cost of sales” # BREBERET A AGEBERZ [EKX
in the consolidated income statement. NI
* These items are included in “other expenses” on the face of the * ZEBEBYAGREBERPZ[EMEAS ] -

consolidated income statement.

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. RERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BLE KA SATIOT ¢
2011 2010
—2——F —E-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ARBTT ARETT

Interest on bank loans and other RITERRHMEE

borrowings & 133,474 41,800
Interest on convertible bonds AR E ST B 30 325,691 121,624
Total interest expenses FEF X 4% 459,165 163,424
Less: Interest capitalised & BT A 13 (254,067) (72,984)

205,098 90,440
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

8. EEMERIEEESHESR

AEEEEME  RELTRAIEE
BREEGIZE 161 IRIEENT ¢

Group b
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTTT AREEFTT
Fees e 830 754
Salaries, allowances and benefits e ERMREYEAR
in kind 6,180 3,876
Equity-settled share option expense — LARS#E S~ 2 BB IR RERE 2 — 7
Retirement benefit scheme BB FIFTEI 5K
contributions 56 40
7,066 5,387

In July 2005, March 2007, April 2007 and March 2008,
certain Directors and employees were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the
Company’s share option scheme, further details of which are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements. The fair value of
these options, which has been recognised in the income
statement over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements is included in the above Director’s remuneration
disclosures.

RZZZTHF+LA —ETLF=1 -
—ETLFOARCZEENF=R"
ETESERRERBEERAEE 2R
BRBEARE 2 BIRE S ERBK
18 FRERPBHRKRWE34 - ZF
BhEzARBECREBHANE
BRER YRR LAHEE - AR
FEMBRKRMIN S BAALXE
BeEEMER-
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

(a) Independent non-executive Directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors

8.

EEMERLEREFHES (A)

(a) BUFHTES

FA - RABLFRATESEINZ

during the year were as follows: WEWT -
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Mr. Bai Baohua HERELE 166 173
Mr. Huang Changhuai EEESLE 166 173
Mr. Wong Chi Keung |2 E 166 173
Mr. Fahmi Idris ERSTAE 166 62
664 581

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive Directors during the year
(2010: Nil).
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 8. EEMENTERREEHFEE(E)
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
(b) Executive Directors and a non-executive (b) HITESER —BIHITES
Director
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Equity-settled benefit
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind expense contributions remuneration
e 2R UREXM RIKER
e BENGERN ZBRERX ATEIf ame
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥Tx
2011 —B-—-F
Executive Directors: WITESE:
Mr. Dong Shutong EERLLE — 2,209 — 35 2,244
Ms. Ng See Wai Rowena REBEx+ — 675 — 4 679
Mr. Lau Hok Yuk ZBHEE - 433 - 6 439
Mr. Song Wenzhou RIUMEE — 249 — 1 250
Mr. Zhao Ping iR — 643 — - 643
Mr. Dong Chengzhe BHELLE — 748 — — 748
Mr. Yang Fei BREE — 563 — 10 573
Mr. Mao Yehong EREALE — 660 — - 660
Non-executive Director: ~ JEH1TEE :
Mr. Yang Tianjun BABTE 166 — — - 166
166 6,180 - 56 6,402
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B SR R M
31 December 2011
—=——&+-A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 8.
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
(b) Executive Directors and a non-executive
Director (continued)

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

Fees in kind

e 2ER

ik EMEM

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT  AR%TR

EEMERORREFHEE (B)

(b) MITEER—RIITES
(%)

Retirement
Equity-settled benefit
share option scheme Total

expense  contributions  remuneration

PAR A8 A+ N ER
ZBRER X HE [ e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR

2010 —T-TF

Executive Directors: WITEZ
Mr. Dong Shutong EEREE — 1,194 33 13 1,240
Mr. He Weiquan s RFEHE — 668 26 — 694
Mr. Lau Hok Yuk EmEE — 620 218 10 848
Mr. Song Wenzhou RN kA — 203 7 3 213
Mr. Zhao Ping HEEE — 708 309 — 1,017
Mr. Dong Chengzhe Bkt — 306 93 10 409
Mr. Yang Fel BREE — 177 31 4 212
- 3,876 717 40 4,633

Non-executive Director:  JE#/TES

Mr. Yang Tianjun BABELE 173 — — — 173
173 3,876 7 40 4,806

The remuneration package of each Director is
determined with reference to his/her duties and
responsibilities in the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, no Directors
waived or agreed to waive any emolument; and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the five
highest paid individuals of the Group included five
(2010: five) Directors. Information relating to these
Directors’ emoluments has been disclosed above.
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INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin
Islands.

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company,
Infonics International Limited, Group Rise Trading Limited
and S.E.A. Mineral Limited, which operate in Hong Kong, is
16.5% based on existing legislation. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the entity operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof.

The applicable income tax rate of CNR Group Holdings was
5% for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 August 2011,
and 17% for the period from 1 September 2011 to 31
December 2011 (2010: 5%). CNR Group Holdings was
entitled to a five-year tax concessionary rate of 5% as it was
awarded GTP status by IE Singapore for the five years
ending 31 December 2013, and has written to |IE Singapore
to withdraw its GTP incentive with effect from 1 September
2011.

PT Mandan, a subsidiary of the Company incorporated in
Indonesia, was subject to an income tax rate of 25% for the
fiscal year 2011 and onwards (2010: 25%).

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—ET——F+=-_HA=+—H

FrSs %
Ao BRI B B R L 2 L SR AR

= ges

B A=
SEKERRGEMREEMEEER
IR 35 Y 4 M) S AR P S A

REASHESNRBR LS AR R
B "EERHEREREBRK
HEBAGMEMRMEH -

RIBBRITED - REBLE ZARA]
X 2B AR AR A Group Rise
Trading Limited & ¥ £ B R A )
BREBNGHMEA16.5% - Hib
H[E FERBUE R < HIBREERLE
FIEREERE 2 RITHBER - 2
RIEG) - RBERAREHE -

FIEERR T ——F—A—HEZ
T——F N NA=+—HHEZERM
BRHEAEE% M- E——FNA—
AE-_—F+=-A=+—HHME
CHEAMGHMERIT%(ZE—F
F 1 5%)c \RAARIEIREFT I
¥ERPETRIESEHER R
BE_Z—=F+-_A=+—HItA
HAFEZH5% 2 BEEHE - EE M
¥REREXREERF HEBE T
——FNA—BHEEHNERNRESHE

5tal -

ARA AR EEsEM A S < M B A A PT
Mandan R =—ZE——F R HEEZBHRFE
BAB% ZFAEHME(ZE—ZF
25%) °
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

9.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the
applicable income tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries of the
Company was 25% for the year.

9.

Fri& %t (&)

BEFRBEEEMESHE - AAF R E
WEBRE 2 ERAMSHRE AR 25% °

2011 2010

—g—-% —T-%fF

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARMTR  ARETT

Group: KEHE :
Current — Mainland China BHE — Ap B KR (23,537) 513
Current — Singapore BUER — ¥ 03 27,593 8,136
Current — Hong Kong and others BRER — B REAM 1,543 —
Deferred EERTE 17 26,122 (34,260)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year FEE TS5
BY (E18) 31,721 (25,611)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense/(credit) applicable
to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rate to the income

158 FROE TE B R 51 858 B R BR B AT i
M,/ (B8 215 %RE%EZ/(EIE £

tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rate is as follows:

BREERREAEZAEHAX (B

18) 2 BRI -
2011 2010
—EF-—-5 —TITF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBiATR ], (E5i8) 99,101 (23,048)
Tax at blend of statutory tax rates RREEEMEFTE A 6,649 588
Tax effect of: THEBEZMBLE -
Lower income tax rate for the O M B A R E A RIE
Singapore subsidiary FrigHi = (22,422) (32,345)
Profit attributable to an associate SFEN— R E AR 2 a5 (580) (3,087)
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (23,514) (9,080)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR B 2 54,104 22 420
Previously unrecognised deferred ERBEFEERERLZ
tax assets recognised RIETHIEE E — (4,731)
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE 17,484 624
Tax expense/(credit) at the Group’s ~ IEAEBEEREMESE 2
effective rate REHAS(BHE) 31,721 (25,611)
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11.

12.

Notes to Financial Statements

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
PARENT

Of the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the parent of
RMB66,344,000 (2010: RMB1,467,000), a loss of
RMB259,041,000 (2010: RMB123,531,000) has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company (note 33(b)).

DIVIDENDS

(a) The Directors do not recommend the payment of an
interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2011
(2010: HKDO0.002). More details are given in note 33 to
the financial statements.

(b) The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010:
Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

Basic

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 2,304,031,807 (2010: 2,208,205,624) in
issue during the year.

Diluted

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, adjusted to reflect the interest on the
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds (note a), the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds and the Term Loan with Warrants (note b),
where applicable (see below). The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the weighted
average number of the ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

10.

11.

12.

B S Ra= M 5
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

FRARERFE ARGET

BRRIBRERE ABRGRANARE
66,344000L( Z T —F: AR
1,4670007C ) F BB AR &
259,041,000 (= —FTF : AR¥E
123,531,000 7% ) B A AN A 7] B 75 # 2%
MR IE (F1aE33(b)) °

g

(a) BEEARRBERHZE-_ZT——F
SNAZ=THIENE A AR E R
(ZZE—ZF 00028 7T) ° 5
R IREMIFE33 ©

EERRBERBEE_T——F
TZA=t—HLEFEZRERK
B(ZT—TF: 8|)-

—~
O
-

FARAEBERBRERFE ARG
SRER, (EE)
X

BEREARBINESEIRESAGLE
B ERBEABGEFERFRFAR
BITE AR N TF YRR SR
2,304,031807HK( = & — T F:
2,208,205,624 i% ) 5T & o

3]

BREERNTRER QR E BB
BEBARGFEEMNAE  XNE
AR S T B A R BR T B AT R i 5 5 (Y
ita) 10ERAIARIES M 2RIk
BZEMER(MED) 2FB(ET
X) o REETHE < EE e TR E
RERBE BT B Z IR
(A ESREXRBANMERE) - M
REEBERMEFGRBCIEMEE
EEETEERREARTTENRINER
B MR A T
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—=——&+-A=+—H

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (CONTINUED)

Diluted (Continued)
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on:

12. BRI EERRESEAEMN
BRERN,(EE) (&)

5 (&
SRS RS TR

~

2011 2010
—g-——F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARKTR

Earnings BF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BRFAESREARRF 2
holders of the parent, used in the BREEBRRERE A
basic earnings per share calculation  f&{5% 7 66,344 1,467
Interest on the Zero Coupon TREAMMRESRFIE
Convertible Bonds *1,085 *43,415
Interest on the 10% Coupon 102 BRI REHFE
Convertible Bonds *93,149 18,466
Interest on the Term Loan with SRR EE 2 THERF &
Warrants *83,515 *5,861
Less: Gain on extinguishment of the ~ #1f& : 41 Z B Al AR & 5
Zero Coupon Convertible Zﬁﬂ
Bonds — *(20,300)
Gain on redemption of the B Z B AR (ES
Zero Coupon Convertible 2 B
Bonds — *(2,704)
Change in fair value of the 10 E B A RREFITE
derivative component o2 AR BEES
of the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds *(61,373) (27,704)
Change in fair value of the RREFANLBEE S
Warrants *(61,670) *(296)
121,050 18,205

Notes:

(a) Details of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds are included in note 30 to the
financial statements.

(b) Details of the Term Loan with Warrants are included in note 29(c) to the
financial statements.
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12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 SRR BT o

31 December 2011

—T——F+=A=+—H

12. BRI EERRESEAEMN
BRERN,(EE) (&)

Number of shares

igvip 4E|
Shares 2011 2010
g —E——F —E-FF
Weighted average number of ordinary FUAGtESREREF] 2 FRA
shares in issue during the year B 317 hRE 15 A 2R
used in the basic earnings per
share calculation 2,304,031,807 2,208,205,624
Effect of dilution — weighted average #8522 — TR MNEFHARE
number of ordinary shares:
— Share options — AR 240,568 5,513,634
— Convertible notes — AR EE — 68,587,869
— The Zero Coupon Convertible — TEABRES
Bonds *1,625,130 *210,658,341
— The 10% Coupon Convertible — 10E B ARG
Bonds *915,011,655 121,994,435
— The Term Loan with Warrants — SRR EE T TEIE R *232,188,211 *15,054,843

3,452,997,371

2,630,014,746
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B SR R M
31 December 2011
—=——&+-A=+—H

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. B AR ERKREZE AE(L
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE SREF (&HE) (&)
PARENT (CONTINUED)

2011 —E——F
Number of
Earnings shares
BF ROEA
RMB’000
AR T
121,050 3,452,997,371
Less the impact of: R THIRE
— The Zero Coupon Convertible — TR MR ES
Bonds* 1,085 1,525,130
— The 10% Coupon Convertible —10E B AT R ES*
Bonds* 31,776 915,011,655
— The Term Loan with Warrants* — SRR REE T FHAIE 21,845 232,188,211
Amount adjusted and used in the AR EESREERT 2
diluted earnings per share calculation &% 4% 66,344 2,304,272,375
2010 —E-TF
Number of
Earnings/(loss) shares
B,/ (E8) Sk 4=
RMB’000
AR®ET T
18,205 2,630,014,746
Less the impact of: HBR TR E
— The Zero Coupon Convertible — TEAMRES
Bonds* 20,411 210,658,341
— The Term Loan with Warrants* — ERBREE T THER 5,565 15,054,843

RARFTESREEER

Amount adjusted and used in the

diluted loss per share calculation TSR (7,771) 2,404,301,562
* Since the impact of the dilution of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds, the * HRZTBARRES 10EBARRES R
10% Coupon Convertible Bonds and the Term Loan with Warrants is anti- ERREI EHEFEEREETE W
dilutive, the amount presented for the diluted earnings per share is the same 25|z SiEEE AT S EREARZFIER -

as the basic earnings per share amount.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

13. Y% BERRHE

Group rEE
Motor Construc-
Plant and Office  vehicles tion in
Buildings machinery equipment and others progress Total
BFY RERKE BLOERE RERHM EBRIR @st
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARE®TT ARBTT ARETT AR®TR
Cost: BAE
At 1 January 2010 R-Z—TF
—H—H 265,447 1,096,864 9,531 43,503 507,159 1,922,504
Additions NE 793 1,983 1,749 3,739 650,347 658,611
Transfers =B 303 118,694 1,229 2,384 (122,610) —
Exchange realignment  SMNEIrE =5 (369) — (43) (771) — (1,183)
At 31 December 2010 and R ZZ—ZF4F
1 January 2011 +-A=1+—H
k=2——%
—H—H 266,174 1,217,541 12,466 48,855 1,034,896 2,579,932
Additions =Y 2,099 7,495 7,258 17,334 477,228 511,414
Transfers B — 62,399 — 2,219 (64,618) —
Disposal & (73) (626) 47)  (1,580) — (2,326)
Assets included in assets DEBAZFELEZ
of a disposal group REHTEE
classified as held for (FfizE25)
sale (note 25) (98,387)  (239,509) (508) (1965)  (74,184)  (414,553)
Exchange realignment  SMNEITEER (507) — (74) (733) — (1,314)
At 31 December 2011 R-E——&
+-A=+—H 169,306 1,047,300 19,095 64,130 1,373,322 2,673,153
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—=——&+-A=+—H

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. 9% - BERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Group (continued) REE (4E)
Motor Construc-
Plant and Office  vehicles tion in
Buildings machinery equipment and others progress Total
BF RERKSE BOERE SERHM EBIR et
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Accumulated RIHER
depreciation and RESBRE:
provision for
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2010 R-E—TF
—H—H 52,788 394,271 6,770 21,682 — 475,511
Depreciation charge for ~ AREEITESL H
the year 13,496 75,479 93 3,051 — 92,119
Exchange realignment SN & 258 69 — 5 (256) — (182)
Impairment (note 6) A (H13E6) — — — 4274 — 4274
At 31 December 2010 and A =Z—Z4F
1 January 2011 +-A=+—H
RZF——%
—H—H 66,353 469,750 6,868 28,751 — 571,722
Depreciation charge for ~ ANEERES H
the year 14,242 90,233 1,854 4,581 — 110,910
Disposal HE — (168) (47) (1,446) — (1,661)
Assets included in assets HEARBIEHEY
of a disposal group REMATEE
classified as held for (P 3T 25)
sale (note 25) (14,866)  (99,722) (478)  (1,200) —  (118,275)
Exchange realignment /NI E =48 (59) — (49) (188) — (296)
At 31 December 2011 RZT——4F
+-A=t+—8 65,670 460,093 8,148 30,489 — 564,400
Net carrying amount:  FREEE -
At 31 December 2011 R-T——4F
+-A=+—H 103,636 587,207 10,947 33,641 1,373,322 2,108,753
At31December 2010 ~ R-E—TF
+-A=1+—H 199,821 747,791 5,598 20,104 1,034,896 2,008,210
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

During the year, interest of RMB254,067,000 (2010:
RMB72,984,000) was capitalised in construction in progress
at the capitalisation rate ranging from 5.84% to 32.23%
(2010: 5.85% to 10.30%) as set out in note 7 to the financial
statements.

At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s buildings and
plant and machinery with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB51,715,000 (2010: RMB56,503,000) were
pledged to secure a bank loan granted to the Group (note

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

13. 9% - BERRE (&)

AEE(E)

FR o ARBE254,067,0007T(—F—
T ARET72,984,0007T) ZH BT
BEREAERTRE XX E584%
232283%2B(ZFE—FF :585%
£10.30%) * BRI EIREM LT -

W_ZBE——F+-_fF=+—08 K&
BERMEFEL A ARES51,7150007C
(ZZ—=F : AR¥56,503,000) 2
BFEBEREECIEFIEREEE

29(a)). BEF (M5t 29(a)) ME Y -
Company P NN
Motor
Office vehicles
Buildings equipment and others Total
BF BAZERE AERHM st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT AR®BTT AR®BTT
Cost: RAME :
At 1 January 2010 NZZT—FF
—H—H 10,070 1,133 22,642 33,845
Additions NE — 260 — 260
Exchange realignment HNEE ST B =R (339) (38) (761) (1,138)
At 31 December 2010 and RZZE—Z4F
1 January 2011 +=-—A=+—H
N_F——%F
—H—H 9,731 1,355 21,881 32,967
Additions NE — 56 — 56
Exchange realignment GNEEATE = 5E (460) (64) (717) (1,241)
At 31 December 2011 R ——%F
+=—A=+—H 9,271 1,347 21,164 31,782
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31 December 2011
—=——&+-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

13. 9% - BERRE (&)

Company (continued) AT (&)
Motor
Office vehicles
Buildings equipment and others Total
BF BAZERE ARERH D
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT ARETT
Accumulated depreciation ZitiITER
and provision for WEEERE
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2010 RZZT—ZF
—H—H 123 688 5,437 6,248
Depreciation charge for AEEHEX W
the year 389 189 861 1,439
Exchange realignment GNEE T = %A (4) (23) (256) (283)
Impairment BE — — 4,274 4,274
At 31 December 2010 and R_ZT—F4F
1 January 2011 +=—A=+—H
RZF—%F
—H—H 508 854 10,316 11,678
Depreciation charge for REEHEXH
the year 380 176 524 1,080
Exchange realignment GNEEAT & = EE (33) (45) (182) (260)
At 31 December 2011 RZE—%F
+=—A=+—H 855 985 10,658 12,498
Net carrying amount: EREEE :
At 31 December 2011 RZTE——%F
+=—HA=+—H 8,416 362 10,506 19,284
At 31 December 2010 RZZT—ZF
+=-A=+—H 9,223 501 11,565 21,289
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14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

B K5 Mot
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

14. At B EFIE

Group Company
rEE ¥ /N
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F ZT-TF ZB——F ZT-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR%¥®Tn ARBTT AR%¥TR ARETT
Carrying amount at R—A—Bxz
1 January EHEEE 391,690 400,091 11,276 11,669
Additions NE 265 683 — —
Amortisation during NG
the year 6 (8,452) (8,575) — —
Assets included in assets ¥ AIFIELE
of a disposal group ZEEHRF
classified as held for sale &E&E 25 (184,329) — — —
Exchange realignment INE T E =5 (740) (509) (532) (393)
Carrying amount at R+=A
31 December =+—Rz
RHEEE 198,434 391,690 10,744 11,276
Less: Current portion B FEATER K
included in 5 &e
prepayments, K o Ath &
deposits and WHIE 2
other receivables BNHAER 5 23 (4,290) (8,148) — —
Non-current portion FERNHEAEL 7 194,144 383,542 10,744 11,276

At 31 December 2011, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
prepaid land lease payments, which are related to land
situated in Mainland China, Indonesia and Australia,
amounted to RMB183,555,000 (2010: RMB376,217,000)
(under a medium term lease), RMB4,135,000 (2010:
RMB4,197,000) (under a long term lease) and
RMB10,744,000 (2010: RMB11,276,000) (under a long term
lease), respectively.

At 31 December 2011, certain parcels of the Group’s
leasehold land situated in Mainland China with a net carrying
amount of RMB123,511,000 (2010: RMB159,797,000) were
pledged for bank loans granted to the Group (note 29(a)).

W-—E——&F+=-A=+—8 8K
EEMAPBREARE - ENEETh: R
AF T T E R TET b & SR8
BREEES B AARK 183,555,000 7T
—T—T4F : AR¥376,217,0007T)
(FRERFEAY) « AR# 413500070 ( =
T—TF : AR¥4,197,0007T) (K
FR4)) A AR ® 10,744,000 (=ZF —
TE: AR¥11,276,0007T) (REAHE
#y) o

RZE—F+=ZA=+—H ' ' K&
EMRATEERNEAFERARK
123,511,000 (ZE—FF : ARK
159,797,000t WA TREE L #E
EAAREBERREITER(HE29(a))
H)E 1Y) o
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

15. GOODWILL 15. &
Group E
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ks AR®T T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEAEE 58,394 58,394
Assets included in assets of a DERBIELEZ
disposal group classified as held BEHAPEE
for sale 25 (58,394) —
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+—-—A=+—H
Z AREEE — 58,394
16. INTANGIBLE ASSET 16. BEEE
Group &
2011 2010
—=2——fF —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AR¥TT
Exclusive offtake right BREREE
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEEEE 2,531,910 2,640,288
Amortisation provided during the year 4= A 655 & (58,498) (29,475)
Exchange realignment HINEITE E%E (383,253) (78,903)
Carrying amount at 31 December RT+ZA=+—HZEHERB 2,090,159 2,531,910

In May 2007, the Group secured an exclusive offtake right
from PT. Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan Mining”), a limited company
incorporated in Indonesia, whereby Yiwan Mining agreed to
exclusively sell the limonitic ores produced by Yiwan Mining
to the Group at a fixed price of US$16 per dry tonne for a
period of approximately 14 years. On 12 September 2008,
the term of the exclusive offtake right was extended to 29
years expiring on 24 January 2036.
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

The purchase consideration was satisfied by cash of
HK$95.56 million (equivalent to RMB94.05 million), issuance
of 1,340,067,052 ordinary shares, and issuance of convertible
notes with a principal of HK$316,130,000 (equivalent to
RMB311,135,000) which are neither transferable nor
redeemable. On 18 May 2010, the convertible notes were
fully converted to 182,734,104 ordinary shares of the
Company as set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

The Group measured the exclusive offtake right acquired and
the corresponding increase in equity and cash consideration
paid, directly, at the fair value of the exclusive offtake right.
The fair value of the exclusive offtake right was determined at
RMB2,686,865,000 by the Directors with reference to the
valuation performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited
(“Greater China Appraisal”), an independent valuer, dated 2
May 2007. The independent valuer used the income
approach by applying the discounted cash flow method in its
valuation. The transaction cost directly attributable to the
acquisition of the exclusive offtake right amounted to
RMB11,420,000 and was capitalised as part of the cost of
this intangible asset.

16.

B S Ra= M 5
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

BREE (&)

AEE(E])
WEBREBREZAREUATI AL
F:3R2556BEBTHERAR
¥94.06 &) - #171,340,067,052
REBRUAURBTASLEBE
316,130,000 T(H E K A R &
311,135,000 7T ) Z N A] # & 3% T 0] fE
ErBEEE - R —ZFHA
+TNANB TBEREEELERE
182,734,104 R AN A A1 E A% - FFI1EH
REF SRR MITES2

AEEFEMREZBRERERE K
A2z EEEMANEMBEEREB IR
BREBEEL AN BEERTE - B
FEBEZAOLNEEBEARE
2,686,865,000 T /I E EKEL2EHEL
hEMmEETEERAR(EETED
N-BZLERA-RZHEMESRE -
BYAEMRAERREBTRESR
EERWAEFTE - WIEBRREE
L EEEEBERSIKRAARK
11,420000 LE B R BZEFLEEZ
AR ©
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

17. DEFERRED TAX 17. EEFIE
The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities FEXNEEHRBEENABESWNT -

during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets BEBEEE
Group REE
2011 2010
—2——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
At 1 January n—H—H 256,763 226,530
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the RERB2IER (FIR),FHAZ
income statement during the year ERERIA (F17E9)
(note 9) (26,144) 30,233
Deferred tax assets included in DERFELE
assets of a disposal group BEHATPREHIEEE
classified as held for sale (note 25) (Mfsx25) (78,073) —
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 152,546 256,763
The deferred tax balance is in BT S IBERIELERIBE S
respect of:
Losses available for offsetting against 7] 15 # F 14 fE 22 5% F1l 2 518
future taxable profits 118,783 221,824
Inventory provision FERIE 630 630
Unrealised profit eliminated on & DHR i EE < RE IR R T
consolidation 7,715 21,054
Decelerated tax depreciation BRI IRYTE — 18
Liabilities for accrued expenses that A5 I K1 AYTEIZE
are deductible for tax purpose only E2RaE
when paid 25,418 13,237
152,546 256,763
The Group has no tax losses arising in Hong Kong (2010: NEBUWEBAEBELTMIIEEIE
RMB49,648,000) that are available for offsetting against (ZZE—ZTF : ARE#49,648,0007T)
future taxable profits of the companies in which the loss ARANEELEIREEBN AR B RBESR
arose. B A
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17. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Group (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB475,132,000 (2010: RMB854,528,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Based on the five-year forecasts of these companies, the
Directors believe that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow these deferred tax assets to be utilised.

Key assumptions in the five-year forecasts include the
budgeted sales and gross margins that are determined by
the Directors based on the planned production strategy and
management’s past experience and expectations regarding
the selling price strategy (by reference to market reports on
the future market price of nickel), cost of production, sales
volume and the market development.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB44,176,000 (2010: RMB1,164,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

B S Ra= M 5
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

7. EEHIA (&)

EERBEE (8)

AEE (&)
AEBBERRAEEENFHIABEA
R#475132,000(Z T —ZTF : A
R #854,528,0007L) R —ERAFNR
FIHR - BERERRERB A o &
REZEARNAFHER  E2RAE
BEETRERB M SREEL
FRIBEEERNA -

ARREFARMERNEEZRER - BA
SEEERELES  BEEBEE
HZRMBHMNERHEER(2EH
B E MR KT IHIRERIER) - AR
EmEERAE  HERTHHERM
=i e

AEBETEREREEEARK
44176,000c 2 MEEFBR(ZZE—F
F: AR¥A1164,000T) R —F R
FREE - BrERERRERERF]
AzEBEEASSHREER 2B
RAELE  REERBEBETERK
1576 FE AR A s A B F AR S5 B TB 65 18
MW ARZEEEERRBEEREE
% °

Company b NN
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
At 1 January n—A—H 7,176 =
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the R BEEE (F1K) EtA
income statement during the year ZIREFIE (7,176) 7,176
At 31 December R+=—A=+—~ — 7,176
The deferred tax balance in respect of: A B 51| &TEHE LT B4 64
Losses available for offsetting A] K 85 B 1% FE AR A A
against future taxable profits Z B8 — 7,176
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

17. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 17. EEBIE (K)
Deferred tax liabilities EERREE
Group R EH
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
At 1 January R—H—H 23,890 27,917
Deferred tax credited to the income FRFFAB R ZELERIE
statement during the year (note 9) (M$7%9) (22) (4,027)
Deferred tax liabilities included in BERESBEARBELERN
liabilities directly associated with BEMRBCEERIAERE
the assets classified as held for (M93E25)
sale (note 25) (21,467) —
At 31 December Nt+=-_HA=+—H 2,401 23,890
Provisions in respect of: BT SERERS :
Fair value adjustments arising from IR BEB B A RIFTE L
acquisition of a subsidiary NABERAE — 22,439
Others HAth 2,401 1,451
2,401 23,890
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% BHRBEEEMRGETE  RPEBAK

withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of
earnings generated after 31 December 2007.

At 31 December 2011, there was no unrecognised deferred
tax liability (2010: Nil) for taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries as these
subsidiaries did not have profits available for distribution.
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17. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

18.

Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 SRR BT o

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

31 December 2011

—T——F+=A=+—H

. IEFERLIA (&)

ELEHR AR E (F)

Company ¥ /NG|
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
At 1 January R—H—H — =
Deferred tax credited to the income FRFFABRRZIELERIE
statement during the year 1,137 —
At 31 December R+=—B=+—8H 1,137 —
Provisions in respect of: BTSRRI ERE
Depreciation allowance in excess of  fBHABEITE 2T ERE
related depreciation 1,137 —
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES . RBARZRE
Company b N/NE|
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Unlisted investments/shares, at cost  3E E 8 E& B&D » LAKARTE 322,204 322,204
Advances to subsidiaries HB AT 28X 4,102,924 4,387,368
4,425,128 4,709,572

The amounts advanced to the subsidiaries included in the
investments in subsidiaries above are denominated in HKS$,
US$ and the Singapore dollar (“SG$”), and are unsecured,
and have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the
Directors, these advances are considered as quasi-equity

loans to the subsidiaries.

ERFARKEBRRIRE Z HH B A
BIZ BFIABTT « FITRFTINE T (%
M) EHE - REREKEREEE

HH - ARAEER

o R ey +h
5 % ERGRA]

BRETHBRR 2 ERARERK
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 18. RKMIB AR ZKRE (&)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: RATIMBRAR ZFBWMAT ¢
Nominal value

of issued
shares/paid-up

Place of incorporation Percentage of equity interest

Name of companies and place of operations capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTRE ARAREM
NEER SR AR S K St B BERAZEHE RAEREA DL FTEXK
Direct Indirect
HiE &
Infonics International Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$10,001 100 —  Investment holding
KEBEBRBRAA Hong Kong 10,0017 REER
KBRS /B
China Yongtong International British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100 —  Dormant
Metallurgy Engineering Hong Kong 1%L Tmes
Technology Company Limited HREBEZEE,/ &%
B KRB A € TR M
BRAH
China Special Steel Holdings Cayman Islands/ US$1 — 100  Dormant
Company Limited Hong Kong 1%L Omey
BRI A IR A E REms/ &%
S.E.A. Mineral Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$100 — 100  Trading of ore
BFREEER AR Hong Kong 1003%7T BREEZ
ERELES/BR
Group Rise Trading Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 — 100  Dormant
Hong Kong e Tmaex
RERIES/BE
CNR Group Holdings Singapore US$400,000 — 100  Trading of minerals,
FERIERR HTANK 400,000%7T steel products and
investment holding
BE HAERES
RREER
PT Mandan Indonesia IDR131,264,000,000 — 100 Under construction
HEERmE 131,264,000,000 DB Gexe
Yongtong Special Steel PRC RMB636,760,000 — 100  Manufacture and sale
KAt H AE# 636,760,000 T of special steel
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

31 December 2011

=F——f%+t=-HA=+—H

18. RKMTB AT 2KRE (&)

Nominal value
of issued
Place of incorporation shares/paid-up Percentage of equity interest
Name of companies and place of operations capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BERITRE ARREMR
NRER AR AR 3L R S B HRRAZEE RAREZA D TEER
Direct Indirect
B i
Yongan Special Steel* PRC RMB336,000,000 — 51 Manufacture and sale
K R * F AR 336,000,0007C of special steel
products
SERHERHER
Yongtong Alloy Metals PRC RMB3,000,000 — 95  Trading of scrap steel
KBEE I AK#3,000,0007C EHES
Xiangtong Electricity PRC RMB10,000,000 — 50.01 Generation and sale
HREE H AR 10,000,000 7T of electricity
BERHEES
Yongtong Nickel PRC RMB266,000,000 — 100 Under construction
KBEE i AR 266,000,000 7T e
East Harvest Minerals PRC US$127,000,000 — 100 Trading of mineral
RKREM H 127,000,000 %78 products and
investment holding
BEREZ N
REER
East Harvest Mining PRC RMB390,000,000 — 100 Under construction
Rikm= HE AR 390,000,0007T Gege

*

Pursuant to an agreement for the disposal of the Group’s entire shareholding

of 51% in Yongan Special Steel, Yongan Special Steel was classified as a
disposal group held for sale in the consolidated financial statements as at
31 December 2011. Further details are included in note 25 to the financial

statements.

RIEHE AR E BN KR 51% 2 B REZ
Wk - KRR T ——F+=-A=+—
B2 EMBHRERTORAFIELEMAR -
B RARE BRI B TS 3R R M 25.
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B SR R M
31 December 2011
—=——&+-A=+—H

19.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. R—EBERT2RE

Group E
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREEFTT
Share of net assets ELEESE 22,274 18,760

Particulars of the associate are as below:

ABERRZFHBWT

Percentage of

ownership
interest
Particulars of Place of attributable
Name issued shares incorporation to the Group Principal activity
BT rEE
NEEH R 15 & 118 B 3 it B FRGBRFELE B EEHH
Full Harvest Development 15,500 ordinary  Republic of 47.42% Investment holding
Limited shares of Seychelles WEER
US$ 1 each
ERERFRAF 15,500 Ix &A% EERATE
1ETTZ EBR

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

TRUIIAEEY A

BEEEEY

it

information of the Group's associate extracted from its BRI ERSE ¢
financial statements:

2011 2010
—E2——-F —F-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Assets BE 130,875 131,116
Liabilities BE 101,138 107,214
Revenue W %5 — 23,617
Profit S A 7,410 39,473
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20. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Notes to Financial Statements

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

20. EftbFRBEE

Group E
Prepayment for
purchases of
raw materials Others Total
EREE R MR
BENRE Hity HE
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B ek ARBTT ARBT AR®TR
2011 %
Carrying amount at RZE—F
1 January 2011 —H—B2z
RHEEE 94,059 20,076 114,135
Utilisation oy (57,290) — (57,290)
Exchange realignment O =R (4,444) — (4,444)
Assets included in assets ofa D485
disposal group classified as BFEHERE
held for sale Wy EE 25 — (20,076) (20,076)
Carrying amount at RZE——F
31 December 2011 +=-A=+—H
ZEmEEE 32,325 — 32,325
Less: Current portion included & : T8 28 «
in prepayments, me REM
deposits and other FEWRIA 2
receivables BERE 5 23 (32,325) — (32,325)
Non-current portion JERNEREL 7> — — —
2010 —T-TF
Carrying amount at NZE—FF
1 January 2010 —HA—Hz
REER 97,083 23,206 120,289
Additions NE 15,359 — 15,359
Utilisation/amortisation Vg S (15,116) (3,130) (18,246)
Exchange realignment HNEITE =5 (3,267) — (3,267)
Carrying amount at RZZE—TF
31 December 2010 +=-A=+—H
ZEmEEE 94,059 20,076 114,135
Less: Current portion included & : T8 28 «
in prepayments, Be REMER
deposits and other FIBZ BEE
receivables 23 (55,437) — (55,437)
Non-current portion FEENERER 7 38,622 20,076 58,698
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21. INVENTORIES 21. 78

Group E
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Raw materials R ¥ 247,348 418,921
Work in progress TR 73,886 108,059
Finished goods SIRK o 214,148 282,203
Spare parts and consumables HH RS 37,631 50,526
573,013 859,709

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes
RMB3,741,000 (2010: Nil) in respect of write-downs of

inventories to their net realisable values.

22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

MAEEEERE 2R FEDHE
RERIHNEFEERABEARE
3,741,000 T (ZZE—T4F : &) o

22, EWERF R EWEE

Group A&
2011 2010
= —B-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T
Trade receivables FEUBR X 104,346 108,125
Notes receivable A 43,946 11,193
148,292 119,318
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22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers and customers of limonitic
ores, where payment in advance is normally required. The
credit period is generally one to two months. During the year,
the Group generated its revenue from sales of ore and
special steel products to other steel producers, thereby
exposing the Group to the concentration of credit risk in the
steel industry. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts
of trade and notes receivables approximate to their fair
values.

An aging analysis of the trade and notes receivables at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

22. BRI R EWRE (&)

AEEERZFZRZEBUEETA
S ﬁ h%ﬁ%%ﬁ&%ﬁ%g
FPEMRE - GEH-—KRAE—ZME
He EW K%IZWE%QW%@
HEMHEBORSHER - Bt
AEEEERHETRZEESTER
AREY EHZFERT A TAEA
m%ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ o FEU R KA ETF
C EYSR R R R RE(EE
HARBERS -

RBEPR  HEZEHFEZRK
R MR R 2 RREEDITEAT

2011 2010
—2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Within 90 days 90 HWA 113,793 104,758
91 to 180 days 91 & 180 H 18,251 9,052
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 15,288 32
Over 1 year HBiE1E 7,336 9,020
154,668 122,862

Less: Provision for impairment B MR FURE B
of trade receivables (6,376) (3,544)
148,292 119,318

—E——FFE % - Annual Report 2011 153



China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited « FREI$2 & REAA R A 7]

Notes to Financial Statements
IR R M5

31 December 2011

—F——Ft=-A=t—8H

22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

22. BRI R EWRE (&)

FEURFURE R BE ST -

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETFT

At 1 January n—H—H 3,544 3,544
Impairment losses recognised EHERREEE 2,832 —
At 31 December Nt+=-_HA=+—H 6,376 3,544

At 31 December 2011, included in the above provision for
impairment of trade receivables is a provision for individually
impaired trade receivables of RMB6,376,000 (2010:
RMB3,544,000) with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB6,376,000 (2010: RMB3,544,000). The individually
impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in
financial difficulties.

The aging analysis of trade and notes receivables that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired

WR—ZT——&+=-A=+—H " k£t
JIE S BR SR (B 78 B2 43 {8 1) FE AR 3R
BEBE ARY6,376,000L( — T —
THE: AR%35440007T) : ZE5E
WEFRBREMEEEAAREK
6,376,000 C(Z T —ZTF: AR
3,544,000 7T ) & 5!l f& Uk BR 3R B TY
BT EREE I REER -

18 5l 2k 2 R S 248 1 78 R E 2 B W B
AR EREEZ BRE DT

is as follows:
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETT
Neither past due nor impaired N 4 360 B X R (B 147,332 113,810
Less than 90 days past due BER D90 B — —
91 to 180 days past due #HI91 =180 H — —
181 to 365 days past due #HI 1812365 H — 32
Past due over 1 year EHARR 1 F 960 5,476
148,292 119,318
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22. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22.

23.

Notes to Financial Statements

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was

no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
Directors are of the opinion that no provision for impairment
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable.

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

YRR K EREE (&)

i 7 780 3 7T 4B Rl (B 2 8 UK R TR B 4T A

%

BRREBZAETARILNEFE

BB &R E 2 R IR R E T8

VEFBR

ZERPRAKEBE

IR - ERNBERLR - ARFE
ERRHENEFPEEERALEBEAN
# AEHAERDAESFTEEND -
WA B B AE SR E L RE RS -

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. A FIE ke NHEMEIK
RECEIVABLES Hig
Group Company
rEE b NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
2% —Z-%2F ZB-—-§ ZT-I%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR%®Tr ARETT AR%TR ARETR
Prepayments to suppliers TR e 2 FRIE 49,624 77,465 - 4,613
Other prepayments H AT 5708 7,853 7,652 4,472 5,775
Other receivables HibpEY A 70,029 39,034 1,597 9,831
Value-added tax FE YL ET
receivable 53,495 41,927 — —
Shareholder’s loan to HEERAEELH 2
an associate ARER 2% 50,522 48,414 4,395 —
Current portion of other HitEmE & E
non-current assets Z BNERER 5 20 32,325 55,437 - —
Current portion of prepaid BN B ERIE
land lease payments Z BNERER 14 4,290 8,148 — —
268,138 278,077 10,464 20,219
Less: Provision for B H A e RIE
impairment of 2R ERE
other receivables (5,127) (5,365) — —
263,011 272,712 10,464 20,219

The carrying amounts of other receivables and the
shareholder’s loan to an associate approximate to their fair
values at the end of the reporting period.

Hh & WOk IR M BB R BRI 2 IR
REFEHEERERNBFESHR2A

REERE -
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R E ey b
31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

24, HEeRBEEEYHNEERE

TIME DEPOSITS RER
Group Company
REE b /N
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E-- T ZEBE-—-§f —IET-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT AR®FTR ARETR
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTEERR 114,824 172,100 5,554 26,656
Time deposits TEHFER 219,601 301,996 — =
334,425 474,096 5,554 26,656
Less: Guarantee as salvage o ERITH
security (note 35(a)) R 2RI
(P5E35(a)) (3,466) — — —
Pledged time deposits BEGRT
for issuing bank AHER
acceptance notes el
(note 26) BT
(Miz¥26) (216,135) (301,505) — —
(219,601) (301,505) — —
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEY 114,824 172,591 5,554 26,656

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged time deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash
equivalents and the pledged time deposits approximate to
their fair values.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB52,366,000 (2010: RMB105,625,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.
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25. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF A DISPOSAL

GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

At 31 December 2011, the assets and liabilities of a disposal
group classified as held for sale represent the Group’s
investment in a subsidiary, Yongan Special Steel.

In accordance with the policy of relocating iron steel
enterprises out from the urban areas under the “Twelfth Five
Year Plan” of the PRC and as part of Luoyang City’s
development planning policy, the Government of Luoyang
City has arranged the relocation of Yongan Special Steel.

On 19 December 2011, the Group entered into an agreement
with the Government of Luoyang City (the “Relocation
Agreement”) in relation to the relocation of Yongan Special
Steel. On 20 February 2012, in order to implement the
Relocation Agreement, the Group and the non-controlling
shareholder of Yongan Special Steel entered into an equity
transfer agreement with Luoyang Anhui Trading Services
Center (Limited Liabilities Partnership) (&% % [E & 5 R15+
D (EBBRAE)) (“Anhui Center”), a limited liability partnership
nominated by the Government of Luoyang City, to dispose
the Group’s entire shareholding of 51% equity interests in
Yongan Special Steel. The Group has 100% control over
Yongan Special Steel according to the profit sharing
agreement entered into between the Group and its non-
controlling shareholders.

Pursuant to the Relocation Agreement and the equity transfer
agreement, the Group will receive various fees in an
aggregate amount of RMB1 billion, which was determined
after arm’s length negotiation between the two parties
involved and is intended to compensate the Group for: (i) the
working capital contributed by the Group and its related
finance costs, (ii) repayment of existing external debt of
Yongan Special Steel by the Group; and (iii) the estimated
relocation expenses and employee settlement to be incurred.

The Group ceased the production activities of Yongan
Special Steel and classified the carrying amounts of the
assets and liabilities to a disposal group classified as held for
sale on 31 December 2011.

==
=
=

BTSRRIt

31 December 2011
—E—F+=-A=+—H
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

25. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF A DISPOSAL 25. PEARELHEZEREAYLE
GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE ENEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Yongan Special RZE——F+_HA=+—H k%
Steel classified as held for sale at 31 December 2011 are as BB ARKIEREFTEBRICEE
follows: REEZZEMNT :
2011
—E——fF
Notes RMB’000
BsE AR®T T
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment W -~ BB KRG 13 298,278
Prepaid land lease payments AN LB ER K 14 184,329
Deferred tax assets EEFRIRE B 17 78,073
Inventories FE 73,234
Trade and notes receivables FE U R R K FE IR R 37
Prepayments, deposits and other AR « e R H b fEWRIR
receivables 10,267
Cash and cash equivalents RekRESFED 43
Goodwill S 15 58,394
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 20 20,076
Assets classified as held for sale PERBIELECEE 722,731
Liabilities =L
Trade and notes payables FETER R R N R & 26 68,373
Other payables and accruals FEET BB R E A T FRIA 56,358
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITERREMERK
other borrowings 142,569
Deferred tax liabilities B IBAE 17 21,467
Other long term payables HE R EAFER RIE 31 25,801
Liabilities directly associated with the EHEESEARIEHENEE
assets classified as held for sale HEzaE 314,568
Net assets directly associated with BEREGREHAEECEETE
the disposal group 408,163

Amount attributable to non-controlling  JE1% A% #E 25 FEAE 7718
interests
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31 December 2011
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26. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

26. ENRARENER

=

Group Company
rEE PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—¥——% 224 _§——F —FTF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
fizx AR%¥Tr ARBTT AR%¥®TR ARETT
Trade payables eSS ER X 192,347 249,412 1,049 1,100
Notes payable JEN IR (a) 401,108 423,119 — —
593,455 672,531 1,049 1,100
Note: BiaE -
(@) At 31 December 2011, notes payable of RMB401,108,000 (2010: (a) MZE——F+-A=+—H ERNEEA

RMB423,119,000) were secured by time deposits amounting to
RMB216,135,000 (2010: RMB301,505,000).

R #401,108,000T( —E—FF : ARK
423,119,0007T ) LA & A 17 K A R %
216,135000L( = T — T F: AR ¥
301,505,000 7T) fEBIRFE S °

An aging analysis of the trade and notes payables at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

RBEHR HEZEHFEZEN
R RENRRZREONT

follows:
Group Company
rEE PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
2% —T-TF =—B-—-—-H —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR%®TT AR%®TR AR%®TT
Within 90 days 90BN 310,563 162,969 — —
91 to 180 days 91 %180 H 259,953 410,474 — —
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 12,462 47,145 — —
1to 2 years 1224 9,406 16,036 —_ —
2 to 3 years 2E3F 18 11,987 — 1,100
Over 3 years HBim3F 1,053 23,920 1,049 —
593,455 672,531 1,049 1,100

Of the trade payables included in a disposal group (note 25),
RMB45,621,000 is aged within one year and RMB22,752,000
is aged over one year.

The trade payables are unsecured, interest-free and normally
settled on terms of 30 to 90 days.

DEABIEHEZEREM(MFF25) 2
JFE 1~F BR 3R A R #5 45,621,000 7T 2 BR &%
B—FLA AR227520007T 2
BRERA—FLAL -

ENEREEER 28

HI&30E90H o

—RX
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. BEtEERAEMENRIER

Group Company
AEH b YN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2——-F —ZT-ZTF ZB-—-—-F "—T-ITF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR¥TR ARETET
Advances from customers FEWE R 216,032 108,389 — —
Payables related to ek PN E S
purchases of items of e
property, plant and HEEBEZ
equipment FETFRIE 142,029 178,149 — —
Accrued interest expenses FEEHR BB X 5,177 3,705 — —
Payroll payable BN TE 5,784 11,765 135 142
Amounts due to JE AT B B8 2 B)
non-controlling FEVERR AR
shareholders of FUE
a subsidiary — 31,766 — 1,993
Liabilities assumed in the AU BE KT E A A
acquisition of a subsidiary EERENEE 23,186 25,982 — —
Others Hth 34,933 112,339 5,353 3,845
427,141 472,095 5,488 5,980
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have no fixed HMEMNTRIBERR S @ JMERBTIER

terms of repayment.
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31 December 2011

—T——F+=A=+—H

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. fTHEEMTIA
Group and Company REBEAKRADT
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
Liabilities Liabilities
=N A&
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR®ET T AR¥TT
Warrants bifurcated from the host DHEETHEREER
contract of the Term Loan 7 RRRREZEE 29 9,432 73,062
Conversion option and redemption DBEE 102 BT #A%
option bifurcated from the host BEEEERZ
contract of the 10% Coupon P K B Ol 4
Convertible Bonds 30 (658) 63,715
8,774 136,777
Less: Portion classified as current B D BRRANE 2 E o (8,774) (31,312)
Non-current portion FERNERER 2> — 105,465
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31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 20, HEBSHGHMES
BORROWINGS
Group rEH
2011 2010
—%--% —z-%4
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
Notes rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
EEAE BRF%E
BizE (%) HEME  AR®Trx (%) I#ME  ARETR
Current BN
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EEA 6.1-8.2 2012 85,000 48-6.8 2011 129,078
Bank loans — secured RITEHR — HHEA (a) 72-79 2012 130,000 53-66 2011 177,723
Other borrowings — unsecured Hip e — mif i (b) 0-8.0 2012 22,942 0-75 2011 27,760
Other borrowings — secured HAb 3 — (c) 9.5 2012 164,748 95 2011 141,429
402,690 475,990
Non-current FEENH
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — BEM 7.94 2013 49,900 50-62 2012-2013 93,000
Other borrowings — unsecured Hip e — mifa (b) 8.0 2013 17,876 57-80 2012 141,448
Other borrowings — secured HAb s — (c) — 95 2012 109,224
67,776 343,672
470,466 819,662
Company AAT
2011 2010
—E——-f ZT-TF
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
Note rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
EEAE BRF=E
i (%) HME  AR®Trx (%) AEME  AR®ETT
Current B
Other borrowings — secured HibfEmR — FHEMA (c) 9.5 2012 164,748 9.5 2011 141,429
Non-current E3:00
Other borrowings — secured HEfbEs — FHEE (c) — 95 2012 109,224
164,748 250,653
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. FFRERKRHEMEE (F)
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
Group Company
rEE RAF
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B——-F —Z=T-ZTF =ZE——-F = —ZTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT ARBTT AR¥TR ARETET
Analysed into: AL ET S ER R
Hib 5 EH
DITET
Bank loans repayable: IRITEKE
AR -
Within one year —F R 215,000 306,801 — —
In the second year F-F 49,900 43,000 — —
In the third year F=F — 50,000 — —
264,900 399,801 — —
Other borrowings repayable: Ei\ﬁﬂ RN
/Aﬁﬂ i
Within one year —&FR 187,690 169,189 164,748 141,429
In the second year FF 17,876 250,672 — 109,224
205,566 419,861 164,748 250,653
470,466 819,662 164,748 250,653
Notes: BiaE -
(@) At 31 December 2011, the secured bank loans comprised of: (i) bank loans (@) RZZE——F+=A=+—H FEANR

of RMB30,000,000 (2010: RMB77,723,000) secured by a parcel of leasehold
land in Mainland China with a net carrying amount of RMB37,582,000 (2010:
RMB70,456,000); (i) a bank loan of RMB50,000,000 (2010: RMB50,000,000)
secured by a parcel of leasehold land in Mainland China with a net carrying
amount of RMB68,304,000 (2010: RMB71,329,000); and (iii) a bank loan of
RMB50,000,000 (2010: RMB50,000,000) secured by a parcel of leasehold
land in Mainland China and buildings and plant and machinery with net
carrying amounts of RMB17,625,000 (2010: RMB18,012,000) and
RMB51,715,000 (2010: RMB56,503,000), respectively.

TERBIE (VA RRBEKEW - BREF
EAARKE3758200T(=ZF—ZTF : A
R #70,456,0007T ) ®) 1 & T {E R EY
SRITE AR ¥ 30,000,000 T (ZF —Z4F :
AR 77,723,0007T) + (ii) BAGRL 7 H B K R
7 - BREFE A AR 68,304,0007T (= F
—Z4F : AR#¥71,329,0007T) WA E + it
YERIEIR R ER1TE A R 50,000,000 7T(=
T—Z24F : AR 50,000,0007T) : K (i) A
MRFPBEAE: REFEINAARKE
17,625000c( = & — T F£: A R #
18,012,0007T ) #9310 & & 3t A R BR EFE &
AR¥51,715,000c( =T —TF : AR
56,503,000 7T ) K ¥ 3 Bk B5 K% =% 1 1E 4 3K 1
K ER1TE K A R# 50,000,000t (ZF—F
4 : AR¥50,000,0007T) °
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

29.

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

At 31 December 2011, the unsecured other borrowings included: (i) a loan
of RMB89,000 (2010: RMB589,000) from Xianghe Group Shangjie Power
Engineering Co., Ltd., which is interest-free; (ii) a loan from a shareholder of
the Company of US$2,500,000 (equivalent to RMB15,708,000) (2010:
RMB16,486,000), which bore interest at a rate of 8% per annum; (iii) a loan
from the ultimate holding company of the Group consisting of amounts of
SG$4,295,000 and HK$5,000,000 (aggregately equivalent to
RMB22,853,000) (2010: RMB44,101,000), which bore interest at a rate of 8%
per annum; and (iv) a loan of US$344,177 (equivalent to RMB2,168,000)
(2010: Nil) from hire purchase of motor vehicles, which bore interest at a
rate of 3.52% per annum.

At 31 December 2011, the secured other borrowings represented a facility
of RMB330,000,000 (the “Term Loan”) obtained by the Company in
December 2010 by entering into a term loan agreement with a third party,
Asia Equity Value Ltd. (the “Lender”), pursuant to which the Company
agreed, as a condition to the availability of the Term Loan, to issue to the
Lender warrant instruments (the “Warrants”).

The principal terms of the Agreement are as follows:

Term Loan

(i) Interest rate: 9.5% per annum

(ii) Maturity date: 24 months since the Drawdown Date, 8 December
2010

(iii) Repayment: The Company shall repay the Term Loan in seven
equal instalments on the dates falling 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 21 and 24
months after the Drawdown Date.

(iv)  Equity pledge: The entire registered capital of East Harvest
Minerals, a subsidiary of the Group, is pledged in favour of the
Lender for the availability of the Term Loan. At 31 December 2011,
the paid-up capital of East Harvest Minerals amounted to
US$127,000,000, equivalent to RMB800,214,300 (31 December
2010: RMB740,207,000).
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ARIBEAERARKES9,000L (=2 —F
¢ ¢ AR¥589,0007T) + &ZfEmEE (i)
AR E— R R S A LS 2,500,000 % 5T (&
RAREE15,708,0007T) (ZT—ZF : AR
# 16,486,000 7L ) ° 1%?£$7’F'J$2%8%:(iiii)
A& B &R E R A 7 & A& 54,295,000
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(continued)

Warrants

The Warrants carry the rights to subscribe at any time and from time to time
during the subscription period for up to 263,226,563 shares of the
Company. The other principal terms of the Warrants are as follows:

U]

(ii)

(iif)

Subscription Price: Initially HK$1.68 per share and subject to
adjustments.

Subscription period: Three years since the commencement date, 8
December 2010.

Loan cancellation method: Each holder of the Warrants (the
“Warrant Holder”) may elect to pay the Subscription Price of the
Warrants by discharging the Company’s obligations to repay the
outstanding principal of the Term Loan and any accrued but unpaid
interest and other sums payable under the Agreement.

The Company’s call option: If, on any date after the expiry of a
period of six months commencing on the commencement date, the
volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) per share of the Company
is greater than 180% of the initial Subscription Price, the Company
may require the Warrant Holder to exercise the subscription rights
attaching to the Warrants in whole or in part within the aforesaid
period of 30 trading days.

The net proceeds less the transaction costs, received from the Term Loan

of approximately RMB318,750,000 have been split into a liability component
and a derivative financial instrument as follows:

()

(ii)

Liability component initially recognised at its fair value, which was
measured as the residual amount after deducting the fair value of the
derivative component as at 8 December 2010, and is subsequently
carried at amortised cost.

The Warrants as a whole as derivative financial instrument
recognised at its fair value, which is valued by Greater China
Appraisal. The trinomial lattice model was used in the valuation of
the derivative.

29. §

GEE

(c)

II_:\

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

EXKEMBE (&)

(%)
(%)
AR ER

PR e B PR A5 8 1) BT A 5 B A PO B ey B T B
RERG HABRTHBBEARARTZ
263,226,563 X I 15 o RARE F H fth F Z 1§
REFAT

(i) RBE VI REERER1.68E
JC ¢ AT o

(if) REH: RNFABRBH(ZE—T+=
ANB)EHER=F2ZH -

@iy  ARBREB2HARE - SRRIEE
%EAGwh%‘ﬁﬁADTkﬁu
PHRARBZEBH T AX R
;'&ﬁ%¢@§$AEE%§ﬁE
AEENEHEFRELRE  RfTZ
FERT A BB EoAh T RIRAERE o

(iv) AT ZERDRE : (HFHH B ERRT
ANMEAEREAER B AARK
E2ERZGEMETABEBYF
REEM180% © NARIAZEDIEA
w@x%ﬁgimh%ﬁﬁﬁA#t

It EAR 1T R AR A 7B FIT MY 2 2B s 36
TRHBHE o

HBR 2 &A% BBEEHERAERR
%E%@AEMMB%O 0007T * E# %D ?)?Z\%E
B ETESETA - ST -

(i) BEHOREAABEETHE
R ZAABE/HIRITERID RN
—E-ZF+-ANAZRAABER
ORISR - HIRABER A2 -

(i) R EEEEEATESR T AR
EEFER G AR EERER - i
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

20. FFRERRAEMEER (&)

166 Annual Report 2011 « —ZE——FFEERE

Notes: (continued) BiaE : (&)
(c)  (continued) (c) (&)
The movements of the liability and derivative components of the Term Loan BE—F——FF+-_A=FHIEFE T
=5 T2 AT e ST S, N

for the year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows: HERZRERITERD < HBIT
Group and Company AEERAAF

Liability

component Derivative Total
BEHD TETARS #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBF T
Drawdown of the Term Loan R-ZE—ZF+=-AN\H
on 8 December 2010 ERERZIZEHE 244,792 73,958 318,750

Interest expenses FE8A 5,861 — 5,861
Changes in fair value ARBEZE (296) (296)
Exchange realignment INEESTE =R (600) (600)
At 1 January 2011 W=Z2——#—A—A8 250,653 73,062 323,715
Interest expenses FEEA 83,515 — 83,515
Repayment B (169,420) — (169,420)
Changes in fair value AREEZE = (61,670) (61,670)
Exchange realignment INETE =R — (1,960) (1,959)
As at 31 December 2011 R-E—&F+=-A=+—H 164,748 9,432 174,180
Portion classified as current: BERER S - (164,748) (9,432) (174,180)
Non-current portion SERNERED = — —

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximate to their fair

values.

=
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 30. ATRES
Group and Company KEERAEAT
2011 2010
o T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AR¥T R ARETFT
Liability component: BEES -
The Zero Coupon Convertible TEABRES
Bonds (i) 8,225 7,521
The 10% Coupon Convertible 10E B RRES
Bonds (ii) 1,156,195 1,028,658
1,164,420 1,036,179
Less: Current portion B BIEAED o (i)/(ii) (1,164,420) —
Non-current portion of liability AR ES B EED
component of convertible bonds Z IEENERED — 1,036,179
(i) HKS$2,000 million zero coupon convertible (i) =EBE——FZHH20BEBTZE

bonds due 2012 (the “Zero Coupon
Convertible Bonds™)

On 12 December 2007, the Company issued 20,000
zero coupon convertible bonds due 2012 at
HK$100,000 each with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$2,000,000,000, which were subsequently traded on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Some of the key terms of the Zero Coupon Convertible
Bonds are as follows:

(a) convertible at the option of the bond holders into
fully paid ordinary shares at any time from 22
January 2008 to 2 December 2012 at a conversion
price of HK$5.77 per share;

(b) redeemable at the option of the bond holders on
12 December 2010, being the third anniversary of
the issue date, at the principal amount multiplied
by 117.68%;

BB ESR(ZETHERK
&%)

RZZEZELF+_A+ZH K
A @l LA & {5 100,000 Tt % 17
20,0001 PR =_E——_FEHZ2=Z
BABRKRES  BEER20ES
L B ERESFREBHRA
Emre

TEMRRES T BHETEEK
W :

(a) EBEFFEATEERR-_ZZT
NEFE—A=-+-HE=-ZF
——HF T AZHEERURE
BEBERS77THE T EE
REFEEBER

(b) EFFHAANEER_T—
TFE+-A+ =R (AT
BHE=ZBF) RASRER
LA 117.68% &M
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

(M)

HK$2,000 million zero coupon convertible
bonds due 2012 (the “Zero Coupon
Convertible Bonds”) (continued)

(c) redeemable at the option of the Company at their
early redemption amount calculated by using the
bond principal with an interest rate of 5.5% on a
semi-annual basis, at any time from 12 December
2010 to 12 December 2012, providing the prices
of the Company’s shares for 20 consecutive
trading days are over 130% of the early
redemption price divided by a conversion ratio;
and

(d) toberedeemed at 131.17% of its principal amount
on 12 December 2012.

The Company determined the fair value of the liability
component of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds
based on the valuation performed by Greater China
Appraisal using an equivalent market interest rate for a
similar bond without a conversion option.

On 19 October 2010, the Company announced an
extraordinary resolution (the “Extraordinary Resolution”)
to the existing Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds holders
(the “Existing Bondholders”), the main effect of which
would be the removal of the right of Existing
Bondholders to require the Company to redeem all or
some of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds on 12
December 2010 (term (b) above) (the “Amendments”).

In conjunction with the announcement, the Company
also invited eligible holders of the outstanding Zero
Coupon Convertible Bonds to tender their existing
bonds in exchange for (1) a cash payment of
HK$20,000 for each HK$100,000 in principal amount of
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (2) HK$100,000
in nominal amount of new bonds (“10% Convertible
Bonds”) for each HK$100,000 in principal amount of the
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds (the “Offer”).
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(M)

Notes to Financial Statements
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30. AR ES (&)

HK$2,000 million zero coupon convertible (i) —ZE—Z-—F3H20BEE
bonds due 2012 (the “Zero Coupon EuaRES(ZFEETHER
Convertible Bonds”) (continued) B%]) (&)
The Extraordinary Resolution was duly passed by the iR ERIREZN —_E—FF
Existing Bondholders at a meeting held on 10 +—Bt+BEEHANREESES
November 2010. The Existing Bondholders holding the ARNE FEIFEE - KB
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds of an aggregate 1,374,800,000 B LHIR B EHIF
principal amount of HK$1,374,800,000 tendered their BADBEBEZEANLBTHREIREG
existing bonds for exchange pursuant to the Offer. & o
The movements in the liability component and equity HE2-_ET——F+-_A=+—H
component of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds IHFE ZRAHKRESZAE
during the year ended 31 December 2011 are as 2By RS 2 BEUT -
follows:
Liability Equity
component component
of convertible of convertible
bonds bonds Total
ARRES 2 ARRES
BEHD ZREEED At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTFT ARETT
At 1 January 2010 RZE—ZTF—H—H 1,336,076 45,920 1,381,996
Interest expenses MERX 77,550 — 77,550
Extinguishment Ik (1,344,596) (45,221) (1,389,817)
Redemption e (21,086) (699) (21,785)
Exchange realignment SN R ERE (40,423) — (40,423)
At 31 December 2010 and RZE—TF
1 January 2011 +ZA=+—HRK
—E——%—H—H 7,521 — 7,521
Interest expenses B R 1,085 — 1,085
Exchange realignment SN B =5 (381) — (381)
At 31 December 2011 RZE——F
+=-A=+—H 8,225 — 8,225

At 31 December 2011, the principal amount of the Zero
Coupon Convertible Bonds outstanding was

HK$8,800,000.

s

R-F——F+-A=+—8"
TEARBRESNRBRAER
8,800,000/ T °
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

(ii) The 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
On 12 November 2010, the Company issued 13,748
10% Coupon Convertible Bonds due 2012 at
HK$100,000 each with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$1,374,800,000.

Some of the key terms of the 10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds are as follows:

(a)

convertible at the option of the bond holders into
fully paid ordinary shares at any time from 12
November 2010 to 2 December 2012 at a
conversion price of HK$1.541 per share (the “Initial
Conversion Price”). The Initial Conversion Price is
subject to adjustment on 12 November 2011 so
that it may be adjusted to a price that is equal to
the VWAP of the shares of the Company for the
period of 90 consecutive trading days immediately
prior to 12 November 2011 provided that, among
other things, any such adjustment to the Initial
Conversion Price shall only be downwards and
shall be limited such that the adjusted Initial
Conversion Price shall be in no event less than
70% of the Initial Conversion Price prevailing on 12
November 2011. Accordingly, the Initial
Conversion Price of HK$1.541 was adjusted to
HK$1.08 with effect from 12 November 2011 (the
“Adjustment”). Apart from the Adjustment, there is
no change in terms of the 10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds;

redeemable in cash at the option of the Company
at their early redemption amount calculated by
using the bond principal at an interest rate of
13.68% per annum on a semi-annual basis, at any
time from 12 November 2010 to 12 December
2012, providing the prices of the Company’s
shares for each 20 out of 30 consecutive trading
days are at least 130% of the early redemption
amount divided by a conversion ratio; and
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

(ii) The 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds

(continued)

(c) toberedeemed at 131.17% of its principal amount
on 12 December 2012. The 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds carry interest at a rate of 10%
per annum, which is payable semi-annually in
arrears on 12 June and 12 December in each
year.

The Company determined the fair value of the liability
component of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
based on the valuation performed by Greater China
Appraisal using an equivalent market interest rate for a
similar bond without a conversion option.

The Company also recognised a number of derivatives,
the values of which comprise:

(a) The fair value of the option of the bond holders to
convert the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds into
ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion
price; and

(b) The fair value of the option of the Company to
redeem the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds.

These options are interdependent as only one of these
options can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able
to be accounted for separately and a single compound
derivative financial instrument was recognised.

The fair values of the derivatives were valued by Greater
China Appraisal, using the trinomial model.

B S Ra= M 5
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

30. AKES (&)
(i) 1028 ;B E (&)

(c) 10EBBEBEESFBEN =
T——F+=-A+=-BEK
% 58 T IA1B117%E @ o
10VEEATBBRESRFE A
FF10% ' NARESFF
(NEF~A+_-_H®R
+—A+=—8)X RN
FIE o

ARB IR BEEFER R
B (W ELREE) 2HEN S
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ARRESEBRKAREZ
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B ZEBEEAREAE
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

30. AR ES (&)

(ii) The 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds (i) 10 EEBRES ()
(continued)
The movements of the liability component and 10BEENBEEEAZEBBELE D &
derivatives of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds are STHET BIRy 2 S&hn |
set out below:
Liability
component Derivatives Total
=N fTETR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT
The 10% Coupon 102 B R EFH
Convertible Bonds issued RZZE—ZF
on 12 November 2010 +—A+=-H%17 997,043 91,827 1,088,870
Interest expenses FMERX 44,074 — 44,074
Conversion BEHA (7,506) 495 (7,011)
Changes in fair value DREEEE — (27,704) (27,704)
Exchange realignment SNIE T EE (4,953) (903) (5,856)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZF
+—A=+—H 1,028,658 63,715 1,092,373
Interest expenses MBERAXZ 324,606 — 324,606
Payment of interest SAFFE (116,958) — (116,958)
Conversion it (24,890) (1,581) (26,471)
Changes in fair value NABEEE — (61,373) (61,373)
Exchange realignment HIVIE 2 (55,221) (1,419) (56,640)
At 31 December 2011 R-E——%F
+-A=+—8 1,156,195 (658) 1,155,537

At 31 December 2011, the principal amount of the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds outstanding was

HK$1,331,700,000.
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OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES

31. EtbRIPEARKIEA

31 December 2011

—T——F+=A=+—H

Group b
Other
long term
payables
arising from
a profit Government
sharing grant related
agreement to an asset Total
FE A 1 32 e A
EEzHM EREEZ
EBAREER BB et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREF T AR®T T
2011 —_E——F
Carrying amount at R—A—RZEREE
1 January 25,801 — 25,801
Liabilities included in HEESBER
liabilities directly FIELEEERHZ
associated with the BE(MEE25)
assets classified as held
for sale (note 25) (25,801) — (25,801)
Addition of government EREE 2B fHENE N
grant related to an asset — 5,280 5,280
Carrying amount at R+=—A=+—H
31 December ZIRHEE — 5,280 5,280
2010 —T-TF
Carrying amount at R—A—HZERHE
1 January — — —
Reclassification from other B fE5+ & (& N EH b fE {~F Z0B
payables and accruals E=R i 27,346 = 27,346
Interest increment F 2380 1,865 — 1,865
Payment (NES (3,410) — (3,410)
Carrying amount at R+ZA=+—RAZKHE
31 December 25,801 — 25,801
Classified as current portion 548 & ENHIZE 5 (1,650) — (1,650)
Non-current portion SEENERER 5 24,151 — 24,151

—F——FFEHE - Annual Report 2011 173



China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited -«

HERERERERA

Notes to Financial Statements

B SR RBT o

31 December 2011
—T——F+=ZA=+—H

31.

OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

Group (continued)

As at 31 December 2011, the balance of other long term
payables represents the science and technology subsidies
received from local Science and Technology Bureaus in the
PRC.

As at 31 December 2010, the balance of other long term
payables represents the payables arising from a profit
sharing agreement. According to a management agreement
entered into between Yongtong Special Steel and the non-
controlling shareholders of Yongan Special Steel, Yongtong
Special Steel was entitled to all remaining undistributable
profits of Yongan Special Steel in return for an annual fixed
payment of RMB6,310,000 for a period of 15 years from 5

31. Htt RHEIEARER)

REE (&)
R-ZE——F+=ZA=+—8 " Hfh
RHEIFE N RIR < 4 R4 P B3 07 I 22
o B 2 RiEcwhih -

RZZE—ZTF+_A=+—H  Hf
RHENFRIBEEGEHBESENEELEZ
FEASE SR o AR5 ok 38 4 S B ok 3B 4 8 3F

TIRIRE ERE] 2 ek - kBRI A
ZHXLFEM ARSI EF - A
ERE-_ZE+tF—AAHBI5FH
F&EEE N RAREK 6,310,000 7T 2
[E13F °

January 2007.
32. ISSUED CAPITAL 32. BEITRA
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
BE-Z2——F HE-_ZT-FTF
+ZA=+—HILFE +ZA=+—HLtEFE
Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary
shares RMB’000 shares RMB’000
ZERE AR®TR LTERE ARETTT
Authorised (HK$0.1 each): JAFE (F%X0.1787T) :
At 1 January and R—H—HE
31 December +=—A=+—H 5,000,000,000 479,200 5,000,000,000 479,200
Issued and fully paid BBITIRETE (BK
(HK$0.1 each): 0.1%7T)
At 1 January Rn—A—H 2,282,983,565 228,553 2,093,630,385 210,006
Conversion of s IRk E S
convertible bonds 21,349,772 1,820 6,619,076 563
Conversion of IR R
convertible notes (f1zE16)
(note 16) —_ —_ 182,734,104 17,984
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 2,304,333,337 230,373 2,282,983,565 228,553
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33. RESERVES

(@) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 71 to 72 of the financial statements.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value
of the paid-up capital of Infonics International Limited
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation on 29
April 2006 and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefore.

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, the share premium and contribution
surplus are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company, provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve mainly related to the convertible
notes (stock options) with a principal of
HK$316,130,000 (equivalent to RMB311,135,000)
issued by the Company as part of the consideration for
the exclusive offtake right in May 2007. On 18 May
2010, the convertible notes were fully converted and the
capital reserve was transferred to issued capital and
share premium account.

B S Ra= M 5
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

(a) &~&H

AEKBAFEBEFRERE
HYERER S L B B S 3R R 5B 71
A72A R AR EEBRTIR o

BERAR
AEBZEHBRERERN_-F
ERFHA-+TABZEEEA
Pl K @B G R QR Z#R
7R 2 T {E AR BR B AN R R L 32
BREBRAMBIT RN ZEEZ
R

B 1753 E iR

REREREATE(ZTTN
FEITR) BRNDEERESA
BRA DR TARBIER - RS
ARPEBERZDIRBE BHIR
HAIN —REBHBRES - £ER

B3R5 3K -

BARGEE
ARABR_EZTLFRAETA
4 %8 4316,130,000 7 7T (FBE R
AFE# 311,135,000 7T ) 2 A # %
ZE(BRB)EABREERE
LOKRB- R_ZE—ZFHA
+NA\B: IRBREEEEHE
- BZEANFEEHEEEAR
BITRR AN B D R B AR o
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33. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 33. f#fE (&)

(a) F&£E (&)

(@) Group (continued)

Capital reserve (continued)

At 31 December 2011, the balance of capital reserve is
non-distributable and represents the additional
contribution by a shareholder in 2003 amounting to
RMB37,147,000, and the capitalisation of payable to a
shareholder amounting to RMB85,000,000 in respect of
which Mr. Dong Shutong waived his rights and benefits
to the debts owed to him by Yongtong Special Steel in
2004.

Share option reserves

The Company has a share option scheme under which
options to subscribe for the Company’s shares have
been granted to certain Directors and senior employees
as set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

The share option reserves include a proportion of the
fair value of share options granted which are yet to be
exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy
for share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

Statutory surplus reserves and statutory reserve
fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective Articles of Association of Yongtong
Special Steel, Yongtong Alloy Metals, Yongan Special
Steel, Xiangtong Electricity, Yongtong Nickel, East
Harvest Minerals and East Harvest Mining, these
companies are each required to allocate 10% of their
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with PRC
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“PRC
GAAP”), to the statutory surplus reserves (the “SSR”)
until such reserves reach 50% of the registered capital.
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33. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@) Group (continued)

Statutory surplus reserves and statutory reserve
fund (continued)

Subsequent to the re-registration of Yongtong Special
Steel as a wholly-foreign-owned company on 10
November 2003, allocation to the SSR was no longer
required. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to wholly-foreign-owned companies,
Yongtong Special Steel is required to allocate a certain
portion (not less than 10%) of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and SRF are non-distributable other than in the
event of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to
offset accumulated losses or be capitalised as paid-up
capital.

Distributable reserves

For dividend purposes, the amount which the PRC
subsidiaries can legally distribute by way of a dividend
is determined by reference to the distributable profits as
reflected in their PRC statutory financial statements
which are prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP.
These profits differ from those that are reflected in this
report which is prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC,
profits after tax of the PRC subsidiaries can be
distributed as dividends after the appropriations to the
SSR and SRF set out above.

B S Ra= M 5
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

33. fitR (4)
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33. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 33. f#E (&)
(b) Company (b) &=LF
Retained
Share Share Exchange profits/
premium  Contributed Capital option fluctuation (accumulated
account surplus reserve reserves reserve losses) Total
REERH/
R EER BHBRR EAfGE  BRERE ELIRBER (RETER) ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR%TR AR%Tr AR®Tn AR®Trn AR¥ETRT AR%TR
Year ended 31 December HBZE=-F——%
2011 +=A=+—~H
JI:3:4
At 1 January 2011 R-—Z—%—F—H 3,003,805 314,784 - 25,926 (86,019) (121,556) 3,136,940
Total comprehensive FEZABEA
expenses for the year — — — - (10,626) (259,041) (269,667)
Conversion of convertible BRARRES
bonds 25,350 — — — — — 25,350
Equity-settled share option  BABRIE STt 2 B ARV
arrangements (note 34) ZHE(fE34) — — — 3,878 - - 3,878
Forfeited share option BRI
reserve — — — (2,995) - — (2,995)
At 31 December 2011 A_E——F
+-A=+-8 3,029,155 314,784 - 26,809 (96,645) (380,597) 2,893,506
Year ended 31 December BE_Z-ZF
2010 +-A=1t—-8”
HFE
At 1 January 2010 RZE-TF—-H—H 2,661,351 314,784 311,135 22,459 (72,601) 4516 3,241,644
Total comprehensive FEREFRAT
expenses for the year — — — — (13,418) (123,531) (136,949)
Conversion of convertible BRABRES
bonds 8,054 — — — — — 8,054
Redemption of convertible  BEIA# R ES
bonds — — — — — (2,541) (2,541)
Extinguishment of BT AR ES
convertible bonds 45,221 — — — — — 45,221
Conversion of convertible BB EE
notes 293,151 — (311,135) — — — (17,984)
Equity-settled share option ~ LARR#E ST < 2 BB AR #E
arrangements (note 34) 24 (i 34) — — — 4,246 — — 4,246
Forfeited share option reserve 2812 B IRHERAE = = = (779) = — (779)
Interim 2010 dividend “Z-ZFRHRS (3972) — — — — — (3972)
At 31 December 2010 R-Z—TF
+=ZA=+-H 3,003,805 314,784 — 25,926 (86,019) (121,556) 3,136,940
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 2 May 2005, the Company approved a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the
Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to the
Directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for
shares in the Company. The subscription price for shares
under the Share Option Scheme will be determined by the
Directors, which shall be calculated at the time of grant of the
relevant option and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of a share; (ii) the closing price of a share as
stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must
be a business day; and (iii) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in issue and
may not exceed in nominal value 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company in issue for a period of 10 consecutive
years. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for the
period of 10 years commencing on 2 May 2005. No option
may be granted to any one person which, if exercised in full,
would result in the total number of shares which were already
issued and may fall to be issued to him under all the options
previously granted to him pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme in any 12-month period up to the date of grant,
exceeding 1% of the maximum aggregate number of shares
for the time being issued and which may fall to be issued
under the Share Option Scheme.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

34.

— =

BTSRRIt

31 December 2011
—E—F+=-A=+—H

B

R-ZZEZERFRAA-H ARFHE
—IAfE BT B ([RERERT 81 ) - &
b EFARERTASEEENE
BREAR R IR < BB - FEARE
AEIZBRORBEIHESENERLA
AEREERETE  THERTIE
Bz&mE : ()ROEE : (i) R4
ERBLREER (BEAREER)BE
BT E BRI 2 WTE &
(i) B R L ARABAEE BAT R EZ
EXBBREMIEHBRAI 2B
WhEFHE -

BIEBRETEI R L 2 BRES R
ZROHBERZTBBALRQREEH
THRAN 2 10% * M NS E@EARREE
BHITRAmEZ30% @ BE+FEN -
BREFSe ST AFAA_AHE
RHTERR - MRBERLBELE
FEH1I2EABHEE2ATERERT—
A AT 2 BEIRE S S BUR IR AR 5T
SRMERH A ERBREMLRE L
A REERTCRNDEE  Bag
FriR B2 BRERT B RS R 1T

ZRD ERA% - RIS A E AR BB AR
1 o

BYARAES BFEHTEXREER
BR - HEMREHBEALAZEL
BYIFRMTESTRERAREFIZBEA
TERF - WS BRI ARREZMR
SBIIFATES  HEMARE 2B
BAL 2 EMREEE - ERER 1218
ABRENEMREBLARRE BT
Bin0.1% HBEREBERRFTNK L
Az ER) BEAEET 1
ARIBRRNRAG 2 AR
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date
of offer of the share options. The options will have a vesting
schedule of five years whereby only 20% of the options shall
be exercisable 12 months after the grant date and an
additional 20% may be exercised by the grantee in each
subsequent year until five years later when 100% of the
options may be exercised.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme during the year:

34. lBIRAERTEI ()

REFH ZBERETNIEE B B
C8HNEM - MAEABINNE HA
BILZEBANRE - FIRE 2B
TP RS ESETE KBRS
BHAIR AT - MERB BTG
ERIREEREBBETTF - BR
2 FBHAERT Bt E20%8E
RiETRIRE BB I12EA1TE - ™
HBBFARABGAIITEREIN0%E
BiE BEEAFHEBERENT 28T
f o

BEREITRTHEAZTHEREIN
BERAE ERE 2R -

IO RFRRBEBE & M ARITE
Z BB I HE -

2011 2010
= —T-TF

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise  Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

nfEF ANt 15

TEE BREHE TRE BREHE

HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET T BB T
At 1 January n—H—H 1.76 43,675 1.78 44,935
Forfeited during the year A4 AR UL 2.10 (4,570) 2.45 (1,260)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 1.72 39,105 1.76 43,675
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The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share

Notes to Financial Statements

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

34. B AESHE (&)

RBERRTEBREZITEER K

options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are 1TEEN T :
as follows:
2011 —E——fF
Number of options Exercise price*
BRERE TREEx
000 HKS$ per share Exercise period
T4 BRET TEH
17,920 1.07 30 July 2006 to 29 July 2015
—EEXRFtA=THE
—E-HFtHA=thAH
6,800 1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017
—EEN\F=AXRHE-Z—tF=AEH
3,000 2.37 20 April 2008 to 19 April 2017
—EEN\FMNA-t+HEZE—tFWA+RA
11,385 245 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018
—EERANF=ZA=-+HE-Z-/\F=A+ANAH
39,105
2010 — ==
Number of options Exercise price*
REARESE TEE"
'000 HK$ per share Exercise period
F1n BRRAETT 171 58
17,920 1.07 30 July 2006 to 29 July 2015
—EERFELA=THZE
—E-RAFEA=TNH
9,800 1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017
—EENF=ZAANBE_FT—+F=HAH
3,000 2.37 20 April 2008 to 19 April 2017
—EENFNA-—t+HE_ZE—+tFWMA+H
12,955 2.45 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018
—EENF=ZA-_t+HE_ZT—/\F=ZA+H
43,675
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * R EERR R AT AR 21T B A AN A B E A R AR AR

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.

S5 57 TRREEEAT RS -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 34. BBRAESTE ()
The Group recognised a net share option expense of KEBRHEEZE-_ZE——F+=_A4

approximately RMB883,000 during the year ended 31
December 2011 (2010: RMB3,467,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
39,105,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 1.7% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at 31 December 2011. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 39,105,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and an additional share capital of HK$3,910,500
(equivalent to RMB3,170,242) and share premium of
HK$60,345,315 (equivalent to RMB48,921,947) (before issue
expenses).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 20 January
2012, a total of 50,000,000 share options were granted to the
eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme in
respect of their services to the Group in the forthcoming year.
These share options have a certain vesting period and an
exercise period consistent with the Share Option Scheme,
with an exercise price of HK$0.63 per share. The price of the
Company’s share at the date of grant was HK$0.63 per
share.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 81,415,000 share options outstanding under
the Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately
3.5% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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Tt BLHFEFERNBERERX
S A ARKS83,0007T(ZE—F4F ¢
AR 3,467,0007T) °

PRRERR - AR EIRIEEIET S -
A 39,105,000 17 14 AR 171 2 B IR 4 -
EARRRRN_E——F+=_A=+—
B2z EBTRMNE1.7% - EARAGFIIR
TTRAERET - WBREITERARITE
ZHERE BEBERARRREINEIT
39,105,000 8 A A 7] 2 E @A + BIAR
f% 723,910,500 T (HH & RN AR &
3,170,24270) * WA R 0Bk I 10 3877 59
= Bl Z %D %518 60,345,315 8 T (MBS
WA REE 48,921,947 7)) ©

REHTEE R_TE——F—A
—+H - RBEBRESE KRTEE
1% 22 B & 4 50,000,000 {7 B A% #E
NS B ERFRAAEBIRHRE -
ZEEREEEFEHB BT H
BRI TTEEAREAR0.63H
T ANARMUREL AHNERA
FH0.637TT °

RZEMBRELERT - REBR
T &l - A2 R]H 81,415,000 10 K17
ERBRHE - A ARRRIRNZBHE %
1IN 2 3.5% °
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

CNR Group Holdings assigned its carrier to ship a
cargo of 41,900 tons of iron ores from Indonesia to the
PRC in November 2009. The vessel was stranded in
November 2009 and salvors were engaged to salvage
both the vessel and the cargo on board pursuant to the
terms of the salvage contract entered into with the
owner of the vessel. Subsequent to the salvage
operation, the salvors claimed against both the owner of
the vessel and CNR Group Holdings, as the owner of
the cargo on board, for remuneration and salvage
expenses. The salvors also exercised a lien against the
cargo on board for their salvage expenses. CNR Group
Holdings was requested to put up security to the salvors
in the sum of US$550,000. Therefore, CNR Group
Holdings arranged for and put up a letter of guarantee
issued by its bank in December 2009 in this amount
and procured its carrier to put up security in the sum of
US$50,000, both as salvage security to the salvors.

In January 2010, CNR Group Holdings prepaid an
average bond and general average deposit of
US$12,500 to an average adjustor as security for the
general average claims of the same marine casualty
incident.

The Group received the cargo of iron ore in January
2010 without quality or quantity damage. Up to the
approval date of these financial statements, the amount
of awards and compensation to the salvors have not
been determined and are subject to arbitrators’ further
adjustment of portions among CNR Group Holdings, its
carrier and the owner of the vessel and no provision for
the Group’s share of the salvage expenses was made
as at 31 December 2011.

The Directors believe the Group’s share of the salvage
expenses would not exceed the salvage security
requested by the salvors and would not have significant
impact on the financial position of the Group.

BTSRRIt

31 December 2011
—E—F+=-A=+—H

35. WAREE

(a)

FEEEBRN _TETAFE+—AZ
SEHAGE A B EEES 41,900 2
WA B P E - ZERMER
—ZEENF+—AEE - REF
SRIERR AN E R 2 KB A
BEFITHEAREHEGMER
MEmEEw e T
% ATHRRESkM E R EE
BUEEMEMBEMZEE )X
N RMBHER - STH QRN
HEMBBREMN LS EYWT
FRERE  BRPEZEREER
#ft 2 5+550,0003 7T Z R &
BIERBIIELLH  RZZTE
NE+TZARHABEBITERE Y
FEESBRE  WRBEAEA
IRHA 50,000 T 2R - A
VERRITH AR I TBER -

RZE—FF—F » PERIERMA
HIBEE AEMNEREEERK
HEGERFE® L5 12,500% 7T
e LR —&F FZINEHR LR
FIERRZER -

AEER —T—TF— AKX
MEEL  HEEEMEER
B-BERFMBRAMER
Hi - BT AR 2 BN R (E
W AREEE © BAAPSRIRAY - HAGE
AR E B 2 LE D B R 1R &L
BEHE—ZTHRE R_F——
FT-A=+t—8B AKEILX
HEN 2T BB RHRRE -

ESRR AKBENZITHE
AT EBBITHEARZRIEMH
THER MZREISHAE
BB BARIEREREE
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

As set out in note 25, pursuant to the Relocation
Agreement and the equity share transfer agreement, the
Company will provide a guarantee in favour of Anhui
Center, in relation to any possible contingent liability or
employee compensation on health or injuries incurred
during the period when Yongan Special Steel was
managed by the Group.

A subsidiary of the Group is currently a prosecutor in a
lawsuit alleging that the contractor breached a contract
related to a construction project located in Lianyungang
City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The subsidiary claimed
that the construction quality of the contractor did not
meet the standards stipulated in the contract, thus the
outstanding payables for the construction of
RMB4,500,000 was controversial.

The Directors believe that the subsidiary had a good
chance of success in the final trial and the unrecorded
construction payables would not exceed RMB4,500,000
and would not have significant impact on the financial
position of the Group.
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35.

HREE (FE)

(b)

AP RE 25 FT At - ARBIRE ek
KRR % - AR AR B
RN ASEEERRELY
EBEEXRBBEREFEBHA
FEEMRERREZAHE [
ZEPORREHER -

AEEZ—FHKBRAR BRI X
—RHFRRG EERREEB
AP BTaHE EZ BRI ESE
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B REEsEREETRES
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT

37.

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from two to three years.

At 31 December 2011, the Group and Company had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

36. KEHERH

tEREEA
S LR AT R SR P T
REWE - EEEZDRBEEHN
FRE=F -

RZF——F+-_A=+—H" &%
BEARRR TS BRMEIHZ A
AR EHE 2 RRKEA S

HWEREONT -
Group Company
AEE A FE
2011 2010 2011 2010
g5 —Z2TZTF —EB-——F —ZT-IFTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tn AREBETT AR¥TRT ARETT
Within one year —FRN 2,468 2,704 1,206 2,342
In the second to fifth years, E_EFERF
inclusive BIEEEMSF 1,704 1,288 306 752
4,172 3,992 1,512 3,094
COMMITMENTS 37. A
Group rEE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
note 36 above, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

B E XM R 36 a5 2 R R R E AR
Sh REBER|E IR EAALEN

T~
2011 2010
—g-——% -T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTIT

Contracted, but not provided for: EETAVE R -
Property, plant and equipment M - BB K&

334,473 380,659
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(i)

38. EBARZ

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (i) BRRAFEHRREMMFFAZ
these financial statements, the Group had the following TN NEBEEBE HET T
material transactions with related parties during the S|E KRS :
year:
2011 2010
—=E——fF T -TF
Names of related parties Nature of transactions RMB’000 RMB’000
S B RHEME ARBTT ARETT
Yiwan Mining (Note a) Purchases of ores (Note b) 345,101 173,239
(MizEa) BAREA (3b)
Easyman Loan provided by the related 22,853 56,686
company (Note c)
BBt N Rt 2 B (MisEc)
Easyman Interest expense (Note c) 3,299 1,870
MEER(MEEc)
Full Harvest Development Shareholder’s loan (Note e) 46,126 —
Limited (Note d)
ERERARAE () PR fE K (i ate)
Notes: B E -

Easyman is a company wholly owned by Mr. Dong Shutong, an
executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company.
The Directors consider that Mr. Dong Shutong through Easyman, as
a lender of Yiwan Mining, has an indirect economic interest in Yiwan
Mining.

The transactions were carried out based on the terms agreed by the
parties under an exclusive offtake agreement signed between Yiwan
Mining and the Group in March 2007.

The transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2011. The Group confirmed that it has compiled with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of the transactions.

The loan in the amount of RMB22,853,000 is provided by Easyman
and is unsecured, repayable in 2012 and bears an interest rate of 8%
per annum as set out in note 29(b) to the financial statements.
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(b)

Easyman Jh—F A A RITEEF
ITERAEESBEEZERAZA
Al EERAES AL ARIB Yiwan
Mining 2 5% 5k A Easyman i Yiwan
Mining ¥ 7 RS2 (& B ) 25

22 5188 Yiwan Mining £ 78 22 E A
—ETHF = AR BREE RS
ZAETEAT -

BB EHRAE14AE - ZRHRE
E-_T——F+-_A=+—HIFE
BRAEEZRERERS - A56E
R LR S EEE EmHRAISE 14A
BEIRBEN -

i Easyman IRt 2 ERBEAARE
22,853,0007C * 2 EREEM - AR
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 38. BB A3 (48)

(i) (continued) iy (&)
Notes: (continued) BT« (48)
(d)  This company is an associate of the Group. (d) ZRARAREBEZHEAR -

(e) The shareholder’s loan to Full Harvest Development Limited is (e)
unsecured, interest-free and repayable by 31 December 2012.

HERFRAR A RENRRE R
IR AHE WEARZZE——F
TZA=+—HEE-
Compensation of key management personnel of the AEEFEEEABZHE
Group:

E=ZRB AKEXTEEEAE
REBEFT - ESMEE—F
AHBEBN M HRARMIES o

In the opinion of the Directors, key management
personnel of the Group are all Directors. Further details
of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. €T ASE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial NBEHRSEHTEBER ZEEE

instruments as at the end of reporting period are as follows: BT :
Group rEEH
Financial assets SREE
2011 2010
—E-—fF —ET-FF
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
FEW IR JE W RIE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Trade and notes receivables & W BR 7R &% FE UM 22 4% 148,292 119,318
Financial assets included in BERBNRIE 2k
prepayments, deposits and other HbFEW ZTER 4 RS E
receivables 115,423 82,083
Cash and cash equivalents RekRSFED 114,824 172,591
Pledged time deposits B IR E BifE K 219,601 301,505
598,140 675,497
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

39. M IASE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Group (continued) REH (8
Financial liabilities SHEE
2011 2010
—2—-F —T-TF
Financial Financial
liabilities at Financial liabilities at Financial
fair value liabilities at fair value liabilities at
through profit amortised  through profit amortised
or loss cost or loss cost
BRAAEBETE BRRANEBEAE
BHZFHFA BEEFFA
ElBEr RESEATE EMBG RERKAHE
tHEE ZEMEE tRAR ZERmEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TTR ARBTR ARETT ARETT
Trade and notes payables ERERRENRE - 593,455 — 672,531
Financial liabilities included in other ~ BIERE AER
payables and accruals HipfERZIAH
JERARE — 211,405 — 348,236
Derivative financial instruments fTHEERTE 8,774 - 136,777 =
Liability component of convertible AHRkES 2
bonds BEHD - 1,164,420 — 1,036,179
Interest-bearing bank and other FEERREMES
borrowings - 470,466 — 819,662
Other long term payables HibREEMZUA - - — 24,151
8,774 2,439,746 136,777 2,900,759
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B H5 SRR BT o

31 December 2011

—T——F+=A=+—H

39. TR I AESE (&)

Company VNN
Financial assets SREE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
EXRE Exk
EWREIE FEWSRIE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETTT
Financial assets included in BERENFIE Bk
prepayments, deposits and other B EWGRIER 2 & MEE
receivables 5,992 9,831
Cash and cash equivalents BE RIEESZEY 5,554 26,656
11,546 36,487
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)

39. M IASE(E)

Company (continued) NN T ()
Financial liabilities THEE
2011 2010
—2—-F —T-TF
Financial Financial
liabilities at Financial liabilities at Financial
fair value liabilities at fair value liabilities at
through profit amortised  through profit amortised
or loss cost or loss cost
BROABHETE BRRANEBEAE
BEH#BIA BEEFFA
ENERy REHRRKHE EMBG RERKAHE
tHEE ZEMEE SREE ZERAR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TTR AR%TR ARETTT ARETT
Trade and notes payables ERERRENRE - 1,049 — 1,100
Financial liabilities included in other ~ AR E B ER
payables and accruals HihERZIBLZ
2RAR - 5,488 — 5,838
Derivative financial instruments TTHEERTE 8,774 - 136,777 =
Liability component of convertible AHRkES 2
bonds BEHD - 1,164,420 — 1,036,179
Interest-bearing bank and other FEERREMES
borrowings - 164,748 — 250,653
8,774 1,335,705 136,777 1,293,770
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

Fair value

Except for derivative financial instruments, the fair values of
the financial assets and liabilities of the Group and the
Company approximate to their carrying amounts, as
presented in note 39 to the financial statements. The fair
values of derivative financial instruments are the same as
their carrying amounts.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged time
deposits, trade and notes receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
trade and notes payables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, and the current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities
of these instruments.

40.

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

BERQAABEER

NREE
BROTESBMT AN REBREART]
ZEMEERERABZANEEE
HEMBHRERM A2 2 FEEE
BE TESRIANAABESER
HERkmEE -

5
=3

SRMAERARNAABETRER
B 5 T S R Y & B (TR
£ ZERFTHR IBRAETH
RHREERS o

EEF AR EBENRAMBRRIIROT

RekBeFEY SBREHER
R ER R R BRI - B2 RFENK
B B REMERRT 2 EREE
ENERARENRE  BERXEFA
BEREMENKEZERAE 58
ERREMEREZEHBrN DR E
BEEHEKEEERES  EX2RAR
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

(CONTINUED)

Fair value (continued)

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and other long term payables
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments on
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair
value of the liability component of convertible bonds is
estimated using an equivalent market interest rate for a
similar convertible bond. The fair values of these instruments
approximate to their carrying amounts.

Derivative financial instruments are measured using trinomial
model as the valuation techniques. The model incorporates
various market observable inputs including risk-free rate,
volatility and dividend yield. The carrying amounts of
derivative financial instruments are the same as their fair
values.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

40.

AREERAAEBERR(E)

QIREEE)
AAEERREMEEZIFAIEE S &
Ht RHIENRIBZ AR EBERRR
BHRERENBLATHE - EMER
MTREREREEHRUBR - F5
RS PEN SR IA - A/
RiEFABEHI AR BERARS
MR AR A B 1T fh At
ZETMTANAEEEEE@EE
BRE% -

TEEMTARA=RAAEEEADN
REER - HEXRBAABRREE
MZEMSBBEETHE BRERER
BRAR KB RRBEBERE - {]
TeRTANEEEEEEAREE
_ﬁ ®

IREEER
REERE Tl B &2 BORG 8 R
B TAZARER:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices E—ER N BEGTEFFERERE
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical ERABREERTERNER
assets or liabilities (R

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation FE_BMR NABEFEHFEREAR
techniques for which all inputs which have a BEEEAFVENEENEE
significant effect on the recorded fair value are nERS SN GERM
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation E-ER: AR EBESEFAERE DA

techniques for which any inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 40. A REERAAEBERER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREEEBR(E)
Liabilities measure at fair value at 31 December 2011: N—_E——F+-_A=+—"HUAR
BEst=28E:
Group and Company NEB NN T
At 31 December 2011 R=E——F+=H=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—BH EZEBHR FZER e

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TRT AR®TR AR¥TxR

Derivative financial TESRTA
instruments — 8,774 — 8,774
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZFTFE+-_A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
el E_EBR E=EBH BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT ARETT AREFT ARETT
Derivative financial PTESMT A
instruments — 136,777 — 136,777
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value REF-—EBRESE_ERAAEBEG
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers EZEEED ()8 FE AEHE
into or out of Level 3 (2010: Nil). —ER(ZE—TF &)
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise bank loans, convertible bonds, other
interest-bearing loans, cash and pledged time deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and notes
receivables and trade and notes payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are bifurcated
from the host contracts of convertible bonds and other
interest-bearing loans.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall
be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and
liquidity risk. The board of Directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below. The Group’s accounting policies in
relation to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt
obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix
of fixed and variable rate debts. At 31 December 2011,
approximately 72% (2010: 82%) of the Group’s interest-
bearing borrowings bore interest at fixed rates.

At 31 December 2011, changes in market interest rates could
have an insignificant impact on the Group’s total equity apart
from the retained profits. The following table demonstrates
the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax (through the impact on floating rate
borrowings).

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

4. SREAMREEEERBE (&)

= EM
AEEAXFBEHAAERZBRIE
HAEEBZ TGN RES) 2 RAK -

REBBRKRTVERES ZETEMFH
FEEEAEREMERNE - RZF
——F®+-_A=+—8 ' A&EEZ:
‘é AEF‘ VAEE | 5T BEDH72%
( —=F 1 82%) °

R-E——F+-A=+—08 m5
| 25 0 8 1 B 17 I 25 A S ) AR 2 B
BHBEDBEALE o FRIRR
EEMIEHETRBHBRT - SRR

(B (R BRI 1 3) A B oA
ﬁﬂ/ﬁﬁ@%ﬂ%%k%@@ﬁ%
7 -

Group: AEE
Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) in increase in
basis points  profit before tax
Rz F%ﬁﬁﬁ a A
#i, R WD), 1&g
RMB’000
AR®TF T
2011 —EgE——F 75 (976)
(25) 325
2010 —T-FTF 75 (1,078)
(25) 859
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts
is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from
associates, other receivables, arising from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

At 31 December 2011, the maximum exposure to credit risk
was represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the consolidated statement of financial position after
deducting any impairment allowance.

Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents are held in major financial institutions located in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Singapore and Indonesia,
which management believes are of high credit quality.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s notes receivable are guaranteed by banks and
the risk for default in payment is minimal. In respect of trade
and other receivables, in order to minimise risk, the
management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evaluations of its customers’ financial position and
condition are performed on each and every major customer
periodically. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. The Group does not require
collateral in respect of its financial assets. Debts are usually
due within 90 days from the date of billing.

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. Further quantitative data in
respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Foreign currency risk

The Group principally operates in the PRC and its principal
activities are transacted in RMB. The Group’s financial assets
and liabilities are not subject to foreign currency risk, except
for cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing loans and
convertible bonds, and the intercompany trade and loan
balances which are denominated in US$, HK$, SG$ and the
Euro (“EUR”). Therefore, the fluctuations in the exchange
rates of RMB against these foreign currencies could affect
the Group’s results of operations and equity. The Group does
not enter into any hedging transactions to manage the
potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.

41.

B S Ra= M 5
31 December 2011
—FT——%+-A=+—AH

TrREREEBERBEE)

FERR (&)
AEBRWEEARITER @R
R BB AR /)N o TR YRR SR e A e
WHIEME  REERERR 512
EEEHREERE KEEEZERE
ERk AEEEHHEEIBERFZ
MBERRRIBERETEEE - B
AP {4 5 P B 1 2 B SRAD 8% S 3R B A
RN WEBEFP ZABEMMA
LERMEKBRE AKETERS
MEEZKEAR BERAFNEE
HEAEET 90 HNEH] -

RERERT S - AEERE EH
ARTEZSES 2 AASMYE -
A B TR 2 R BB )
B2 BE(S 8 HSI AR IS BN
22 °

SN LB

AEETERTHEE METEX
BIANARER S o BRIAETT - BT
s kBT ([BOT D EHEZ R E
RReEEY T RERRAIRRKE
75 WRAZEFEEFEZRBIRAA
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$, HK$ and SG$ exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary liabilities).

TrREREEBERBEE)

Shis ELBR (&)
TRINTRIBERRET - BT RFH
B TERZ QIR REEE) - MEM
BEHRFAET  AEREKRHRAN G
Fl/(BR) (AREREELAEBELZ
HE)) 2 GURMEDHT o

Increase/
(decrease)
in profit
before tax
B?ﬁﬁﬁ iz Al
ERRE (EL) &
% RMB’000
AR®TF T

Fluctuation
in foreign
currency rate

2011

If RMB weakens against US$

If RMB strengthens against US$
If RMB weakens against HK$

If RMB strengthens against HK$
If RMB weakens against SG$

If RMB strengthens against SG$

2010

If RMB weakens against US$

If RMB strengthens against US$
If RMB weakens against HK$

If RMB strengthens against HK$
If RMB weakens against SG$

If RMB strengthens against SG$

Liquidity risk

e
PN LR SPE:
CEINL TSI
i AR 3 TR
i N M L 7T 028
i N M 3 3T ST 53
PN

—E-FF

fisi B A R 5 32 T0 R 55

fisi B AR 22T N
figm AR H B TR 55
e AR 5738 7T hsa
fisi B A R 537 b3 7o R 55
fis B A R 537 hn 3 7o inas

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial liabilities and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from

operations.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES M., cEREEEERBEK(E)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESERE (8)
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between RNER 7 BNERNE SN ALERTER
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank B ESENEMETEER - #5E
loans, convertible bonds, and other interest-bearing loans. At S RNEEE R, 2 EH o R T ——
31 December 2011, 85% (2010: 52%) of the Group’s debts F+—A=+—8 " BREMBEHRERA
would mature in less than one year based on the carrying Rt 7 EHEEMEE NEE8S%E
value of debts reflected in the financial statements. B(—E—FTF :52%) N ITE—F
MEIE -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the TRTIEEE TR ITIR R IBH 5 A
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual EFRNREEHRZ SR E EREHR
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2011 Group —E——FXEH
On Less than 3to 1to5
demand 3 months 12 months years Total
=%
B L>R={EA T=@EA —ZhEF et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR®BTRT AR¥®TR AR®BTR
Convertible bonds* A #Af% (&% * — — 1,461,955 — 1,461,955
Interest-bearing bank it B2 & &
and other HMEE
borrowings — 107,942 318,748 67,776 494,466
Trade and notes FETER R K
payables iANEE — 310,563 272,415 10,477 593,455
Financial liabilities BERETAE
included in other K E A e
payables and IEH
accruals SRBE 69,376 142,029 — — 211,405
69,376 560,534 2,053,118 78,253 2,761,281

—E——FFE % - Annual Report 2011 199



China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited « FREI$2 & REAA R A 7]

Notes to Financial Statements

B SR R M
31 December 2011
—=——&+-A=+—H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued)
2010 Group

On Lessthan
demand 3 months

BER DR={EAH
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBETT ARETT

TrREREEBERBEE)

REE TR (5

—E-ZEFXKE
3to 1t05
12 months years Total
==
TZER —EhF st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTIT ARETIT ARETTT

Convertible bonds*  A[#f& &%~ = —

Other long term H o RHAER

payables KIE = —
Interest-bearing bank 3t & &

and other HitfEE

borrowings = 245,217
Trade and notes FERTBR R

payables TR — 162,969

Financial liabilities BRERESEE
included in other R E A FE A
payables and HIERZ
accruals TRAE 316,470 31,766

— 1,632,887 1,632,887

3,410 34,100 37,510

230,773 423,019 899,009

457,619 51,943 672,531

— — 348,236

316,470 439,952

691,802 2,041,949 3,490,173

The maturity dates of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds defined in the relevant agreements were both 12
December 2012. Since the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds are both redeemable at the option of their
holders on 12 December 2012 at the principal amount multiplied by
131.17% according to the aforesaid agreements, the management prepared
the above analysis with an assumption that all bondholders will redeem the
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
on 12 December 2012.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

41.
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31 December 2011
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TrREREEBERBEE)

REE TR (5

2011 Company —E——FXAQTF
On Less than 3to 1to5
demand 3 months 12 months years Total
=F
B PR=@A +=@A —ZhHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTT AR®BTR AR%®TR AR®YTR AR%®TR
Convertible bonds* AR ESH * — — 1,461,955 — 1,461,955
Interest-bearing bank +EEZH &
and other HEMEE
borrowings — 47,142 141,429 — 188,571
Trade and notes FEATER R K
payables EREE — 1,049 — — 1,049
Financial liabilities BREREGRE
included in other N E A fE A<
payables and HRIERZ
accruals ol =N} 5,488 — — — 5,488
5,488 48,191 1,603,384 — 1,657,063
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

41.

TrREREEBERBEE)

REE TR (5

2010 Company —E-ZBEXRNT
On Lessthan 3to 1t05
demand 3 months 12 months years Total
=F
BIEY LR ={EA +=@A —ZRF 4Tt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT
Convertible bonds*  AJ#f& &%~ — — — 1,532,887 1,532,887
Interest-bearing bank s+EEZH &
and other HMEE
borrowings — — 141,429 188,571 330,000
Trade and notes B BRF K
payables EREE — — — 1,100 1,100
Financial liabilities BREREGTRE
included in other N E A fE A<
payables and HRIERZ
accruals TRAE 5,838 — = — 5,838
5,838 — 141,429 1,722,558 1,869,825

The maturity dates of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds defined in the relevant agreements were both 12
December 2012. Since the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds are both redeemable at the option of their
holders on 12 December 2012 at the principal amount multiplied by
131.17% according to the aforesaid agreements, the management prepared
the above analysis with an assumption that all bondholders will redeem the
Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds
on 12 December 2012.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.
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41.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management (continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustment to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, issue bonds or
issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by capital and net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, the liability
component of convertible bonds, trade and notes payables
and other payables and accruals less cash and cash
equivalents and pledged time deposits. Capital represents
equity attributable to the owners of the parent. The gearing
ratios as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

41.

B 15 SRR P
31 December 2011
—E—&+-H=+—H

TrREREEBERBEE)

EXRER(E)

AEBEEEEARERE WHEES
MEEEL AL - AEEARLFAEM
REIREE IR BITESFHBITH
DA FKAREARLER - HEZ
T——FRZZEZF+ZA=+—
BIEFE BEEAZEE  BXKK
BV EEE) o

AEBFEREAGBLE(LMEEFHE
BULAEARIN EEEFEAE) ERE
Ko BHRFEBETERITERKE
HmigE AIMBREFEESD - B
EREENEERETEEREME
NRERRE KBS EEYRE IR
THER - EABRESARKRERH
AELEZD RZE——FR T —
EF+_A=+—H EXABELX
N

2011 2010
—E——fF —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥TTT
Interest-bearing loans and other STREREHMEE
borrowings 470,466 819,662
Trade and notes payables FETER R R EN R IE 593,455 672,531
Other payables and accruals fEET B B R H A& 5B 427,141 472,095
Convertible bonds, the liability AR ESZ AEHY
component 1,164,420 1,036,179
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RENBESEEYR
and pledged time deposits EHEAEHBER (334,425) (474,096)
Net debt B F 5 2,321,057 2,526,371
Equity attributable to owners of the BRRIRERE ARGER
parent 3,470,509 3,720,802
Capital and net debt B RIETEFHEE 5,791,566 6,247,173
Gearing ratio BRAELX 40% 40%
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 20 January 2012, 50,000,000 share options were granted

to the eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme,
as further detailed in note 34 to the financial statements.

43. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year’s presentation.

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of Directors on 27 March 2012.
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